

Watt, Pauline Heather (2010) *Adiponectin in health and disease*. MSc(R) thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/2098/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

ADIPONECTIN IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

Pauline Watt (BSc) Faculty of Medicine Division of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MSc (Med Sci.) to the University of Glasgow April 2010

© Pauline Watt

"If we knew what we were doing, it wouldn't be called research, would it?"

-Albert Einstein

Abstract

The incidence of diseases associated with the metabolic syndrome has rapidly increased in recent years. The most common of these diseases is Type 2 Diabetes. Research into ways of alleviating the pathogenicity of Diabetes is ongoing, and the increase in diagnosis in recent years has motivated scientists to investigate novel risk markers to help predict and prevent Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and the diseases associated with it.

Adiponectin has become an important molecule in this search. Despite being released from adipose tissue, adiponectin correlates inversely with body fat in humans and animals. It also exhibits important metabolic regulatory functions such as glucose regulation and fatty acid catabolism and has been suggested to have anti-inflammatory properties.

This thesis reviews literature on the adiponectin molecule and aims to explore the complex functioning of this adipokine and its relationship to Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) and Diabetes. The *methodological considerations* chapters focus on pre-analytical and analytical variables that may affect the collection of blood and the measurement of the molecule. We observed the molecule to be very stable. The measurement of both the high molecular weight (HMW) and total adiponectin species were not affected by up to 7 freeze thaw cycles. Furthermore, blood processing times and temperatures did not significantly alter results. Although the R&D systems adiponectin kits do not advise the use of citrated plasma, we validated its use in these kits and although absolute concentrations were lower than with EDTA plasma, they were consistently lower throughout the measured sample set. Two other commercial kits (Mercodia and ALPCO diagnostics) were tested for performance against the R&D systems Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) kit. Although there were differences between absolute values in each kit, the overall performance of the kits were satisfactory as judged by Bland-Altman plots.

In the first of the two clinical associations chapters, we report, from a prospective study of older British women, no evidence of any association of HMW adiponectin (or its ratio to total adiponectin) with incident vascular events and

suggest that circulating concentrations of adiponectin (and its fractions) may be more strongly aligned to the risk for Diabetes than to vascular events.

The final study investigates the relationship between B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and adiponectin in Acute Coronary Syndrome (ACS) patients. Adiponectin and BNP are both known to be positively associated with risk of poor outcome, and with each other, in cross-sectional studies. However, serial changes in these parameters, following ACS, have not previously been measured. In this study, adiponectin and BNP positively correlated at baseline, 7 weeks, and importantly, change over 7 weeks in both parameters was significantly correlated. We reported that increases in plasma adiponectin (rather than absolute levels) after ACS are related to risk of adverse outcome, but that this relationship is not independent of BNP levels. Our results allude to a potential direct or indirect effect of BNP on adiponectin levels, post-ACS; an observation that requires further investigation.

In summary, this thesis has shown adiponectin to be a very stable and robust analyte in plasma or serum, with good reproducibility within persons and broadly between differing assays. Whilst there are clear data linking low adiponectin with incident diabetes, our clinical studies show adiponectin has more complex associations with vascular disease, perhaps mediated in part by a complex interaction with BNP. Further genetic studies are needed to elaborate causal association for this complex molecule.

Table of Contents

Acknow	ledgements	14
Author's	declaration	15
Abbrovic	ntions	16
πουτενά	<i>utons</i>	10
Chantor	I. Introduction	10
Chupter	1. <i>Introduction</i>	17
1.1	The Adiponectin Molecule	19
1.1.1	Background Information to the Molecule	. 19
1.1.2	Structure	. 20
1.1.2.1	Monomeric structure	. 22
1.1.2.2	Higher order structures	. 22
1.1.2.3	Homology to Tumour Necrosis Factor alpha (TNFg)	.23
1.1.3	Receptors and Signaling	. 25
1.1.4	Function	. 31
1.1.4.1	Adiponectin function in <i>in vitro</i> and animal studies	. 31
1.1.4.7	Adiponectin and its role in inflammation	.32
1 1 4 3	Associations of Adiponectin with other Risk Factors in Humans	38
1.7	The Associations of Adiponectin with Incident Diabetes Mellitus.	
	Vascular Disease and Mortality	47
121	Associations with Diabetes Mellitus	42
1 2 2	Associations with Cardiovascular Disease Events	. 12 47
1 2 2 1	HMW Adiponectin and its associations with incident vascular events	50
1 2 3	Associations with Coronary Heart Failure(CHF)	50 50
1.2.5	Associations with CVD Mortality and All Cause Mortality	. 50 51
1.2.7	Adjonactin vs. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and CVD mortality:	
1.2.5	Explaining the paradox	52
1 3	Ethnic Variation	. JZ 53
1.5	Aims and Objectives of Studies Reported in This Thesis	57
1.4 1	Aims of Chapter 3.2 - Effect of Freeze/Thaw Cycles	58
1.7.1	Aims of Chapter 3.3 - Blood Processing	. JU 58
1.7.2	Aims of Chapter 3.4 Biological Variability	50. 58
1.4.5	Aims of Chapter 4.2 Mossurement of Citrate Samples on a Total	0
1.4.4	Adiponectin ELISA	٢0
1 1 5	Autpollectili ELISA	. Jo
1. 4 .J	Anns of Chapter 4.5 - Comparison of Commercial Adiponectin ELISA	50
1 1 6	Assays	. J7
1.4.0	Anns of Chapter J - High Molecular Weight Adipolectili and incident	du
	Nosted within the British Wemen's Heart and Health	uy
	Nested Within the Diffish Women's field t and field in	E0
1 4 7	Aims of Chapter 6 Serial Chapters in Adiapapetin and PND in ACS	. 39
1.4./	Amis of Chapter 6 - Serial Changes in Adiponectin and DNP in ACS	
		ΓO
		. 39
Charter	I. Concernal Matheada	<u> </u>
Cnapter	11: General Meinoas	00
2.1	Review of the Literature	60
2.2	Subject Recruitment and Sample storage	60
2.2.1	Subject Recruitment	. 60
	-	

2.2.2	Sample Storage	60
2.3	Materials	61
2.4	Laboratory Methods	61
2.4.1	Measurement of Total Adiponectin	61
2.4.1.1	R&D Systems ELISA Method	61
2.4.1.2	Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA Method	62
2.4.2	Measurement of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin	63
2.5	Quality Control	64
2.6	Statistical Analysis	65

3.1	Introduction to Pre-Analytical Variables	. 67
J. Z	Plasma Samples	. 69
3.2.1	Introduction	. 69
3.2.2	Principle	. 69
3.2.3	Pilot Study (Revkiavik cohort)	
3.2.3.1	Pilot Study Subjects and Methods	
3.2.3.2	Results	
3.2.3.3	Discussion of pilot study	
3.2.4	Effects of freeze/thaw on measurable concentrations of total	
	Adiponectin in a larger study group (n=13)	. 78
3.2.4.1	Study subjects and methods	
3.2.4.2	Results	
3.2.4.3	Discussion	. 82
3.3	Blood Sample Processing	. 83
3.3.1	Introduction	. 83
3.3.2	Principle	. 83
3.3.3	Study Subjects and Methods	84
3.3.4	Results	87
3.3.5	Discussion	92
3.4	Biological Variability	. 93
3.4.1	Introduction	93
3.4.2	Principle	95
3.4.3	Study Subjects and Methods	95
3.4.4	Results	. 99
3.4.5	Discussion	104

4.1 4.2	Introduction to Analytical Variables Analysing Citrated Samples for Total Adiponect	
	Methodology	
4.2.1	Introduction	107
4.2.2	Principle	108
4.2.3	Study Subjects and Methods	108
4.2.4	Results	110
4.2.5	Discussion	113

4.3	Comparison of Total Adiponectin Measurement by Three I	Different
	Commercially Available ELISA Kits	115
4.3.1	Introduction	115
4.3.2	Principle	117
4.3.3	Study Subjects and Methods	118
4.3.4	Results	120
4.3.5	Discussion	125

5.1	Introduction	
5.2	Principle	
5.3	Study subjects and methods	
5.4	Results	
5.5	Discussion	

6.1	Introduction 1	141
6.2	Materials and Methods1	142
6.2.1	Study Population	142
6.2.2	Echocardiography	143
6.2.3	Left Ventricular Hypertrophy Assessment	143
6.2.4	Left ventricular systolic function assessment	144
6.2.5	Blood sample collection and analysis	144
6.2.6	Follow-up Measurements	144
6.2.7	End Points	145
6.3	Results1	146
6.3.1	Baseline Characteristics	146
6.3.2	Changes in Adiponectin and BNP from baseline to 7 weeks	146
6.3.3	Associations of baseline Adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome	147
6.3.4	Associations of 7 week Adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome.	147
6.3.5	Associations of change in Adiponectin and BNP with adverse	
	outcome	148
6.4	Discussion1	154
Chapter	VII: Discussion1	58
List of re	zferences1	61
Appendi	Appendices	

List of Tables

Chapter I

Table 1.1: Co Ac Le	orrelation of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin and Total diponectin with Measures of Adiposity, Insulin, Glucose and Lipid evels in British Women Aged 60-79 years41	1
Table 1.2: De	emographic and biochemical data for Ferris's Study56	Ś
Chapter III	r	
Table 3.1: Sı Ba Re	ummary of the Data for Total Adiponectin Concentrations at aseline and After the Freeze/thaw Cycles on the 5 Pilot Study eykjavik Samples	3
Table 3.2: Sı B R	ummary of the Data for HMW Adiponectin Concentrations at Baseline and After the Freeze/thaw Cycles on the 5 pilot Study Reykjavik Samples73	3
Table 3.3: P- vs Co	-values and Spearman's Rank Correlation Coefficients for Baseline s. Freeze/thaw Sample for Both Total and HMW Adiponectin oncentrations	1
Table 3.4: Su C ₃	ummary of Data for Total Adiponectin Over the 5 Freeze/thaw ycles80)
Table 3.5: P- Mo	-values and Spearman's Rank Correlations for Total Adiponectin leasurements Over the 5 Freeze/thaw Cycles)
Table 3.6: Bl	lood Sample Processing Results for Total Adiponectin)
Table 3.7: Sı Le Bl	ummary of Data from the Fridge Study Where Blood Samples Were eft Between 4-8°C for 2 and 6 Days Un-separated as Whole lood90)
Table 3.8: Sı Le se	ummary of Data from the Bench Study Where Blood Samples Were eft at Room Temperature (23°C - 25°C) for 2 Days and 6 Days Un- eparated as Whole Blood90)
Table 3.9: Co th	omparison between Data From the Bench Study With Data From ne Fridge Study90)
Table 3.10: I	Laboratory Intra-Assay Variability98	3
Table 3.11: I	Laboratory Inter-Assay Variability	3
Table 3.12: I A (S	Intra Person Medians (and IQR) of Weekly Measurements of Adiponectin. Results Obtained from 50 Observations from 9 People Subjects DB and EM Were Unable to Give all 6 Time Points 100)

Table 3.13: Total CV and the Relative Proportions That are Methodological(Intra-Assay) or Biological in Origin
Table 3.14: Spearman's Rank Correlations from the Comparison of Adiponectin Concentrations at Week 1 with Week 3 and Week 1 with Week 6with Week 6
Table 3.15: Intra-Class Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Measurementsin Short Term Variation102
Chapter IV
Table 4.1: Summary of Data for EDTA Plasma and Citrate Plasma Measured on an R&D ELISA Assay for the Determination of Human Total Adiponectin
Table 4.2: Summary of Data from the Comparison of Total Adiponectin ResultsObtained from Citrate Plasma and EDTA Plasma111
Table 4.3: Summary of Data from Total Adiponectin Concentrations Measured on 80 Samples with the R&D Systems ELISA Assay, the ALPCO Diagnostics ELISA Assay and the Mercodia ELISA Assay
Table 4.4: Comparison of Total Adiponectin Measurements Taken From the R&D Systems Kit and the ALPCO Diagnostics Kit
Table 4.5: Comparison of Total Adiponectin Measurements Taken From the R&D Systems Kit and the Mercodia Kit122
Chapter V
Table 5.1: Correlation of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin and TotalAdiponectin with Measures of Adiposity, Insulin, Glucose and LipidLevels in British Women aged 60-79 Years135
Table 5.2: Multivariable Associations of High Molecular Weight AdiponectinWith Incident Cases of Coronary Heart Disease (N=167 cases and333 controls)136
Chapter VI
Table 6.1: Association between admission Adiponectin levels (divided into thirds) and baseline characteristics of ACS patients (n=442 with Adiponectin measurement)
Table 6.2a: Association (Odds ratio) between baseline Adiponectin, 7 week Adiponectin, and change in Adiponectin and collective adverse outcomes of mortality, heart failure or acute coronary syndrome (n=51) within 10 months of index acute coronary syndrome Events

Table 6.2b:	Association (Odds ratio) between baseline BNP, 7 week BNP, and	
	change in BNP and collective adverse outcomes of mortality,	
	heart failure or acute coronary syndrome (n=51) within 10 months	
	of index acute coronary syndrome events 1	51

Chapter VII

Table 7.1: Overview of pre-analytical variables for total and HMW Adiponection	n
Measurement	159

List of Figures

Chapter I

Figure 1.1:	The Different Multimeric Forms of Adiponectin21
Figure 1.2:	Schematic Diagram Showing the Protein Structure of Adiponectin .22
Figure 1.3:	Crystal Structure of the Globular Domain of Adiponectin (ACRP30 gC1q domain) and comparison with the TNF α trimer24
Figure 1.4:	Diagram Showing the Activation of AMPK and PPAR by Binding of Adiponectin to Its Receptors
Figure 1.5:	Diagram Showing the Methods of Repression by the Ligand Bound PPAR and Activation by the PPAR-RXR Heterodimeric Complex29
Figure 1.6:	A Depiction of the Role of Adiponectin in Activating AMPK and PPARα30
Figure 1.7:	Illustrates Adiponectin's Role in the Inhibition of the NF-кВ Pathway
Figure 1.8:	Diagram Showing Oxidation of LDL and Foam Cell Formation36
Figure 1.9:	Summarising the Anti-Inflammatory Role of Adiponectin
Figure 1.10	: Relative Risks Per 1 Log [mu]g/mL of Adiponectin Level and Type 2 Diabetes Across Studies45
Figure 1.11	: Effects of Thiazolidinedione Medications46
Figure 1.12	: Prospective Studies of Circulating Concentrations of Adiponectin and CHD Risk
Figure 1.13	: Adjusted Mean Adiponectin in Pregnant Women by Ethnic Group55
Chapter II.	Ι
Figure 3.1:	Graph Showing Concentrations of Total Adiponectin Measured in the Reykjavik Samples at Baseline and After Seven Freeze Thaw Cycles
Figure 3.2:	Graph Showing Concentrations of HMW Adiponectin Measured in the Reykjavik Samples at Baseline and After Seven Freeze Thaw Cycles
Figure 3.3:	Total Adiponectin Median Levels Over the Five Freeze Thaw Cycles
Figure 3.4:	Flow Diagram Showing the Processing of Blood for the Fridge and Bench Studies

Figure 3.5:	Blood Sample Processing91		
Figure 3.6:	Changes in Total Adiponectin Concentrations in Each Subject Over Six Weeks		
Chapter IV			
Figure 4.1:	Illustrating Bland Altman Plot of Mean of EDTA and Citrate Logged Total Adiponectin Values vs. the Difference Between the EDTA and Citrate Logged Adiponectin Values		
Figure 4.2:	Bland Altman Plot Illustrating the Means of the Logged Adiponectin Values From the R&D and ALPCO Kits vs. the Difference Between the Logged Adiponectin Values Rendered from Each Kit		
Figure 4.3:	Bland Altman Plot Illustrating the Means of the Logged Adiponectin Values From the R&D and Mercodia Kits vs. the Difference Between the Logged Adiponectin Values Rendered from Each Kit		
Chapter V			
Figure 5.1:	Graphs Showing the Relationship of Adiponectin with Various Parameters in Humans		
Figure 5.2:	Figure Showing the 7 Prospective Studies of Circulating Concentrations of Adiponectin and CHD Risk		
Figure 5.3:	Proportion (%) of Women with Incidence Coronary Heart Disease (cases) by Quarters of the Distribution of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin		
Chapter VI			
Figure 6.1 (a): Dotplot of the untransformed overall change in Adiponectin values between baseline observations and follow-up observations 7 weeks later in the patient group			
Figure 6.1 (b): Dotplot of the untransformed overall change in BNP values between baseline observations and follow-up observations 7 weeks later in the patient group			
Figure 6.2: Correlation of change from baseline at 7 weeks follow-up for Adiponectin and B-type natriuretic peptide. Delta values represent (log follow-up value - log baseline value) for both Adiponectin and BNP			

List of Appendices

- Appendix 1: Names and addresses of suppliers
- Appendix 2: Biological CV Calculation
- Appendix 3: Kit Inserts
 - R&D Systems ELISA for the quantitative determination of total human Adiponectin concentrations in cell culture supernates, serum, and plasma.
 - 2. **Mercodia** Adiponectin ELISA for the quantitative determination of human total adiponectin in serum or plasma.
 - 3. ALPCO diagnostics ELISA for the quanitative, selective determination of High Molecular Weight (HMW), Mid- Molecular Weight (MMW) and Total adiponectin in human serum or plasma.
- Appendix 4: Published papers pertaining to studies described in this thesis.
- Sattar N, Watt P, Cherry L, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G, Lawlor DA. High molecular weight adiponectin is not associated with incident coronary heart disease in older women: a nested prospective case-control study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 May;93(5):1846-9.
- 2. Ang DS, Welsh P, Watt P, Nelson SM, Struthers A, Sattar N. Serial changes in adiponectin and BNP in ACS patients: paradoxical associations with each other and with prognosis. Clin Sci (Lond). 2009 Jul;117(1):41-8.
- Appendix 5: Informed Consent form

Acknowledgements

Sincerest thanks to Professor Naveed Sattar (Institute of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences, University of Glasgow) for the opportunity to perform this work and to be a valued member of his team. Your guidance, expertise, friendship and supervision during my time here have been indispensable.

In addition there have been many other people that have helped me achieve this finished product. I wish to thank the following people:

Dr. Paul Welsh for his guidance, support and for the invaluable help with the statistical analysis and overall layout.

Dr. Lynne Cherry, for her support and proof-reading. Also for providing blood samples for my studies and for the bleeding of all other volunteers involved in my Methodological Considerations chapters.

Grace Stewart, for bleeding volunteers for my studies.

Philip Stewart, for helping with IT issues.

All other collaborators involved in studies included in this thesis. Thank-you for providing your permission to use study samples in this thesis and allowing me to present this work at scientific meetings.

Members of staff at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary who donated blood samples for the various small studies and for Quality Control (QC) material making up this thesis. These QC's ensured the continual high quality of work undertaken in the laboratory.

Last but not least,

To my wonderful supportive network of family and friends. To my husband Scott for his support, love and understanding in times of stress; to my Mum, Anne and Dad, Stan for their guidance, love and continual support both emotionally and financially. To my brother Richard for much needed distraction with his long daily phone calls; to my sister Claire for her love, companionship and support and finally to my caring and compassionate friends, both here in the UK and back home in South Africa, for providing the love and support needed when living so far from home!

Author's Declaration

I declare that I am the author of this thesis and that no part of it has been previously reported in any other thesis. Chapters 5 and 6 draw on results and conclusions from published journal articles, upon which I have been named as a contributing author. All other authors are fully credited where appropriate.

The experimental work on the pre-analytical and analytical variables was carried out by myself in the Division of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary. Adiponectin analysis on samples in chapters 5 and 6 was carried out by myself (~50% of the work load) or by a technical colleague within our own department. Furthermore, I helped contribute to discussions on the data which helped shape some of the conclusions in the published papers. I also presented one of the papers as part of a national conference. Analysis of all other parameters included in these studies was carried out by other centres of research included in the study grants. Copies of the publications arsing from these studies can be found in the appendix.

I declare that, except where explicit reference is made to the contribution of others, that this dissertation is the result of my own work and has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Signed:

Abreviations

ABCA-1	- ATP Binding Cassette A1
ACC	- Acetyl Co-enzyme A
ACD	- Acid Citrate Dextrose Solution
ACRP30	- Adipocyte Complement Related Protein of 30 kD
ACS	- Acute Coronary Syndrome
ADIPO-R1	- Adiponectin receptor 1
ADIPO-R2	- Adiponectin receptor 2
ADP	- Adenosine diphosphate
AICAR	- Aminoimidazole carboxamide ribonucleotide
ALPCO	- American Laboratory Products Company
AMP	- Adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	- AMP-activated proteína kinase
API	- Activator Protein 1
apMI	- Adipose most abundant gene transcript 1
Аро	- Apolipoprotein
ATP	- Adenosine Triphosphate
BMI	- Body Mass Index
BNP	- Brain Natriuretic Peptide
BRHS	- Bristish Regional Heart Study
BWHHS	- British Woman's Heart and Health Study
CAD	- Coronary Artery Disease
cAMP-PKA	- Cyclic adenosine monophosphate/protein kinase A
C/EBP	- CCAAT/enhancer binding protein
CHD	- Coronary Heart Disease
CI	- Confidence Interval
СООН	- Carboxylic acid
COX-2	- Cyclooxygenase type 2
CPT-1	- Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase 1
CRP	- C-Reactive Protein
CV	- Coefficient of Variation
CVD	- Cardiovascular Disease
DBP	- Diastolic Blood Pressure
EDTA	- Ethylenediaminetetra-Acetic Acid

ELISA	- Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay
ET-1	- Endothelin 1
FABP	- Adipocyte Fatty Acid Binding Protein
FAT	- Fatty Acid Translocase
FATP	- Fatty Acid Transport Protein
gC1q	- Globular domain of adiponectin
GLP	- Good Laboratory Practice
GLUT-4	- Glucose Transporter 4
HDL	- High Density Lipoprotein
HIV	- Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HMW	- High Molecular Weight
HOMA-IR	- Homeostasis Model Assessment - Insulin Resistance
HPFS	- Health Professionals Follow Up Study
ICAM	- Intercellular Adhesion Molecule
Ι _k B	- Inhibitor Kappa B
IL-1	- Interleukin 1
IL-6	- Interleukin 6
IQR	- Inter-quartile Range
IR	- Insulin Resistance
IS	- Insulin Sensitivity
KDa	- Kilodalton
LDL	- Low Density Lipoprotein
LiHep	- Lithium Heparin
LMW	- Low Molecular Weight
LPL	- Lipoprotein Lipase
MCP-1	- Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1
MDD	- Minimum Detectable Dose
MI	- Myocardial Infarction
MMP-9	- Matrix Metalloproteinase 9
MMW	- Middle Molecular Weight
MoAbs	- Monoclonal Antibodies
mRNA	- Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
NF _k B	- Nuclear Factor Kappa B
NH ₂	- Amino group
PEPCK	- Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase

PGJ ₂	- Prostaglandin J_2
PPAR	- Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptor
PPRE	- Peroxisome Prolierator Response Element
QC	- Quality Control
R&D	- R&D systems supplier
RXR	- Retinoid X Receptor
SBP	- Systolic Blood Pressure
SD	- Standard Deviation
SOP	- Standard Operating Procedure
SR-B1	- Scavenger Receptor Class B1
STAT	- Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription Protein
TG	- Triglyceride
TNF-α	- Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha
TZD	- Thiazolidinedione
VCAM	- Vascular Cellular Adhesion Molecule
WAT	- White Adipose Tissue
WHR	- Waist to Hip Ratio

Chapter I: Introduction

1.1 The Adiponectin Molecule

1.1.1 Background Information to the Molecule

Adiponectin was originally identified, and given different names, by four independent groups over a decade ago. It was first discovered by Scherer and Lodish (Scherer et al, 1995)) who named it adipocyte complement-related protein of 30kDa (ACRP30), in a subtractive hybridization screen comparing 3T3-L1 adipocytes (cloned cell lines from mouse embryos with the ability to differentiate into cells resembling adipocytes (Panigrahy et al, 2002)) with undifferentiated pre-adipocytes. Spiegelman and colleagues (Hu et al, 1996) then adopted the same approach but they called the protein they isolated, AdipoQ. Human adiponectin, which is 83% the same as the mouse polypeptide, was first cloned by Matsuzawa and colleagues (Maeda et al, 1996) who called it adipose most abundant gene transcript 1 (apM1). Finally Tomita and colleagues (Nakano et al, 1996) employed a very different method by isolating adiponectin from human plasma by utilising its affinity for gelatine, thereby naming it gelatine binding protein. In this thesis I will refer to the molecule as the better known name, adiponectin.

After the first description of the molecule in 1995 there was a gap in literature (Whitehead et al, 2006), and the physiological and pathophysiological importance has only been well documented in recent years. Greater than 4000 publications have implicated this molecule's role in various pathological states (Shetty et al, 2009). The adiponectin gene encodes a secreted protein expressed predominantly in white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (Kadowaki et al, 2005). It circulates at high levels in human plasma accounting for approximately 0.01% (0.5-30 ug/mL) of all plasma protein in normal individuals (Magkos et al, 2007), ~1000-fold higher than other hormones such as leptin and insulin. Gender has an effect on concentrations of adiponectin, with females having higher levels than males (Xu et al, 2005). It is also well known that adiponectin levels increase with age, however the cause of this is still unknown (Sattar et al, 2008). Sattar and Nelson (Sattar et al, 2008) suggest rises in age related adiponectin may be as a result of a salvage mechanism against age related illness such as metabolic dysfunction, atherosclerosis and other inflammatory conditions. This will be discussed later in section 1.2.1 of this chapter on how adiponectin relates to cardiovascular disease (CVD) and heart failure.

1.1.2 Structure

The molecule is a 244-amino-acid long adipokine secreted from adipocytes (www.RnDSystems.com). The gene product is a 30kD protein (Scherer et al, 1995), however this is not found in circulation. Adiponectin automatically self-binds to form larger structures and there are different multimeric forms including low molecular weight (LMW) trimers, middle molecular weight (MMW) hexamers, high molecular weight (HMW) oligomeric structures and finally globular adiponectin (gC1q domain) (Figure 1.1 (Magkos et al, 2007)). It has been proposed that this globular fragment is generated by proteolytic cleavage of adiponectin multimers by leukocyte elastase secreted from activated monocytes and/or neutrophils (Kadowaki et al, 2005); however the pathophysiological importance of this cleavage remains to be determined.



Figure 1.1: The Different Multimeric Forms of Adiponectin

1.1.2.1 Monomeric structure

There are four distinct regions of adiponectin (Figure 1.2). The protein starts with a short signal sequence which acts to target the hormone for secretion outside the cell, then it leads into a short region that is variable between species, followed by an amino-acid region that shows similarity with collagenous protein, and finally ending with a globular domain.

Figure 1.2: Schematic Diagram Showing the Protein Structure of Adiponectin



1.1.2.2 Higher order structures

Initially, three adiponectin molecules bind together to form a homotrimer. The trimers continue to self-associate and form hexamers or dodecamers (Tilg et al, 2006). Like the plasma concentration, the relative levels of the higher-order structures are sexually dimorphic (Xu et al, 2005; Hug et al, 2004), where females have increased proportions of the high-molecular weight forms. The varying forms have altered biological activity and therefore may also have separate functions. The gC1q domain and the trimeric forms of adiponectin activate AMP Kinase in skeletal muscle and lead to increased fatty acid oxidation and reduction in glucose concentrations (15), whereas the hexameric and full length HMW forms are thought to activate nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) pathways (Hug et al, 2004). Conflicting literature on this association will be discussed in detail below in section 1.4.1. The proportion of HMW adiponectin within adipose tissue is higher than in blood plasma (Kadowaki et al, 2005), suggesting regulation at the level of secretion is a mechanism of adiponectin complex distribution. All isoforms of the molecule

Chapter 1: Introduction

are stable in circulation, do not seem to be able to interconvert and are relatively long-lived (half-life of ~15hrs) (Kadowaki et al, 2005).

1.1.2.3 <u>Homology to Tumour Necrosis Factor alpha (TNFα)</u>

Despite there being unrelated protein sequences, the 3-dimensional structure of the gC1q domain of adiponectin has a striking homology to TNF α , and has been subsequently named as a TNF superfamily member. TNF α is a cytokine involved in systemic inflammation and the acute phase response. It induces the hepatic expression of acute phase proteins. The molecule seems to possess both growth promoting and growth inhibiting properties, as well as mastering a self regulatory function. In spite of the lack of homology at the primary amino acid sequence level, the structural features between TNF α and adiponectin are highly conserved (Scherer et al, 1995) (Figure 1.3 (Schapiro et al, 1998)). Both proteins form bell- shaped homotrimeric oligomers, and the evolutionary relationship between adiponectin and TNF family proteins suggests that the human adiponectin receptor may also be a member of the TNF receptor superfamily. **Figure 1.3:** Crystal Structure of the Globular Domain of Adiponectin (ACRP30 gC1q domain) and comparison with the TNF*a* trimer



1.1.3 Receptors and Signaling

Two receptors have been identified that bind adiponectin: Adipo R1 and Adipo R2. AdipoR1 was first identified when encoding cDNA was isolated from human skeletal cDNA library by screening for adiponectin binding (Takeuchi et al, 2007). The AdipoR2 was identified later due to its striking homology to AdipoR1. Both are surface membrane proteins (Takeuchi et al, 2007) and have homology to G protein- coupled receptors. The receptors have different affinities to the various molecular forms of adiponectin. AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 are found in liver, muscle and adipose tissue in humans; however AdipoR1 is predominantly expressed in skeletal muscle whereas AdipoR2 is more predominant in the liver (Takeuchi et al, 2007). AdipoR1 is a high-affinity receptor for globular adiponectin as well as having a lower affinity for full length adiponectin. In contrast the AdipoR2 receptor has an equal intermediate affinity for globular and full length HMW adiponectin (Takeuchi et al, 2007). The receptors affect a very important cellular metabolic rate control point, by targeting AMP-activated protein Kinase (AMPK), downstream. AMPK is a stress induced kinase that is activated in response to depleting Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) or increasing Adenosine monophosphate (AMP) levels. AMPK activates ATP and generates catabolic processes such as fatty acid breakdown and glycolysis and shuts down ATP-consuming processes such as lipogenesis (Shetty et al, 2009). Expression of these receptors is correlated with insulin levels (Kadowaki et al, 2005). A review of studies involving the adiponectin receptors suggests that they may have an important role in adiponectin physiology. Key findings suggest that changes in expression of AdipoR isoforms in skeletal muscle (rather than total circulating adiponectin concentrations) may be of physiological importance (Vu et al, 2007), although this may reflect a form of "adiponectin resistance" particularly in less healthy individuals.

More recently, by means of expression cloning, T-cadherin has been recognized as an adiponectin receptor on vascular endothelial cells and smooth muscle (Takeuchi et al, 2007). The expression of this cadherin molecule is known to be correlated with atherosclerosis (Tilg et al, 2006), the pathogenesis of which adiponectin is thought to have an effect on. T-cadherin and adiponectin also both show protection against vascular endothelial cell

Chapter 1: Introduction

apoptosis which means that they may have overlapping biological properties in injured endothelial cells (Tilg et al, 2006). The receptor is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored¹ extra-cellular protein that binds hexameric and HMW adiponectin but not trimeric or globular species (Hug et al, 2004). Interestingly the amino acid sequence of T-cadherin has been well conserved through evolution, suggesting that it may indeed play an important role in higher order vertebrates (Tilg et al, 2006). T-cadherin lacks a cytoplasmic domain, and therefore it is believed that it does not act as a cellcell adhesion molecule and is not restricted to cell-cell boundaries but is rather found over the entire surface membrane (Tilg et al, 2006). The molecular mechanisms of any transmission of the adiponectin signal into the cytoplasm and nucleus remain unclear. Hug et al (Takeuchi et al, 2007) reported that only eukaryotically expressed adiponectin bound to T-cadherin, implying that there was some post translational modification of the molecule critical for binding. Although the understanding of the roles and regulation of these modifications is incomplete, it is clear they contribute to adiponectin multimerisation and function. The cysteine residue situated in the amino terminal variable domain of adiponectin is involved in disulphide bond formation, essential for the oligomerisation process (Whitehead et al, 2006). Other post-translational modifications include hydroxylation of conserved proline and lysine residues within the variable and collagenous domain, and these lysine residues are further modified by the addition of a glucosylgalactosyl group. The structural significance of these modifications has not been reported but with a mutation in four of the five genes encoding the lysine residues, a significant decrease in the insulin-sensitising action of adiponectin is seen (Nakano et al, 1996).

Hug's study (Hug et al, 2004) also suggests that because of its extracellular nature, T-cadherin may also act as a co-receptor for as yet unidentified signaling receptors, through which adiponectin transmits metabolic signals. It is also

¹ Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins (GPI-APs) are a functionally and structurally diverse family of posttranslationally modified membrane proteins found mostly in the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane in a variety of eukaryotic cells. Although the general role of GPI-APs remains unclear, they have attracted attention because they act as enzymes and receptors in cell adhesion, differentiation, and host-pathogen interactions (Elortza et al, 2003).

possible however that T-cadherin may be acting as a non-signalling decoy receptor of adiponectin. More studies of this nature are required to unravel the mystery of the T-cadherin/adiponectin signal pathway.

Adiponectin is also known to be involved in is the regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) activity (Kadowaki et al, 2005). PPARs play an important role in cellular functioning including lipid metabolism, cell proliferation, differentiation, adipogenesis and inflammatory signalling (Han et al, 2008). There exist three different isomers of the PPAR (α , β , γ), each with its own ligand activators and each being involved in different processes within the cell, ranging from transcription mediation to fatty acid storage. For example a PPARa agonist increases the expression of adiponectin receptors in WAT and a PPARy agonist increases the amount of high molecular weight multimers compared to total adiponectin (Tsuchida et al, 2005). Treatment of obese animals by specific PPAR B agonists causes metabolic parameters to normalise and results in the reduction of adiposity (Tenenbaum et al, 2005) and hence may prevent the development of obesity (Yamauchi et al, 2002). When adiponectin is secreted from WAT it binds to its receptor (AdipoR1 or AdipoR2). With this binding it activates AMPK and PPARa (figure 1.4 (Dupont et al, 2008)). Ligand bound PPAR forms a heterodimeric complex with the retinoid X receptor (RXR) which is capable of binding to specific response elements, termed peroxisome proliferator response elements (PPRE) (Figure 1.5 (Gervois et al, 2007)). This interaction in the promoter region of target genes allows the PPAR to regulate gene expression, in particular adiponectin gene expression. Therefore, adiponectin is, to some extent self-regulatory through PPAR. PPARs may repress gene transcription by a mechanism that is independent of DNA binding (left of figure 1.5). This mechanism includes interference by PPARs with other transcription factor pathways such as those involving NFkB, signal transducers and activators of transcription protein (STAT), CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP), and activator protein-1 (AP-1), which modulate the expression of genes involved in inflammation pathways. In the liver, full length adiponectin activates AMPK, thereby reducing the production of molecules involved in gluconeogenesis and increasing phosphorylation of acetyl coenzyme-A carboxylase (ACC) as well as

fatty acid oxidation. In the skeletal muscle both globular and full length adiponectin bind to the receptors to activate AMPK and stimulate phosphorylation of ACC, fatty-acid oxidation and glucose uptake (Kadowaki et al, 2005).These cascades both result in decreased triglyceride content and increased insulin sensitivity in the cells (Figure 1.6 (Kadowaki et al, 2005)).

Figure 1.4: Diagram Showing the Activation of AMPK and PPAR by Binding of Adiponectin to Its Receptors.



J2

Dupont et al, 2008 (PPAR Research)



Figure 1.5: Diagram Showing the Methods of Repression by the Ligand Bound PPAR and Activation by the PPAR-RXR Heterodimeric Complex.

Abbreviations for figure 1.5: ABCA-1, ATP-binding cassette A1; Apo, apolipoprotein; COX-2, cyclooxygenase type 2; CPT-I, carnitine palmitoyltransferase I; CRP, C-reactive protein; ET-1, endothelin 1; FABP, adipocyte fatty acid binding protein; FAT, fatty acid translocase; FATP, fatty acid transport protein; IL-1, interleukin 1; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; MMP-9, matrix metalloproteinase 9; SR-B1, scavenger receptor class B1; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription.

Gervois et al, 2007 (Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab)





1.1.4 Function

Adiponectin has a number of diverse roles within the body incorporating modulation of a number of metabolic processes. Despite being released from adipose tissue, adiponectin correlates inversely with body fat in humans (Cnop et al, 2003) and animals (Freubis et al, 2001). It also exhibits important metabolic regulatory functions such as glucose regulation and fatty acid catabolism and has been suggested to have anti-inflammatory properties (24).

1.1.4.1 Adiponectin function in *in vitro* and animal studies

In 2001, Freubis et al. showed the apparent insulin sensitizing effects of adiponectin. Mice were fed either a high fat test meal or were injected with fat emulsion, which dramatically increased the amounts of free fatty acid levels. By treatment with protease-generated globular adiponectin, the elevated levels of free fatty acids were significantly lowered. This effect was caused in part by the increase in fatty acid oxidation in the muscle. Kadowaki and Yamauchi (Kadowaki et al, 2005) also verified the direct insulinsensitizing effect of adiponectin in vivo by using an insulin resistant lipoatrophic diabetic mouse model that displayed both adiponectin and leptin² deficiency. The test animals were then given a physiological dose of recombinant adiponectin and insulin resistance was significantly reduced. Moreover, Scherer's group reported that an acute increase in circulating adiponectin levels triggers a brief decrease in basal glucose levels by inhibiting both the expression of hepatic gluconeogenic enzymes and the rate of endogenous glucose production in wild type and type 2 diabetic mice (Berg et al, 2001). These findings are consistent with the proposal that adiponectin sensitises the body to insulin, and perhaps explains higher expression in the lean: adiponectin expression in adipose tissue may control glycaemia and fatty acid levels in normal physiological circumstances. Yamauchi et al then showed that adiponectin increases AMPK and ACC phosphorylation

² Leptin is synthesised and secreted by adipose tissue and acts on the brain and peripheral organs to regulate appetite and energy balance within our body

in muscle, by treating mice with recombinant adiponectin (Yamauchi et al, 2002).

Their findings showed that both globular and full length adiponectin increased AMPK phosphorylation in vivo in a dose dependent manner, with a 2-fold peak at 5 minutes, returning to baseline value after 60 minutes. To determine whether the AMPK pathway was required for adiponectin effect in muscle cells, Yamauchi and colleagues used a catalytically inactive AMPK to demonstrate that activation of AMPK is necessary for adiponectin-induced stimulation of ACC phosphorylation, fatty acid oxidation, glucose uptake and lactate production in muscle cells. This experiment links adiponectin to weight limitation.

1.1.4.2 Adiponectin and its role in inflammation

Adiponectin may act as a modulator for the endothelial inflammatory response by targeting the NF-κB pathway. Members of this family of nuclear factors are responsible for regulating over 150 target genes, including the expression of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, immunoreceptors, and cell adhesion molecules. Because of this, NF-κB has often been called a central mediator of the human immune response.

Adiponectin has been reported to act as both an agonist and an antagonist for the NF-κB pathway. Adiponectin may promote (Tsao et al, 2002; Hug et al, 2004) or inhibit (Kadowaki et al, 2005; Ouchi et al, 2000) NF-κB signalling, probably in a context specific manner. This may consequently lead to up regulation or down regulation of the inflammatory response in target cells depending on the context. Hexameric and larger forms of adiponectin (but not the trimeric or globular species) are thought to activate the NF-κB pathway (Tsao et al, 2002; Hug et al, 2004), in a manner dependent upon phosphorylation and degradation of IκB-α. Although the significance of this activity is unclear, the hexameric and HMW isoforms of adiponectin do inhibit apoptosis of endothelial cells (Kobayashi et al, 2004) and NF-κB has well described antiapoptotic activities (Wang et al, 1998). This suggests oligomerisation may have an important role to play in the molecule's biological activity.

Chapter 1: Introduction

On the other hand, adiponectin was shown to inhibit TNF- α -induced nuclear factor- κ B activation through the inhibition of I κ B phosphorylation (Ouchi et al, 2000) (Figure 1.7 (Tilg et al, 2006)). Through this suppression adiponectin strongly inhibits the expression of adhesion molecules including intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM), vascular cellular adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM), and E-selectin (Kadowaki et al, 2005). Suppression of nuclear factor- κ B by adiponectin might also be a major molecular mechanism for the inhibition of monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells, thus preventing atherogenesis as an anti-inflammatory factor.

Adiponectin is thought to dampen the early phases of macrophage inflammatory responses, acting to inhibit the growth of myelomonocytic progenitor cells (Yokota et al, 2000) and decrease the ability of mature macrophages to respond to activation (Gervois et al, 2007). Adiponectin also inhibits the expression of the scavenger receptor class A-1 of macrophages, resulting in markedly decreased uptake of oxidized low-density lipoprotein (LDL) by macrophages and inhibition of foam cell formation. This is vital in fighting the onset of atherosclerosis. Normal LDL in plasma is not oxidized. Oxidation of LDL is believed to contribute to the development of atherosclerosis (Yokota et al, 2000), a condition where the walls of the arteries are damaged and narrowed by deposits of plague (cholesterol and other fatty substances, calcium, fibrin, and cellular wastes), eventually blocking off the flow of blood. Macrophage cells preferentially take up oxidized LDL, become loaded with lipids, and convert into "foam cells" (Aviram et al, 1996) (Figure 1.8 (Chang et al, 1994)). When large numbers of foam cells accumulate in the artery they form a plaque. Stenosis (the narrowing of the artery) occurs with the proliferation of foam cells. The lipid laden plaques become unstable and eventually may rupture resulting in Myocardial Infarction. In addition, in smooth muscle cells, adiponectin attenuated DNA synthesis induced by growth factors (Arita et al, 2002). Some important roles adiponectin plays in inflammation are summarised in figure 1.9 (Igbal O, 2007).

Okamoto *et al* used apoE deficient mice to demonstrate that an increase of plasma adiponectin suppressed the progression of atherosclerotic lesions (Okamoto et al, 2002). They injected a replication- defective adenovirus

Chapter 1: Introduction

vector containing full length adiponectin or ß galactosidase gene in the tail vein of male apoE-/- mice. These mice develop vascular lesions similar to human atherosclerosis (Plump et al, 1992). After 14 days atherosclerotic lesion areas in the full length adiponectin treated mice were reduced by 30% compared with the ß galactosidase gene treated mice. They also reported a decrease in the m-RNA levels of VCAM-1 and TNF α . These findings suggest that plasma adiponectin may protect endothelial cells from hyper-cholesterolemiavascular injury, and reduce the uptake of LDL into foam cells.

Figure 1.7: Illustrates Adiponectin's Role in the Inhibition of the NF- κ B Pathway.



Note that adiponectin acts in the inhibition of the TNF- α induced NF- κ B pathway (b).

Abbreviations for figure 1.7: AdipoR1, Adiponectin receptor 1; AdipoR2, Adiponectin receptor 2; TNFR1, Tumour necrosis factor receptor 1; AMPK, amp-activated protein kinase; PPAR, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor; PPRE, Peroxisome Proliferator Response Element; IKB, IkappaB kinase; IFN[°], Interferon y; IL-10, Interleukin 10; IL-1RA, Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist.

Tilg et al, 2006 (Nat Rev Immunol)
Figure 1.8: Diagram Showing Oxidation of LDL and Foam Cell Formation

Monocytes migrate from the vascular lumen to the intima where they differentiate into macrophages. The scavenger receptors on the surface of macrophages take up modified LDLs, forming macrophage foam cells.





Adiponectin acts in the inhibition of monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells and prevents the oxidation of LDL, thus preventing atherogenesis as an antiinflammatory factor.



Abbreviations for figure 1.9: LDL, Low density lipoprotein; SR-A, Scavenger receptor A

Iqbal O, 2007 (Personalized Medicine)

1.1.4.3 Associations of Adiponectin with other Risk Factors in Humans

Adiponectin is a very complex hormone and exhibits relationships with a number of molecules, and performs a number of diverse roles within our body. A few of these processes have been demonstrated by means of in vitro and animal studies, but how does the molecule function in humans? Since the discovery of the insulin-sensitising action of adiponectin in 2001 (Kadowaki et al, 2006), there has been great interest in the molecule. Substantial research has been undertaken with the aim to develop a recombinant form of the protein for therapeutic purposes. Clinical studies have revealed negative associations with body mass index (BMI), waist to hip ratio (WHR), Insulin, glucose, HOMA-IR, C-reactive protein (CRP) levels and triglyceride levels while exhibiting positive associations with High density lipoprotein (HDL)-Cholesterol and age (Table 1.1 (Sattar et al, 2008). Many studies (Ouchi et al, 2007; Pischon et al, 2004; Rathman et al, 2000; Wannamethee et al, 2007; Zhuo et al, 2009)) have found similar associations. Hu et al first showed that adiponectin may be linked to human obesity (Hu et al, 1996) by using northern blots to show that adiponectin expression was reduced in adipose tissues of obese mice and humans (Lu et al, 2008). A report of an adiponectin immunoassay stimulated activity in the human clinical research field (Arita et al, 1999). Using this assay Arita et al demonstrated that plasma adiponectin levels were higher in women than in men (Lau et al, 2008) and in non-obese than obese subjects. These reports have subsequently been confirmed by many other studies (Kadowaki et al, 2006; Whitehead et al, 2005; Hulstrom et al, 2008). Despite adiponectin being secreted by adipocytes, circulating levels decrease with obesity. Research originally proposed that mechanisms associated with insulin resistance, such as inflammation, inhibited the expression of adiponectin in the adipose tissue (Lu et al, 2008). Cytokines released in inflammation, which are known to rise in obesity, may play a role in the suppression of adiponectin. Recent studies in human subjects involving the treatment with PPAR gonists revealed that the plasma adiponectin levels increase 2-fold despite significant body weight gain (Lu et al, 2008). This means that adiponectin levels are increasing independently of weight and rather due to improvement in adipose-specific

insulin sensitivity. Therefore it is now thought adiponectin gene expression may increase irrespective of changes in adiposity but rather due to adipose tissue specific insulin sensitivity (Lu et al, 2008). In line with this Vozarova *et al* showed that hypo-adiponectinemia is not the cause of obesity but rather a result of obesity induced insulin resistance in the adipose tissue (Vozarova et al, 2002). In this study low plasma adiponectin concentrations did not predict future weight gain in humans. This result was also seen in animal models (Pelleymounter et al, 1995). Therefore it may be leptin, rather than adiponectin, that is the hormone primarily responsible for weight regulation. Paradoxically to adiponectin, serum levels of leptin increase with weight gain.

Considering the metabolic effects of adiponectin, it is fair to propose that the lower levels of adiponectin seen in obese subjects is a direct result of the obesity and adipose tissue specific insulin resistance and that these lower levels of adiponectin mediate the state of insulin resistance and metabolic outcomes in other peripheral tissues. Consistent with the known associations of adiponectin with obesity and diabetes, multiple observations now support the molecule as a potent antidiabetic hormone. In a number of prospective diverse population studies, adiponectin consistently predicts lower risk for Type 2 Diabetes (Kadowaki et al, 2005; Sattar et al, 2008; Sattar et al, 2008) and as predicted lower adiponectin levels were also reported in many insulin resistance-related clinical conditions such as polycystic ovary syndrome, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, lipodystrophy and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) patients (Lu et al, 2008).

Collectively these observations would suggest that adiponectin is predominantly beneficial, leading us to the assumption it may also display protective effects in vascular tissue. In 2004 Pischon *et al* reported an outcome in apparent protection against myocardial infarction (MI) (Pischon et al, 2004). The initial excitement of these findings later dissipated as increasing numbers of published journal articles appeared to quash the idea, and the latest literature now shows higher levels of circulating adiponectin actually correlate positively to coronary heart disease (CHD) and all cause mortality, rather than to apparent protection against CHD (Laughlin et al, 2007). Some ideas as to the reason for this will be discussed in more detail

later on. The relationship between adiponectin and blood pressure seemed to be more difficult to demonstrate in human studies, probably due to the interference from other metabolic confounding factors related to insulin resistance. But results lean towards there being a higher reported blood pressure with lower plasma adiponectin levels (Lu et al, 2008). Although a large number of studies have researched the complex mechanisms of this molecule and its associations with other risk markers, larger studies with increased sample numbers are needed to elucidate these potential links.

Table 1.1: Correlation of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin and TotalAdiponectin with Measures of Adiposity, Insulin, Glucose and Lipid Levels inBritish Women Aged 60-79 years.

N = 500

	Spearman's Rank correlation coefficient with HMW adiponectin	р	Spearman's Rank correlation coefficient with total adiponectin	р
HMW or total adiponectin	0.75	< 0.001	0.75	< 0.001
Age	0.08	0.07	0.13	0.004
BMI	-0.12	0.008	-0.20	< 0.001
Waist-hip ratio	-0.26	< 0.001	-0.32	< 0.001
Insulin	-0.35	< 0.001	-0.41	< 0.001
Glucose	-0.11	0.01	-0.20	< 0.001
HOMA-IR	-0.30	< 0.001	-0.38	< 0.001
CRP	-0.17	0.002	-0.20	< 0.001
Total chol.	0.00	0.97	-0.02	0.51
LDL-C	0.01	0.84	-0.01	0.63
HDL-C	0.37	< 0.001	0.44	< 0.001
Triglycerides	-0.34	< 0.001	-0.42	< 0.001
SBP	-0.06	0.20	-0.05	0.36
DBP	0.05	0.31	0.01	0.62

Abbreviations for table 1.1: BMI, body mass index; CRP, C-reactive protein; HOMA-IR, Homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure

Sattar et al, 2008 (J Clin Endocrinol Metab)

1.2 The Associations of Adiponectin with Incident Diabetes Mellitus, Vascular Disease and Mortality

The prevalence of obesity has increased dramatically in recent years, and it is commonly associated with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus, coronary artery disease (CAD) and Hypertension, collectively known as the metabolic syndrome (Kadowaki et al, 2006). Adipose tissue has been targeted as the prime focus for biomedical research associated with obesity and obesity related diseases (Vozarova et al, 2002). It is now considered to be a genuine endocrine tissue which has the primary role of secretion of molecules into the blood; $TNF\alpha$, Inter-Leukin 6 (IL-6), leptin, adiponectin, resistin, visfatin and omentin among others, which influence the physiology of organs or tissues at a distant site. Understanding the biology of adipose tissue and the rapidly growing list of adipokines secreted from it provides new insights into normal physiological regulation, as well as the pathogenesis and treatment of obesity, diabetes and disorders of lipid metabolism and the cardiovascular system (Ahima et al, 2008).

1.2.1 Associations with Diabetes Mellitus

Type 2 diabetes is very common in obese individuals. It is a disorder whereby the body still produces insulin but does not produce enough insulin or does not utilise the insulin that is produced correctly (insulin resistance (IR)), or a combination of these. The prevalence of the disease worldwide is reaching epidemic proportions (Smith et al, 2003) and is said to be fuelled by the adoption of a more "westernised" lifestyle incorporating high fat foods and including little exercise. IR is a key feature of the metabolic syndrome and the diseases associated with it. It is now generally accepted to be the primary metabolic defect of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (Smith et al, 2003). IR is defined as a state that requires more insulin to obtain the biological effects achieved by a lower amount of insulin in the normal state (Kadowaki et al, 2006). In contrast to other adipokines, circulating levels of adiponectin correlate inversely with body fat and IR in humans (Whitehead et al, 2006) and rodent models (Kadowaki et al, 2006). Adiponectin is known to increase fatty acid oxidation in the blood, thus improving insulin sensitivity in tissues and

therefore a reduced circulating adiponectin level in the blood may result in insulin resistance. It has been reported that blood concentrations of adiponectin fall from 20-50% in humans and mice respectively with the administration of insulin, thus implying that the effect of insulin to lower adiponectin levels may involve inhibition of adipocyte secretion. Plasma adiponectin levels have also been shown to be decreased in an obese rhesus monkey model that frequently develops Type 2 Diabetes (Kadowaki et al, 2006). Many prospective studies (Yatagai et al, 2003; Daimon et al, 2003; Spranger et al, 2003; Jalovaara et al, 2008) have shown that lower adiponectin levels are associated with a higher incidence of diabetes in humans and more importantly the decrease in plasma adiponectin levels was in parallel with the decrease in insulin sensitivity (Kadowaki et al, 2006). This finding is further supported by a recent meta analysis of 13 prospective studies, which found that higher adiponectin levels were monotonically associated with a lower risk of Type 2 Diabetes across diverse populations (Li et al, 2009) (Figure 1.10 (Li et al, 2009)).

Studies (Yu et al, 2002; Miyazaki et al, 2004) have shown that in type 2 diabetic patients, treatment with medications incorporating thiazolidinedione (TZD) enhances insulin action on peripheral glucose disposal (Miyazaki et al, 2004), reduces hepatic fat content (Yatagai et al, 2003) and decreases endogenous glucose production (Yu et al, 2002). Such medications are also known as glitazones, and are regarded as insulin sensitizing agents. These medications are used in patients with diabetes mellitus where lifestyle measures have proved insufficient (Krentz et al, 2006). Plasma adiponectin increases substantially in response to glitazone treatment in healthy, obese and Type 2 diabetic subjects (Yu et al, 2002; Hulstrom et al, 2008; Miyazaki et al, 2004). The insulin sensitizing effects resulting from treatment with glitazones are thought to be regulated through PPAR- γ (Yu et al, 2002) (Figure 1.11 (Kumar CKA, 2008)). Glitazone treatment results in decreased insulin resistance, modified adipocyte differentiation, decrease in leptin levels, a fall in certain interleukin levels, and a rise in adiponectin levels (Wang et al, 2003; Otto et al, 2006). Although it is reasonable to assume that the insulinsensitising and antidiabetic effect of TZD is mediated in part by up regulation of adiponectin levels, in fact very few studies (Yu et al, 2002; Miyazaki et al, 2004; Pajvani et al, 2004; Phillips et al, 2003; Boden et al, 2003) to date have

reported an association between increases in adiponectin levels and improvements in peripheral and hepatic insulin sensitivity in response to treatment with TZD medications. In one of the above mentioned studies, Pajvani et al postulates that it may be down to the complex distribution of the adiponectin molecule rather than its absolute amount that correlates to TZD-mediated improvement in insulin sensitivity (Pajvani et al, 2004). They report that diabetic patients have a lower HMW/total adiponectin ratio compared with healthy lean individuals and suggest that the new HMW/total ratio index they describe as S_A , would be more useful in cases where differences in insulin sensitivity cannot be explained by differences in absolute adiponectin serum levels alone. Also, of mention is the fact that adiponectin levels increase in normal lean, obese and type 2 diabetic subjects (Yu et al, 2002; Hulstrom et al, 2008; Miyazaki et al, 2004) and this indicates that adiponectin is unlikely to be the only cause of TZD-induced insulin sensitivity (Yu et al, 2002). TZD has emerged as a strong therapeutic tool for diabetes care, but more studies are needed to investigate the dose response effect on adiponectin levels (Yu et al, 2002) and the interactions of glitazones with other PPAR-y target genes (Hulstrom et al, 2008). The rise in the amount of new cases of diabetes each year makes this an important and essential topic of research, which will help to benefit many and add quality to so many lives affected by this disease.

Figure 1.10: Relative Risks Per 1 Log [mu]g/mL of Adiponectin Level and Type 2 Diabetes Across Studies

Fourteen data points are included for the 13 studies because results for men and women are shown separately in the Hoorn study (Snijder et al). Size of squares corresponds to the weight of each study in the meta-analysis.







1.2.2 Associations with Cardiovascular Disease Events

There is considerable interest in the vascular actions of adiponectin due to its insulin-sensitising (Sattar et al, 2006), anti-inflammatory (Kadowaki et al, 2005) and anti-atherogenic (von Eynatten et al, 2008) properties. Whilst there is consistent evidence that high levels of adiponectin are associated with lower risk for diabetes, it remains unclear whether high adiponectin is associated with lower risk for CHD events (Sattar et al, 2008). The general assumption was that a reduced adiponectin concentration may underlie the heightened vascular risk associated with obesity and the metabolic syndrome but this association is proving to be more complex that previously thought. In animal models, exogenous adiponectin administration protects against development of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice (Yamauchi et al, 2003). In humans, however the evidence has been somewhat conflicting. The Health Professionals Follow Up Study (HPFUS) (Pischon et al, 2004) was the first study to publish results of the relationship between CHD and adiponectin levels and it noted high adiponectin to be independently associated with incidence for myocardial events. They reported that a doubling of baseline adiponectin levels was associated with a statistically significant 20% reduction in MI after adjustments for confounders, which consequently led to the suggestion that adiponectin might be the major mechanistic link between diabetes and increased CHD risk. Since then however, there have been inconsistencies in the data published on this relationship. Some studies (Koenig et al, 2006; Costacou et al, 2005) support the understanding that adiponectin is emerging as an important mediator of future risk for primary CHD while some more recent studies have not been consistent with this analysis (Sattar et al, 2008; Sattar et al, 2006; Lawlor et al, 2005; Lindsay et al, 2005; Kizer et al, 2008). A recent meta-analysis of 7 prospective studies encompassing 1313 CHD cases demonstrated significantly little, if any, association of a single measurement of adiponectin with a combined end point of nonfatal MI and CHD death (Sattar et al, 2008) (Figure 1.12 (Sattar et al, 2008)). So far it has not been elucidated whether adiponectin is a useful prognostic predictor in patients in advanced stages of CHD, thus suggesting that the use of adiponectin for cardiovascular risk is much more complex than previously thought. Lindsay et al suggest that the

relationship of adiponectin to later vascular disease may be less apparent in the presence of Type 2 Diabetes or obesity (Lindsay et al, 2005), and he notes that studies supporting the notion that decreased adiponectin predicts increased risk of CVD, did not include as many participants with diabetes or obesity as his study did. This hypothesis merits further investigation.



Figure 1.12: Prospective Studies of Circulating Concentrations of Adiponectin and CHD Risk

Abbreviations for figure 1.12: BWWHS, British Womens Heart and Health Study; BRHS, British Regional Heart Study; HPFUS, Health Professionals Follow up Study, STRONG, Strength Training Ongoing Study; PEDCS, Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complication Study.

Sattar et al, 2006 (Circulation)

1.2.2.1 HMW Adiponectin and its associations with incident vascular events

Due to the apparent inconsistencies in the data reported from various studies, the separate functioning of the independent parts of the molecule and their biological activity were focused on in more detail. The HMW form of adiponectin is thought to be the key biologically active form of the molecule because it has been shown to be better associated with insulin sensitivity than total adiponectin, has been more strongly linked to a lower risk of incident diabetes, and it has been linked more strongly to protection against endothelial cell apoptosis (Sattar et al, 2008). Commercial ELISA kits for the measurement of the HMW fraction became available and this spurred greater interest in this form of the molecule. A nested case control from the British Women's Heart and Health Study (BWHHS) found no significant link between HMW adiponectin and the risk of incident vascular events, and suggested rather that the molecule was more aligned for the determination of risk with the incidence of diabetes. Von Eynatten et al confirmed this by suggesting from their study that although high total and HMW adiponectin levels were associated with a more favourable CHD risk profile, they were not significantly associated with future secondary CVD events (von Eynatten, 2008). These observations suggest that the use of either total or HMW adiponectin may add no prognostic value to that gained by established cardiovascular risk factors for the occurrence of secondary CVD events (von Eynatten, 2008).

1.2.3 Associations with Coronary Heart Failure (CHF)

Studies in people with prevalent heart failure or acute coronary syndrome (ACS) show that high plasma levels of adiponectin are associated with greater disease severity (McEntegart et al, 2007) (Nakamura et al, 2006) and with higher risk of adverse outcome (Tsutamoto et al, 2007) (Kistorp et al, 2005). B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and its inactive N-terminal metabolite NT-proBNP (released in a 1:1 ratio during processing) are sensitive markers of cardiac overload and are markers of prognosis in those with CHF (Clerico et al, 2004). Several studies have shown positive correlations of circulating baseline NT-proBNP and BNP with adiponectin in those with prevalent CHF and

coronary artery disease (Cavusoglu et al, 2006) (George et al, 2006)(Kistorp et al, 2005) (McEntegart et al, 2007) (Nakamura et al, 2006) (Tsutamoto et al, 2007) (von Eynatten et al, 2006). Indeed, in the recent Atherogene Study, baseline adiponectin predicted risk of poor outcome in CHF independent of conventional risk factors, but not independent of BNP (Schnabel et al, 2008). A recent study (Ang et al, 2009) also shows a positive correlation between baseline circulating BNP and adiponectin. In this study increases in plasma adiponectin from baseline, after ACS, to 7 week follow up (rather than absolute levels at each time point), were related to risk of adverse outcome. Although the patterns of risk associations of BNP and adiponectin are different, the data from this study showed that following index admission for ACS, BNP and adiponectin associated with each other at baseline, at 7 week follow up, and that change in both markers also correlated (r=0.39, p<0.001). The results give insight into the pathophysiology behind increased risk of ACS recurrence, CHF, or death following an index ACS event. The results are suggestive of an interesting and potentially important pathophysiological pathway which links an increase in adiponectin to adverse prognosis in a manner not independent of BNP.

1.2.4 Associations with CVD Mortality and All Cause Mortality

In some studies, high levels of adiponectin have been shown to predict mortality in patients with chronic heart failure (Kistorp et al, 2005; George et al, 2006) and in patients presenting with coronary artery disease (CAD) (Cavusoglu et al, 2006).

The British Regional Heart Study (BRHS), one of the largest studies of its kind, investigated the relationship between adiponectin levels and all cause mortality in elderly men (60-79yrs) with and without CVD (including CHD or stroke). The main aim of this study was to determine whether adiponectin levels were associated with increased CVD mortality in only those with existing vascular disease or heart failure or whether this extended to all individuals in a population. The study findings were consistent with that of previous studies (Kistorp et al, 2005; George et al, 2006); high adiponectin levels are associated with increased mortality in heart failure subjects, but it also extended its findings to show that there is a link between high

adiponectin levels and mortality in the general population of men without diagnosed CVD or heart failure. This increased mortality was seen for cardiovascular and non-cardiovascular causes (Wannamethee et al, 2007). The Rancho-Bernado Study (Laughlin et al, 2007) examined the association of adiponectin with CHD prevalence, incidence, and mortality among 1,513 men and women aged 50-91 years who were followed from 1984-1987 through to 2004. The study also examined the associations of adiponectin with CVD and all cause mortality. Sex differences were evaluated. Adiponectin concentrations were not significantly related to CHD mortality (including after adjustments for age, sex, waist girth, HDL, triglycerides and glucose) and there was no evidence of a trend across adiponectin quintiles. The nature of the adiponectin link to the pathogenesis of CHD and its long term effects is not yet clear.

The study also found that with adiponectin levels in the highest sex-specific quintile, there was a 40% increased risk of CVD death and all cause mortality and this result was independent of age, sex, lipid levels, waist circumference and glucose levels. Therefore although high adiponectin levels have been linked to a more favourable cardiovascular disease risk profile, there seems to be inconsistencies in the fact that high levels seem to be correlated to increased CVD and all cause mortality.

1.2.5 Adiponectin vs. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and CVD mortality: Explaining the paradox

A recent editorial (Sattar et al, 2008) explores suggestions as to why an increase in adiponectin levels may be linked to increased CVD mortality. With respect to this, a number of suggestions have been explored which include renal dysfunction and thereby impaired adiponectin clearance, peripheral adiponectin resistance and unintentional weight loss in the elderly. However, Kizer et al have now considered and partially dismissed renal dysfunction as a potential confounder, and although the study relied on self-reported weight loss they also included change in this parameter in their analyses and found the association was independent of weight loss (Kizer et al, 2008). Evidence for the idea that peripheral adiponectin resistance may explain higher levels in groups at elevated risk, is scarce and this may be an avenue worth exploring.

Sattar and Nelson suggest the possibility that it may be due to reverse causality (Sattar et al, 2008), whereby silent or clinically apparent vascular disease leads to compensatory rises in adiponectin. As mentioned in section 1.1 of this overview, adiponectin synthesis has been proposed to be stimulated in response to vascular inflammation, however systemic markers of inflammation appear to not explain the link between adiponectin and mortality (Kizer et al, 2008). Another suggestion offered by Sattar and Nelson is that a rise in B-Type/Brain Natriuretic Peptide (BNP) levels may link existing vascular disease to higher adiponectin levels because circulating levels of these two parameters show positive correlations in patients with and without chronic heart failure (McEntegart et al, 2007) (Ang et al, 2009). The mechanism is as yet unknown but it has been suggested that high levels of adiponectin in those with acute coronary syndrome (ACS) or heart failure may be a reflection of a salvage mechanism to improve insulin resistance and fatty acid metabolism thereby counteracting vascular stress (McEntegart et al, 2007). Finally we cannot yet rule out the possibility that higher adiponectin levels may actually be harmful to the vasculature and we should bear in mind that measures taken to improve diabetes control or protect against its pathogenicity do not necessarily lessen CVD risk. In order to drive this field forward, future studies are required to better understand the relevance of adiponectin to potential interventions.

1.3 Ethnic Variation

There is evidence of ethnic variation in adiponectin concentrations (Retnakaran et al, 2004). People of South Asian descent (defined as Indian, Pakistani, Sri-Lankan or those having descent from Bangladesh) have an increased risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus compared with any other ethnic groups studied (Retnakaran et al, 2004; Valsamakis et al, 2003; McKeigue et al, 1991). Conventional risk factors associated with the metabolic syndrome (hypertension, dyslipidaemia and smoking) do not fully reconcile the elevated risk this ethnic group faces. Retnakaran et al proposed that there may be additional factors contributing to the increased risk. One candidate molecule

for study is adiponectin, due to its associations with Type 2 Diabetes and CAD. Retnakaran et al reported metabolic characteristics of three main ethnic groups; Caucasian, Asian and South Asian.

180 women who were in their late second or early third trimester of pregnancy were included in the study. Adjusted median adiponectin levels were highest in the Caucasian population, followed closely by the Asians and the lowest levels were recorded in the South Asian population (figure 1.13 (Retnakaran et al, 2004)). Moreover, bearing in mind the inverse relationship between adiponectin and BMI, the observed hypoadiponectinaemia observed in South Asians is particularly striking, since the Caucasian population exhibited a higher mean pregnancy BMI in this study. Similar results were reported by Valsamakis et al in 2003, in a totally different study group. The paper described a reduced adiponectin concentration in 15 middle-aged South Asian males compared with BMI-matched Caucasians. These findings raise the possibility that hypoadiponectinaemia may be a main factor contributing to the increased prevalence of diabetes in South Asians (Retnakaran et al, 2004), and further strengthen the notion of ethically determined differences in adiponectin concentration. Hypoadiponectinaemia is consistent with metabolic features associated within this ethnic group. Central obesity is a common feature in South Asians (McKeigue et al, 1991), and a recent study (Cnop et al, 2003) has shown through body fat distribution analysis, that adiponectin correlates with intra-abdominal fat rather than subcutaneous fat. Also, South Asians exhibit lower levels of HDL-cholesterol than Caucasians (Bhopal et al, 2002) and as mentioned above there is an independent positive association between adiponectin levels and HDL-cholesterol. CRP levels have also been noted to be higher in South Asians (Forouhi et al, 2001) and accordingly since adiponectin is inversely correlated to CRP levels, hypoadiponectinaemia could potentially explain the apparent central role of visceral adipose tissue in the relationship between low-grade inflammation and features of the metabolic syndrome in South Asians (Retnakaran et al, 2004). Retnakaran et al showed that the expected inverse relationship between adiponectin and fasting insulin was observed in Caucasians and Asians, but not in the South Asian population studied. A plausible explanation for this is that ethnically determined hypoadiponectinaemia may obscure the relationship between adiponectin and insulin resistance (Retnakaran et al,

2004). Another study (Ferris et al, 2005), which reported reduced adiponectin levels in black South Africans and Asian Indians compared with BMI-matched Caucasians, confirmed these same findings (table 1.2). Within each ethnic group, adiponectin only correlated inversely with HOMA in Caucasian subjects, however when all ethnic groups were combined, multiple regression analysis demonstrated that serum adiponectin levels corrected for BMI and ethnicity did not correlate with HOMA. Therefore the indication from this particular study is that ethnic variation in insulin sensitivity is not dependent on serum levels of adiponectin and that the relationship between adiponectin and insulin resistance varies across ethnic groups (Ferris et al, 2005).





Table 1.2 Demographic and biochemical data for Ferris's Study

Data is expressed as means \pm SD; *p < 0.01 versus Asian subjects, \dagger p < 0.01 versus white subjects.

Variables	Asian	Black	White	
Age (years)	41.5 ± 10.8	36.2 ± 11.3	37.9 ± 9.0	
BMI (kg/m2)	27.3 ±5.0	27.6 ± 5.3	26.2 ± 4.6	
Waist-to-hip ratio	0.86 ±0.09	0.78 ± 0.07*	0.82 ± 0.10*	
Trightcorido (mM)	1 77 1 15	0.02 + 0.75*+	1 24 + 0 99	
	1.// ±1.1J	0.92 ± 0.75	1.34 ± 0.00	
HDL (mM)	1.29 ± 0.29	1.36 ± 0.32	1.41 ± 0.33	
LDL (mM)	3.28 ± 1.06	2.39 ± 0.65*†	3.29 ± 1.05	
Cholesterol (mM)	5.33 + 1.24	4.10 + 0.76*†	5.30 + 1.01	
Adiponectin	5.86 ± 2.50†	5.71 ± 2.50†	8.11 ± 4.39	
(µg/ml)				
НОМА	3.41 ± 2.85†	2.62 ± 0.99†	1.76 ± 0.63	

Abbreviations for table1.2: BMI, Body Mass Index; HDL, High Density Lipoproten; LDL, Low Density Lipoprotein; HOMA, Homeostasis Model Assessment

Ferris et al, 2005 (Horm. Metab. Res.)

1.4 Aims and Objectives of Studies Reported in This Thesis

The aim of the work documented in this thesis was to review literature on, and explore the complex functioning of the adiponectin molecule in human health and disease. There were two specific aims: i) I considered the methodologies behind the collection, processing, measurement and analysis of total and HMW adiponectin to assure that future research into this molecule within our laboratory and elsewhere was robust, and ii) I examined adiponectin's relationship to CVD both in terms of prediction and subsequent outcome following an event.

The role of adiponectin in human health and disease is more complex than originally thought and it may be that the molecule exhibits separate functioning in times of stress within the body and with normal human health. The thesis aims to add insight to this hypothesis.

Chapters three and four focus on Methodological considerations. Many factors other than disease influence the results of tests within a laboratory. These factors may be pre-analytical, analytical or post-analytical (or a combination of these). Whenever possible, these variables should be controlled in order to minimize their effect on test outcome. Pre-analytical variables are variables associated with the patient, sample collection and sample handling. These generally affect the composition of the body fluid **before** analysis. Analytical variables are factors which influence the analytical procedure and post-analytical variables involve the different ways data from the laboratory is presented, stored and transferred to the clinician. This thesis focuses on pre- analytical and analytical variables only.

Chapters five and six report findings from two studies published on work carried out within our laboratory or in collaboration with other local research facilities, where I had a role in assessment and drafting of relevant articles. These chapters focus on the role adiponectin plays in disease. They aim to add insight into the complex functioning of the adiponectin molecule with specific focus in chapter 6 on ways it may express its role through interactions with other molecules that correlate to its levels at different stages in the pathogenesis of heart disease.

Aims of Chapter 3.2 – Effect of Freeze/Thaw Cycles

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of repeated freeze/thaw on the amount of measurable concentrations of adiponectin in a blood sample. This study is important to ensure that samples are not compromised with continual freeze/thaw.

1.4.2 Aims of Chapter 3.3 – Blood Processing

The aim of this study was to determine if leaving bloods un-separated (a) in a fridge/cold room at 7° C and (b) on a bench at room temperature (23° C - 25° C) for up to 6 days after venipuncture would have an effect on measurable concentrations of total adiponectin in EDTA blood samples. This is an important variable to assess because, at times, it is not possible to get bloods from the venue of venipuncture to the laboratory for analysis right away.

1.4.3 Aims of Chapter 3.4 – Biological Variability

The aim of this study was to investigate biological variation of total adiponectin and therefore assess whether total adiponectin levels vary significantly in an individual (human) over the period of 6 weeks. This information will help where a study may dictate a patient/volunteer to give a sample for weekly analysis. It will help to eliminate any variables associated with natural biological change in adiponectin concentrations over time.

1.4.4 Aims of Chapter 4.2 – Measurement of Citrate Samples on a Total Adiponectin ELISA

The aim of this study was to validate samples that have been preserved with citrate anticoagulant for use in a total adiponectin R&D systems ELISA assay (general methods chapter 2.4.1.1).

1.4.5 Aims of Chapter 4.3 – Comparison of Commercial Adiponectin ELISA Assays

The aim of the study was to measure total adiponectin using the ALPCO diagnostics ELISA method, the Mercodia adiponectin ELISA method and the R&D Systems ELISA method on the same set of samples. I wanted to determine whether the results obtained were comparable between methods.

1.4.6 Aims of Chapter 5 - High Molecular Weight Adiponectin and Incident Coronary Heart Disease: Findings from a Prospective Case Control Study Nested within the British Women's Heart and Health Study (BWHHS)

This study was designed to test whether HMW adiponectin (rather than the previously reported total adiponectin from the original BWHHS (Lawlor et al, 2005)) was better associated with risk for incident vascular events in older women. There has been some speculation that the HMW fraction of adiponectin was the more biologically active part of the molecule. This study adds insight to this hypothesis.

1.4.7 Aims of Chapter 6 - Serial Changes in Adiponectin and BNP in ACS Patients: Paradoxical Associations with Each Other and with Prognosis.

The aim of this study was to further investigate the potential pathological link between BNP and adiponectin. By examining the inter-relationship of circulating adiponectin and BNP both at baseline and at a 7 week follow up, the aim was to determine whether change in either parameter was a better predictor of adverse events than a single measurement. Also, changes in concentrations of adiponectin over time were investigated to see if they correlated with changes in BNP over time.

Chapter II: General Methods

2.1 Review of the Literature

PubMed (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/) was used for the purpose of literature searches in this thesis. It is a service of the U.S. National Library of Medicine that includes over 19 million citations from MEDLINE and other life science journals for biomedical articles back to 1948. PubMed includes links to full text articles and other related resources (Pubmed online).

Key word searches were used including: Adiponectin, Adiponectin in: Cardiovascular disease, Diabetes, Insulin sensitivity, Health and disease, Heart Failure, Ischemic Heart disease, Males, Females, Children.

Results were restricted to English language, and for epidemiological studies data were restricted to human subjects as well.

The University of Glasgow library and the departmental book shelf (including books on related topics and past theses) were used to research books on this topic.

2.2 Subject Recruitment and Sample storage

2.2.1 Subject Recruitment

Each study in this thesis comprises a different sample set and for this reason the recruitment of healthy volunteers and patients, venipuncture procedures and sample handling and processing are described in detail in each relevant chapter.

2.2.2 Sample Storage

Accuracy of results is a reflection on the care taken in sample storage.

All samples used in the studies presented in this thesis are of a high quality and the history of the samples is well documented. All samples handled in our own laboratory (Chapters 3+4) are frozen immediately after processing at -80°C and removed and snap thawed (37°C) immediately before assay. Samples handled in multi-centre laboratories (Chapters 5+6) are done so in a standardised manner by professionally trained researchers according to good laboratory practice (GLP)

(http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Inspectionandstandards /GoodLaboratoryPractice/index.htm).

2.3 Materials

Names and addresses of manufacturers and suppliers of kits and reagents, hardware and software used for the studies in this thesis are given in the appendix 1. All kit inserts are available in appendix 3.

2.4 Laboratory Methods

2.4.1 Measurement of Total Adiponectin

2.4.1.1 R&D Systems ELISA Method

Total Adiponectin concentrations were measured using the R & D Systems Quantikine Human Adiponectin/Acrp30 Immunoassay (Catalog Nos DRP300). See the R&D systems kit insert in **appendix 3** for assay instructions. Specific equipment and quality controls used by our laboratory during the analysis on this kit are listed below, as well as methods for the calculation of absorbencies.

SAMPLE

EDTA Plasma was used in this thesis for analysis involving this kit, except where specified, in chapter 4.2 for the validation of citrate plasma and in chapter 4.3, where serum was used for analysis.

EQUIPMENT

- Thermo Lab systems Multiskan Ascent Microplate reader capable of measuring absorbance at 450nm with correction wavelength set at 540nm or 570nm
- Ascent software package
- > Gilson pipettes and pipette tips
- > Thermo-systems Finnpipette (50µl-300µl) multi-channel pipette
- > 500ml graduated cylinder
- > Squeeze bottle
- Electronic timer clock
- > Plastic plate sealers supplied with the kit

QUALITY CONTROL

An internal laboratory quality control (EDTA plasma) was used to make sure the assay was running effectively.

CALCULATION

All calculations were done using the Multiskan Ascent Software Package. Analysis was repeated when results fell out-with the assay range.

2.4.1.2 Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA Method

Total adiponectin concentrations in chapter 4.3 were also measured using the Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA assay 10-1193-01. See the Mercodia kit insert in **appendix 3** for assay instructions. Specific equipment and quality controls used by our laboratory during the analysis on this kit are listed below, as well as methods for the calculation of absorbencies.

SAMPLE

Serum samples were used for all analysis in this thesis with this kit.

EQUIPMENT

- > Fisherbrand Whirlimixer
- > Thermo Denley minimix plate shaker

- Thermo Lab systems Multiskan Ascent microplate reader capable of measuring absorbance at 450nm
- Ascent software package
- Gilson pipettes
- > Thermo-systems Finnpipette (50µl-300µl) multi-channel pipette
- > 1000mL graduated cylinder
- > Squeeze bottle
- Electronic timer clock
- > Gilson repeater pipette and tips
- > Plastic plate sealers supplied with the kit

QUALITY CONTROL

Mercodia Obesity Control A, B, C/Human is designed to be used as a threelevel control for Mercodia adiponectin ELISA. It is manufactured from Human serum. Each Mercodia Obesity Control kit contains 3 vials of lyophilised serum, each containing 0.5 mL after reconstitution.

Ranges: A = 5.5 - 8.5 ug/mL

B = 6 - 11 ug/mL C = 11 - 19 ug/mL

Internal quality controls with low, intermediate and high adiponectin concentrations should be routinely assayed as unknowns, and results charted from day to day.

An internal laboratory quality control (EDTA plasma) was also used on each assay.

CALCULATION

All calculations were done using the Multiskan Ascent Software Package. Analysis was repeated when results fell out-with the assay range.

2.4.2 Measurement of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin

High Molecular Weight adiponectin (and total adiponectin - studies 3.2 and 4.3) concentrations were measured using the American Laboratory Products Company (ALPCO) Diagnostics: Adiponectin (Multimeric) EIA (Catalog Number 47-ADPH-9755). See the ALPCO Diagnostics kit insert in **appendix 3** for assay instructions. Specific equipment and quality controls used by our laboratory

Chapter 2: General Methods

during the analysis on this kit are listed below, as well as methods for the calculation of absorbencies.

SAMPLE

Serum samples were used for analysis in chapters 3.2 and 4.3. EDTA Plasma was used in chapter 5.

EQUIPMENT

- Heating block (temp = 37°C)
- Fisherbrand whirlimixer
- Versamax microplate reader capable of measuring absorbance at 492nm with correction wavelength set at 600-700nm
- > Softmax Pro computer software package for calculations
- roller mixer (to ensure thorough mixing of pre-treatment buffer and protease solutions I and II)
- > Gilson pipettes and pipette tips
- > Thermo-systems Finnpipette (50µl-300µl) multi-channel pipette
- > 1000mL graduated cylinder
- > Squeeze bottle
- Electronic timer clock
- > Gilson Repeater pipette and tips
- > Plastic plate sealers supplied with the kit

QUALITY CONTROL

An internal laboratory quality control (EDTA plasma) was used to make sure the assay was running effectively.

CALCULATION

All calculations were worked out by creating a standard curve using Softmax Pro 3.12 computer software.

2.5 Quality Control

A pooled EDTA plasma sample was used to monitor inter-assay quality control (QC). Blood from 2 healthy volunteers from the Vascular Biochemistry

Chapter 2: General Methods

laboratory was drawn into 9mL EDTA vacutainers (BD Vacutainer Systems: Becton, Dickinson and Company). Blood was separated immediately after venipuncture by spinning (3000rpm at 4°C for 10 mins) in the under-bench centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, GS-6KR) and aliquoting 500µl plasma into apex tubes. These tubes were clearly labelled as controls and immediately frozen at -80°C until required.

For ELISA assays, 2 wells at the end of each assay plate were filled with fresh QC. The mean of the values from these two aliquots was determined and the process repeated over 22 separate runs on R&D systems total adiponectin ELISA assays (Chapter 2.4.1.1) and used to calculate out an inter-assay coefficient of variation (CV). The CV was calculated out to be 6.73 %. This is in line with the published inter-assay precision given in the R&D adiponectin ELISA standard operating procedure (SOP) (appendix 3) where the CV (%) < 7.0. This Quality control was also used to calculate out an intra-assay CV on each run, and this was in each case < 4.5% which is again in line with the recommendations given by R&D systems for the ELISA method, where the intra-assay CV is < 4.7%.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

For all pre-analytical and analytical variables I calculated basic statistics (mean, median, CV, standard deviation (SD)) using an Excel spreadsheet.

For all other more complex statistics (excluding the intra-class correlation coefficients (chapter 3.4)) the website for IFA statistics was used (http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html). Calculations were based on those in the paper by Ernst et al, 1985.

To maintain equivalence throughout the thesis, we assumed non-normal distribution for **all pre-analytical and analytical variable studies (Chapters 3+4)** and used non-parametric tests to carry out statistical evaluation on our data in these studies. The pre-analytical and analytical studies (chapters 3+4) presented in this thesis are not large enough in sample number to assess the true skewedness of the distribution. It is acknowledged that a non-parametric

Chapter 2: General Methods

test with data from a small sample population with a wide range of values may overestimate the significance level. The non-parametric tests may lack statistical power with small sample numbers. However, from the majority of literature reviewed on adiponectin distribution, the results are mostly highly skewed (Sattar et al, 2006; Cavisoglu, 2006) and therefore we have assumed non-normal distribution. The Wilcoxon matched pairs signed ranks test was used in chapters 3.2 - 3.4 and 4.2 - 4.3 to determine significance, and the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was also used in these studies to determine whether there was a preservation in the given order between the two variables.

The Wilcoxon matched pairs signed-rank test is a non-parametric statistical hypothesis test for the case of two related samples or repeated measurements on a single sample. It can be used as an alternative to the paired Student's t-test when the population cannot be assumed to be normally distributed. It should be used whenever the distributional assumptions that underlie the *t*-test cannot be satisfied (median = mean).

The **Spearman's rank correlation coefficient** (ρ) is a non-parametric measure of correlation (wikipedia). It assesses if there is a monotonic relation between two variables.

The **intra-class correlation coefficients** presented in the Biological Variability chapter 3.4, were calculated out on an Excel spreadsheet according to Fleiss (1986). This test is used to determine the optimum number of measurements required for an assay to reduce misclassification of individuals (Poorhang, MSc, 2005). Dr. Paul Welsh offered his expertise and guidance in the calculation of these values.

In the clinical studies chapters 5+6, where sample numbers were much larger, distribution was tested for and where appropriate, values were log-transformed to follow normal distribution.

Chapter III: Methodological Considerations -Effects of Pre-Analytical Variables on Measurements of Adiponectin

3.1 Introduction to pre-analytical variables

Many variables can affect the results obtained from analysis of blood samples in both the clinic and laboratory environment. Pre-analytical variables are those variables that may affect sample viability <u>before</u> it is analysed. These include season, diet, time of day, stress, and physical activity of the patient, as well as encompassing technical aspects of blood collection such as venipuncture technique, anticoagulation, processing, and storage of blood samples (Welsh, PhD, 2008).

The ELISA method for determination of adiponectin has become an increasingly popular and accurate way of measuring levels of adiponectin in human blood. It is cost effective and easy to perform, with samples being analysed and results being obtained on the same day. However, before one can use the results obtained from this method in proposing new thoughts on the molecule's functioning in the body, we have to be sure the results obtained are not tainted with potential confounders before analysis. Therefore it is essential to understand the steps that must be taken in order to maintain a high standard of sample quality.

Due to time constraints it was not possible to investigate all potential confounding pre-analytical factors, however from the series of studies presented in this chapter the aim is to show that adiponectin results presented in the clinical/epidemiological study chapters of this thesis can be validated accordingly.

This chapter investigates

- Freeze/thaw cycles and the effects this stress may have on measurable concentrations of adiponectin in a sample.
- The effect of time taken between venipuncture and separation and the temperature a sample may be subjected to during processing and before freezing.
- > Biological variability in study samples within our laboratory.

3.2 Effect of Repeated Freeze/Thaw on Adiponectin Levels in Human Blood Samples

3.2.1 Introduction

Large study cohorts often require several analytes to be measured on their limited sample volumes (often only 1 aliquot is available for analysis), and so it is not always possible to do all the tests on the first sample defrost. Some assays can take 1-2 days to complete and for this reason it may be necessary to repeatedly thaw and refreeze the samples on several occasions to allow all measurements to be completed. Some peer reviewed studies suggest both total adiponectin and HMW adiponectin to be fairly robust, and showed that up to five freeze/thaw cycles had no effect on the measurable concentrations in plasma (Schraw et al, 2008; Tanita et al, 2008). The robustness of this molecule may reflect the reason behind the use of ELISA assays in many epidemiological studies; ELISA antibody detection only requires the antigenic site to be intact, rather than the marker show biological activity (Welsh, PhD, 2008). In this study we address the issue of whether this repeated freeze/thaw compromises the measureable concentrations of adiponectin in the plasma.

3.2.2 Principle

The aim was to investigate the effect of repeated freeze/thaw on the amount of measurable adiponectin in a sample. We also aim to investigate if measurable concentrations of adiponectin maintain rank correlation with freeze thaw cycles.

A pilot study was first of all set up examining the effect of 7 freeze/thaw cycles on total and HMW adiponectin levels in 5 **serum** samples from the Reykjavik³ cohort. After this data was analysed, a larger study group of 13

³ Aims to examine risk factors for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. It is a long-term, prospective, population-based cohort study that started in 1967. Methods and results from 1987 to 1996, 137 men and 44 women out of the 8006 men and 9435 women in the study sustained out-of-hospital cardiac arrest due to cardiac causes.

people was used to study the effects of 5 freeze/thaw cycles on total adiponectin levels in **plasma** samples.

3.2.3 Pilot Study (Reykjavik cohort)

3.2.3.1 Pilot Study Subjects and Methods

Blood collection, storage and analysis

The Reykjavik Study, initiated in 1967 as a prospective study of cardiovascular disease, has been described elsewhere previously (Danesh et al, 2004). A total of 8888 men born between 1907 and 1934 and 9681 women born between 1908 and 1935 who were residents of Reykjavik, Iceland, and its adjacent communities on December 1, 1966 were enrolled in the study. All participants had no previous history of myocardial infarction. 9 nurses administered questionnaires, made physical measurements, performed spirometry and electrocardiography, and collected venous blood samples after an overnight fast for the measurement of the erythrocyte sedimentation rate and to prepare aliquots of serum, which were stored at -20°C for subsequent analysis. A set of 5 samples randomly selected from this cohort were used to test the effect of freeze/thaw on the measurable concentrations of adiponectin in serum samples. The Reykjavik samples had previously been defrosted twice for use in the original Reykjavik study. Five samples from the cohort were randomly selected and 250µl from each was aliguoted into a separate apex tube. These apex tubes were labelled with sample ID, date and control, and subsequently frozen at -80°C.

Over the next four consecutive days the original serum sample from the cohort was defrosted at room temperature and refrozen. After the final defrost on the 5th day an aliquot from each serum sample was removed into an apex tube, labelled with freeze/thaw aliquot and stored at -80°C for analysis. At the end of the pilot study defrosts, and including the previous defrosts from the original Reykjavik Study, these samples had undergone a total of seven defrosts.

At the time of analysis, the apex tubes were removed from the freezer and snap thawed at 37°C. HMW adiponectin and total adiponectin concentrations

were measured on all serum samples using the ALPCO Diagnostics Adiponectin ELISA kit (General Methods 2.4.2). The original control samples along with the freeze/thaw aliquots from this study were tested on the same plate, thus avoiding any inter-assay variation. All available data was analysed.

Statistical analysis

Means, Medians, 25^{th} percentiles and 75^{th} percentiles (Inter quartile ranges (IQR)) were calculated using an Excel spreadsheet. Dr. Paul Welsh advised on statistical analysis. The Wilcoxon Matched-Pairs Signed-Ranks Test was used to establish p-values and the Spearman's rank Correlation Test was used to establish p-values. (Chapter 2, General Methods). The website for IFA statistics was used for these tests

(http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html). Calculations were based on the book by Fleiss in 1986.
3.2.3.2 Results

Results for this pilot study are summarized in tables 3.1 -3.3

Tables 3.1 (Total adiponectin) and **3.2** (HMW adiponectin) summarise the effects of freeze/thaw on the 5 pilot study samples from the Reykjavik cohort. Medians, 25th percentiles and 75th percentiles are tabulated for both the baseline samples/control samples (2 defrosts) as well as for the samples after they were subjected to an additional 5 defrosts.

Table 3.3 shows the p-values and correlation coefficients obtained from the data. Because the sample size was so small it was hard to assess whether the data was skewed, so a non-normal distribution was assumed and the Wilcoxon Matched-Pairs Signed-Ranks Test was used. P-values obtained were non-significant. The Spearman's rank correlation was used to calculate ρ -values and these show a good correlation between the baseline and the freeze/thawed samples. The HMW adiponectin value was borderline significant for this test (p<=0.08).

Figure 3.1 (total adiponectin) and 3.2 (HMW adiponectin) show measured levels at baseline and after the freeze/thaw cycles.

Table 3.1: Summary of the Data for Total Adiponectin Concentrations at Baseline and After the Freeze/thaw Cycles on the 5 Pilot Study Reykjavik Samples.

Time point	Median and IQR (µg/mL) of 5 samples
	8.11
Baseline	IQR (8.0 – 11.02)
After 7 freeze/thaw cycles	7.78
	IQR (7.03 – 8.26)

Abbreviations for Table 3.1: IQR, Inter-quartile range.

Table 3.2:Summary of the Data for HMW Adiponectin Concentrations atBaseline and After the Freeze/thaw Cycles on the 5 pilot Study ReykjavikSamples.

Time point	Median and IQR (µg/mL) of 5 samples
Baseline	5.53 IQR
	(3.62 - 6.01)
After 7 freeze/thaw cycles	5.94
	IQR (4.70 - 6.15)

Abbreviations for Table 3.2: IQR, Inter-quartile range.

Table 3.3: P-values and Spearman's Rank Correlation Coefficients for Baseline vs. Freeze/thaw Sample for Both Total and HMW Adiponectin Concentrations

	Total adiponectin	HMW adiponectin
Wilcoxon matched- pairs signed-ranks test	p = 0.06	p = 0.44
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ = 1, p = 0.02	ρ = 0.9, p = 0.08





3.2.3.3 Discussion of pilot study

There was no significant change in concentrations of adiponectin after 7 freeze thaw cycles (p = 0.06, total adiponectin; p = 0.44, HMW adiponectin) and these samples appear to show very good correlations with the control/baseline samples ρ = 1, total adiponectin; ρ = 0.9, HMW adiponectin). Our results suggest that both total and HMW adiponectin are therefore stable for up to seven freeze thaw cycles and these findings corroborate with a recent study (Tanita et al, 2008) which found that up to five freeze/thaw cycles had no significant influence on the measurable concentrations of HMW adiponectin in serum samples.

However these results must be taken in earnest as we must still bear in mind that the sample set was small and that larger studies are needed to corroborate our result. Small data sets can present a dilemma; it is difficult to tell if the data come from a normally distributed population. The non-parametric tests are less powerful and the parametric tests are less robust within smaller data sets. This fact may attribute to the borderline significant p value that was obtained for the HMW adiponectin samples. It is not common practice to attribute great belief in a result which has been drawn from a small sample set and so I acknowledge that a larger sample set may provide more insight into this variable and should be pursued.

Limitations of the study

One of the major limitations with a small study sample set is the fact that one cannot determine whether the data is normally distributed and therefore statistical analysis has less impact in terms of parametric associations. In recent published literature (Sattar et al, 2008; McEntegart, 2007) adiponectin results are generally skewed and so for the statistical analysis in this study we have assumed a non-normal distribution, and used non-parametric tests on the raw data. Also, in this study, analysis was only carried out on the baseline sample and the sample after it had undergone 7 freeze/thaw cycles. Concentrations were not measured after each thaw. This was because it was a

Chapter 3: Pre-Analytical Variables

pilot study and was set up merely to assess if there was a potential for samples to deteriorate under this stress.

By defrosting a larger sample set (n = 13) each day for five consecutive days and storing an aliquot from each defrost, we can determine better if there is any compromise in the concentrations of adiponectin in the sample, and if so, at which point the sample starts to deteriorate.

3.2.4 Effects of freeze/thaw on measurable concentrations of total adiponectin in a larger study group (n=13)

3.2.4.1 Study subjects and methods

Blood collection, storage and analysis

13 healthy volunteers, 9 female and 4 male (age 26 - 58 yrs), for this study were obtained from the Vascular Biochemistry laboratory at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary. Volunteers in the study signed an informed consent form (Appendix) giving permission for a trained phlebotomist to take blood. They were also informed that their bloods would be used for research purposes and stored on the 4th Floor of the Queen Elizabeth building at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary. At the time of bleeding, 1 x 9mL EDTA vacutainer (BD Vacutainer Systems: Becton, Dickinson and Company) was taken from these volunteers by a trained phlebotomist. The volunteers were not fasted. After venipuncture the blood samples were centrifuged (3000rpm, at 4°C, for 10 mins) in the under bench centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, GS-6KR) within 30 mins. The separated plasma was aliquoted into blue eppendorf tubes (2 x 1.5mL). These tubes were clearly labelled with sample ID, date, time of venipuncture and name of study. One of the eppendorfs per volunteer was used as the baseline/control sample and stored at -80°C, while the other was removed and snap-thawed each day at 37°C over 5 consecutive days. On each day an aliquot was taken from the sample and stored as 1st thaw, 2nd thaw, 3rd thaw, 4th thaw and 5th thaw consecutively. The samples were then kept stored at -80°C until analysis could be carried out. On the day of analysis the samples were snap thawed at 37°C. The samples were tested for total adiponectin using the R&D Systems ELISA method (General Methods Section 2.4.1.1). All samples were measured on the same assay plate in order to avoid inter-assay variation. Due to financial constraints HMW adiponectin was not tested for on this sample set. All available data was analysed.

Statistical analysis

Medians, 25th percentiles and 75th percentiles were calculated using an Excel spreadsheet. Dr. Paul Welsh advised on statistical analysis. The Wilcoxon Matched-Pairs Signed-Ranks Test was used to establish p-values and the Spearman's rank Correlation Test was used to establish ρ -values (Chapter 2, General Methods). The website for IFA statistics was used for this test (http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html). Calculations were based on the book by Fleiss in 1986.

3.2.4.2 Results

Results for this study are summarized in tables 3.4 and 3.5.

Table 3.4 shows Medians, 25% IQR's, and 75% IQR's for total adiponectin concentrations at the 6 time points for all 13 volunteers. As can be seen from the table values, the median remains roughly the same throughout the 5 freeze/thaw cycles.

Table 3.5 summarises p- values and ρ - values over the 5 freeze/thaw cycles. Rank correlation is maintained throughout the 5 cycles and there was no significant change between baseline values and those obtained at thaw 1, 3, 4 and 5. Baseline values compared to thaw 2 values show a significant change, however rank order is still maintained on this thaw.

Figure 3.3 graphically shows the total adiponectin median levels over the five freeze/thaw cycles.

Table 3.4: Summary of Data for Total Adiponectin Over the 5 Freeze/thaw Cycles.

	Baseline	1 st Thaw	2 nd Thaw	3 rd Thaw	4 th Thaw	5 th Thaw
Adiponectin Median and IQR for 13 samples (µg/mL)	10.21 (IQR) 6.57 – 11.84	10.74 (IQR) 6.73 – 14.40	10.50 (IQR) 7.72 – 14.04	10.12 (IQR) 7.30 – 13.05	10.89 (IQR) 7.38 – 11.89	9.66 (IQR) 7.41 – 13.39

Abbreviations for Table 3.2.4: IQR, Inter-quartile range.

Table 3.5: P-values and Spearman's Rank Correlations for TotalAdiponectin Measurements Over the 5 Freeze/thaw Cycles.

	Baseline vs. 1 st Thaw	Baseline vs. 2 nd Thaw	Baseline vs. 3 rd Thaw	Baseline vs. 4 th Thaw	Baseline vs. 5 th Thaw
Wilcoxon matched- pairs signed- ranks test	p = 0.50	p = 0.01	p = 0.95	p = 0.45	p = 0.96
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ = 0.89	ρ = 0.98	ρ = 0.98	ρ = 0.95	ρ = 0.99



3.2.4.3 Discussion

The manufacturers (R&D systems, ALPCO Diagnostics) of the assay kits used in this study recommend avoidance of repeated freeze/thaw cycles but if plasma samples need to frozen before analysis and thawed again, they should be done so speedily after venipuncture and snap-thawed at 37°C to avoid denaturation of protein in the sample. Manufacturers do not always specify the number of thaws the sample will be stable to on the particular assay.

This study shows that up to five freeze thaw cycles has no significant effect on the concentrations of total adiponectin in human plasma. Figure 3.3 illustrates that median levels of total adiponectin do not change significantly over the five freeze thaw cycles.

It must be highlighted that the comparison between the baseline samples and the samples at the 2^{nd} thaw showed a significant change (p = 0.01) (table 3.5), however the correlation remained strong. Therefore it can be concluded that although there may be a statistically significant change in the values at thaw 2, all samples in the set still maintained rank order and therefore correlate accordingly to the values at baseline.

I conclude from the results presented here that total adiponectin is suitable to be used in large epidemiological studies where several freeze thaw cycles are required before analysis. More data is required using a larger population to confirm and further expand on these findings.

3.3 Blood Sample Processing

3.3.1 Introduction

Both in routine and research laboratories, it is not always possible to analyse blood samples right away, and sometimes samples can sit on a bench or in a fridge for some time before being centrifuged, separated and analysed or frozen for storage, especially during busy times. Also, blood samples can be sent by post or transferred from doctors or nurses practices' and these are not always delivered the same day. Under good laboratory practice, blood samples should be centrifuged for separation within 30 minutes of venipuncture, however this is not always possible i.e. when you are not taking blood in the vicinity of a laboratory. It is common practice for some tests to keep blood bottles refrigerated or on ice if they cannot be centrifuged and separated right away. This minimizes breakdown of specific molecules in the blood. This section of chapter 3 investigates whether measurable concentrations of adiponectin deteriorate in blood samples that have been left as whole blood on a bench between 23°C - 25°C or in a fridge between 4 -8°C for up to 6 days. This study allowed assessment of the robustness of adiponectin to differing modes of sample collection.

3.3.2 Principle

The aim of this study was to determine if leaving bloods un-separated (a) in a fridge/cold room (between 4-8°C) and (b) on a bench at room temperature $(23^{\circ}C - 25^{\circ}C)$ for up to 6 days after venipuncture would have an effect on measurable concentrations of total adiponectin in EDTA blood samples.

3.3.3 Study Subjects and Methods

Blood collection, storage and analysis

13 healthy volunteers, 8 female and 5 male (age 26 - 58 yrs), from the Vascular Biochemistry laboratory at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary were recruited to take part in the Fridge study and 10 people, 6 female and 4 male (age 26 - 58 yrs), from the same laboratory were recruited to take part in the Bench study (3 people were unable to be bled for all 6 tubes). Volunteers in the study signed an informed consent form (Appendix 5) giving permission for a trained phlebotomist to take blood. They were also informed that their bloods would be used for research purposes and stored on the 4th Floor of the Queen Elizabeth building at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary. On the day of venipuncture six 9mL EDTA vacutainers (BD Vacutainer Systems: Becton, Dickinson and Company) were collected from each volunteer. Not all of the volunteers were fasted. All samples were labelled with the sample ID, time and date of venipuncture, the study name (either Bench or Fridge study), and the time point (e.g. baseline, 2 days, 6 days). The cold room in our laboratory was kept between $4^{\circ}C - 8^{\circ}C$ for the duration of this study and the bench laboratory temperature ranged between 23°C - 25°C.





Chapter 3: Pre-Analytical Variables

For each volunteer where possible two of the samples were stored in the refrigerator in a safe place between $4-8\degree$ C, two of the samples were stored on the bench at room temperature (23°C - 25°C) and the other two tubes of EDTA blood were spun and the plasma separated immediately after venipuncture (3000rpm at 4°C for 10 mins) in the under bench centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, GS-6KR). The plasma was immediately aliquoted into eppendorf tubes (red eppendorfs for the bench study and green eppendorfs for the fridge study) (Figure 3.3). These plasma samples were labelled Bench study baseline and Fridge study baseline respectively and stored in a -80°C freezer. Two days after venipuncture another two EDTA blood tubes (one from the fridge and the other from the bench) for each volunteer were centrifuged and the plasma was aliquoted into labelled eppendorfs (volunteer ID, appropriate study name, 2 day sample) and stored alongside the baseline plasma samples in the -80°C freezer. Finally six days after venipuncture, the last EDTA blood tubes from each volunteer (1 from the fridge and the other from the bench-top) were centrifuged and aliquoted into labelled eppendorfs (volunteer ID, study name, 6 day sample) to be stored alongside the other two samples in the -80°C freezer. All three samples per person in each study were tested for total adiponectin concentrations using an R&D Systems Adiponectin ELISA kit (General Methods Section 2.4.1.1). All available data was analysed.

Statistical Analysis

Medians, 25th percentiles and 75th percentiles were calculated using an Excel spreadsheet. Dr. Paul Welsh advised on calculating out P- values and correlation coefficients. The Wilcoxon Matched-Pairs Signed-Ranks Test (Chapter 2) was used to establish p-values and the Spearman's rank Correlation Test (Chapter 2) was used to establish ρ -values. The website for IFA statistics was used for these tests (http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html). Calculations were based on the book by Fleiss in 1986.

3.3.4 Results

Results from this study are summarised in tables 3.6 - 3.9

Table 3.6 shows medians, and IQR's for the data obtained during the Fridge (between $4-8^{\circ}$ C) and Bench (25°C) studies.

Table 3.7 summarises statistical analysis from the Fridge study where samples were left un-separated as whole blood for up to 6 days at 7 °C in a cold room before being processed. Comparisons between the baseline samples and those blood samples that were processed after being left for 2 days (48hrs) and 6 days (144hrs) in the fridge show no significant change in measurable concentrations of total adiponectin (p= 0.54 and p=1 respectively). There exists a significant correlation (ρ = 0.87, ρ < 0.0001 (48hrs); ρ = 0.91, ρ < 0.0001 (144hrs)) between the baseline sample values and the values obtained from samples that were left un-spun as whole blood for 2 days and 6 days in the fridge.

Table 3.8 summarises statistical analysis from the Bench study where samples were left un-separated as whole blood for up to 6 days on the bench-top between 23°C-25°C before being processed. Comparisons between the baseline samples and those blood samples that were processed after being left for 2 days (48hrs) and 6 days (144hrs) on the bench-top show no

significant change in concentrations of total adiponectin (p=0.77 for both time points). The 48 hour and 144 hour samples show a good correlation to the baseline samples (ρ = 0.95, p < 0.0001 for both time points).

Table 3.9 illustrates that there was no significant difference in measurable concentrations of total adiponectin in EDTA blood samples when left between 4-8°C or at 25°C and this trend was carried through for both 2 day old samples as well as those processed after 6 days (p<=1, 2 day samples; p<= 0.16, 6 day samples). Results obtained from samples left on the bench-top at 23°C-25°C correlate well with results from samples left in the fridge between 4-8°C at both time points (ρ = 0.90, 48hr samples; ρ = 0.92, 144hr samples, p<=0.0008).

Figure 3.5 shows total adiponectin values in each subject at each time point (baseline, 48 hours and 144 hours) from the Fridge and Bench studies.

Table 3.6: Blood Sample Processing Results for Total Adiponectin

Means and SD's for all subjects

	Median (µg/mL)
Baseline (Ohr)	9.92 IQR (5.93-12.98)
Fridge 2 days after venipuncture (48hr at fridge temp.)	9.77 IQR (7.82-11.04)
Fridge 6 days after venipuncture (144hr at fridge temp.)	9.41 IQR (6.22-12.05)
Bench 2 days after venipuncture (48hr at bench temp.)	8.75 IQR (5.01- 11.86)
Bench 6 days after venipuncture (144hr at bench temp.)	8.60 IQR (4.18-11.03)

Abbreviations for table 3.6: IQR, Inter-quartile range.

Table 3.7: Summary of Data	From the Fridge	Study Where Blood Samples
Were Left Between 4-8°C for	2 and 6 Days Un	-separated as Whole Blood

	Baseline vs. 2days after venipuncture	Baseline vs. 6days after venipuncture
Wilcoxon matched- pairs signed-ranks test	p = 0.54	p = 0.99
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ = 0.87, p < 0.0001	ρ= 0.91, p < 0.0001

Table 3.8: Summary of Data From the Bench Study Where Blood Samples Were Left at Room Temperature (23°C - 25°C) for 2 Days and 6 Days Unseparated as Whole Blood

	Baseline vs. 2days after venipuncture	Baseline vs. 6days after venipuncture
Wilcoxon matched- pairs signed-ranks test	p = 0.77	p = 0.77
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ= 0.95, p < 0.0001	ρ= 0.95, p < 0.0001

Table 3.9: Comparison Between Data From the Bench Study With Data From the Fridge Study

	Bench vs. Fridge (2 days after venipuncture)	Bench vs. Fridge (6 days after venipuncture)
Wilcoxon matched- pairs signed-ranks test	p = 0.99	p = 0.16
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ= 0.90, p < 0.0001	ρ= 0.92, p < 0.0001



3.3.5 Discussion

Our findings show that blood samples left un-spun as whole blood in the fridge between $4-8^{\circ}$ C and on the bench at 23° C -25° C for up to 6 days are still viable for total adiponectin analysis and show no deterioration in this variable (table 3.7 and 3.8).

Importantly, when the Bench Study values were compared with the Fridge Study values for each time point (table 3.9), there was no significant change in the values and a good significant correlation between the data sets was obtained.

The results presented here found that measurable concentrations of total adiponectin were not significantly different in those specimens analysed after 48 hours or 144 hours compared with those that were processed immediately (p = 0.99) (table 3.9). These findings are in line with those reported by Pischon et al in 2003, where their findings report no significant change in adiponectin levels in 6 male and 6 female EDTA plasma samples when processed up to 36 hours after venipuncture (gender adjusted).

The findings here also extend to show that temperature did not seem to have an effect on measurable concentrations of adiponectin in these un-separated blood samples for up to 6 days.

3.4 Biological Variability

3.4.1 Introduction

Measurements of laboratory analytes for individuals are subject to many sources of variation. These include biological variation, pre-analytical variation (specimen collection), analytical variation (bias and imprecision), and post-analytical variation (reporting of results). Biological variation, the natural fluctuation of body fluid constituents around the homeostatic setting point, has two components: within and between-subject variation (Ricos et al, 2000). These components of biological variation are used to set analytical quality specifications for bias and imprecision, evaluate serial changes in individual analytes, and assess the clinical utility of population-based reference intervals (Lacher et al, 2005). Concentrations of a molecule in the blood can vary over the time of day, between seasons, can depend on whether the sample is fasted or non-fasted or can vary over a period much longer than a day depending on the activity of the subject. Sometimes variation in circulating concentrations of molecules can be caused by predictable external factors. These include eating patterns, activity and seasonal weather changes, thus allowing prediction of biological variation at a population level (Welsh, PhD, 2008). However it is those less predictable fluctuations that may be of more use in epidemiological studies, because they may provide insight into the usefulness of the molecule to predict disease. These include response to clinical infection, medication or as a response to rises in any other risk markers of disease. It is important to take biological variation into account when looking at risk associations in study cohorts. The same blood sample for each volunteer should be used to analyse all risk markers that can be measured using that type of sample. This will rule out potential fluctuating concentrations of variables in the blood that may confound the results if measured using different aliquots from the same subject.

In 1985, Ernst et al conducted a study involving 15 males and 10 females with a mean age of 23 \pm 2. This study aimed to investigate intra-person variability over time. Blood was taken from the subjects on 4 separate occasions at

Chapter 3: Pre-Analytical Variables

intervals of 7 ± 2 days. They assayed samples for plasma viscosity, hematocrit, red blood cell aggregation, red cell filterability and leukocyte count. After analysis they used the mean of the CVs and methodological CVs to calculate out the biological CV using the formula listed in methods below. Their results state that biological variation tends to be larger than methodological variation.

There is limited literature pertaining to the biological variation of adiponectin over time. In 2003, Pischon et al published a short technical brief on the stability of adiponectin in plasma samples and it's within person variation over one year. The pilot study to test for the 1 year reproducibility of adiponectin employed 300 randomly selected men from the previously mentioned (Chapter 1) Health Professional Follow up Study (HPFS) (Pischon et al, 2004). They included additional samples to assess the intra assay variation and found a CV of 20% (n=2). They adjusted their results for BMI, and found no significant difference (p=0.09) in adiponectin concentrations taken 1 year apart, but showed a high degree of reproducibility (intra-class correlation coefficient, 0.84, 95% Confidence Interval, 0.65-0.94). Therefore, they concluded by suggesting that a single measurement of adiponectin may be sufficient for risk assessment in epidemiological studies.

In a recently reported biological variation investigation, HDL-C was reported to have a dilution regression ration of 0.71 (The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, 2009). Since adiponectin has known associations with HDL-C, it is important to investigate whether the concentrations of this molecule fluctuate significantly.

3.4.2 Principle

The aim of this study was to investigate biological variation of total adiponectin by assessing whether total adiponectin levels vary significantly in an individual over the period of 6 weeks. This will allow us to determine if a single measurement of total adiponectin is sufficient for use in epidemiological studies.

3.4.3 Study Subjects and Methods

Blood collection, storage and analysis

9 volunteers, 8 women and 1 male (26 - 58 yrs), from the Vascular Biochemistry laboratory at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary were recruited for this study. Participants in the study signed an informed consent form (Appendix 5) giving permission for a trained phlebotomist to take blood. They were also informed that their bloods would be used for research purposes and stored on the 4th Floor of the Queen Elizabeth building at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary. None of the volunteers were smokers. One 9mL EDTA vacutainer (BD Vacutainer Systems: Becton, Dickinson and Company) was taken off each volunteer at the same time, on the same day each week, for six consecutive weeks. Volunteers were in the same fed state each week. Fasted samples are demarcated with an asterisk in table 3.12 below. After venipuncture the blood samples were centrifuged (3000rpm, 4°C, 10 mins.) within 30 min. in an under-bench centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, GS-6KR). Plasma was separated and aliquoted into eppendorf tubes $(2 \times 1.5 \text{ mL})$, using plastic pastettes. The eppendorf tubes were clearly labelled with sample ID, name of study and week, date and time of venipuncture. The plasma was then stored in the -80°C freezer until analysis could be carried out. On the day of analysis all samples were snap-thawed at 37°C, and all six samples per person were assayed on the same ELISA plate, to minimise inter-assay variation of results. Samples were analysed on the first defrost using the R&D Systems ELISA method (General Methods section 2.4.1.1). All available data was analysed.

Chapter 3: Pre-Analytical Variables

Statistical analysis

Medians, SDs and CVs were calculated using an Excel spreadsheet.

The laboratory intra-assay variability (**table 3.10**) was quantified by running pooled EDTA plasma (from healthy volunteers) on an R&D systems ELISA assay (General Methods section 2.4.1.1). Three dilutions from the same plasma sample were prepared according to the R&D ELISA SOP and run 8 times on the same assay, thereby yielding 24 results in all. The means, standard deviations (SD's) and CVs from each dilution are calculated and tabulated below. The mean of the CVs was calculated using excel and used as the intra-assay CV in this study.

Laboratory inter-assay variability (table 3.11) was also quantified. As previously explained in chapter 2, this was done by running the same EDTA pooled plasma mentioned above, on 22 separate R&D systems total adiponectin ELISA assays (General Methods section 2.4.1.1) in duplicate. Means were calculated for each assay and then the mean of these means and standard deviations were used to calculate out a CV. As expected the interassay CV was higher than the intra-assay CV.

Total within person variation (Total CV) is the combined effect of biological CV and methodological CV (intra-assay CV), the latter being a constant value. Biological CV is therefore calculated using the following equation:

Biological CV = <u>Total CV-Methodological CV</u> 1-Total CV

(Ersnt et al, 1985)

(Refer to appendix 2 for full calculation)

Dr. Paul Welsh advised on statistical analysis. The Spearman's rank correlation test (Chapter 2, General Methods) was used to compare the concentrations of adiponectin taken at baseline to those taken in week 3, and then again comparing the baseline concentrations with those from week 6 (Table 3.14). Subject EM was unable to complete the study and so comparisons for baseline/week 6 use data from only 8 samples for calculation purposes. The website for IFA statistics was used for these tests (http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html). Calculations were based on those in the paper by Ernst et al, 1985.

The intra-class correlation coefficients (Chapter 2, General Methods) were calculated out according to the book on "the design and analysis of clinical experiments" by Fleiss, 1986, using an excel spreadsheet. I received guidance from Dr. Paul Welsh when performing these tests.

Sample	n	Mean (µg/mL)	SD	CV (%)
A	8	14.50	0.65	4.50
В	8	15.56	0.44	2.85
C	8	17.06	0.83	4.86

Table 3.10: Laboratory Intra-Assay Variability

Abbreviations for Table 3.10: SD, Standard deviation; CV, coefficient of variation.

For the calculation of biological CV, using the equation on the previous page,

the mean of these CVs was used as the methodological CV.

This was calculated on an excel spreadsheet as 4.07 %.

See appendix for full calculation.

Table 3.11. Laboratory Inter-Assay Variability

	n	mean	SD	CV (%)
Adiponectin (µg/mL)	22	15.64	1.05	6.73

Abbreviations for Table 3.11: SD, Standard deviation; CV, coefficient of variation.

3.4.4 Results

The effects of short term biological variation on adiponectin concentrations in plasma are summarised in **Tables 3.12 - 3.15** Blood samples were taken from 9 healthy volunteers and there were 50 time points in total. Subjects DB and EM were unable to give all 6 time points. All available data was analysed.

Table 3.12 shows the medians, 25th percentiles and 75th percentiles from six weeks of results in all 9 volunteers.

Table 3.13 shows the total variability in the 9 volunteers that took part in the study. Total CV comprises both a methodological CV and biological CV component and these have been calculated out accordingly using the formula above and tabulated. As expected the biological CV was greater than the methodological CV, and the mean of intra person means falls within the normal range adiponectin concentration value for healthy individuals (0.5-30 ug/mL) (Magkos et al, 2007).

As we can see from the Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficients reported in **table 3.14**, total adiponectin concentrations correlate with one another throughout the six weeks.

Table 3.15 summarises the intra-class correlation coefficient and 95% confidence intervals for reliability measurements. The intra-class correlation coefficient is (0.99, 95% CI: 0.98 - 1.00).

Figure 3.6 shows changes in adiponectin concentrations in all subjects over six weeks.

Table 3.12: Intra Person Medians (and IQR) of Weekly Measurements ofAdiponectin. Results Obtained from 50 Observations From 9 People(Subjects DB and EM Were Unable to Give all 6 Time Points.

	Median (µg/mL)		
DB*	13.28		
	IQR (13.20 - 13.63)		
PW*	9.93		
	IQR (8.84 - 11.52)		
LC	15.45		
	IQR (14.74 - 17.21)		
MC	9.11		
	IQR (8.69 - 9.95)		
KU	6.64		
	IQR (5.84 -7.06)		
PS*	1.10		
	IQR (1.05 - 1.07)		
EM	11.59		
	IQR (10.96-12.06)		
FC	10.70		
	IQR (10.18-11.11)		
GS	5.78		
	IQR (5.39-6.12)		

Abbreviations for Table 3.12: CV, coefficient of variation; IQR, Inter-quartile range.

Table 3.13: Total CV and the Relative Proportions That are Methodological (Intra-Assay) or Biological in Origin.

Results obtained from 50 observations from 9 people (subjects DB and EM were unable to give all 6 time points; refer to appendix for full table of results).

Measured Protein	Mean of intra- person means	Mean of intra- person SD's	Mean of intra- person CV's (%)	Methodological CV %	Biological CV %
Adiponectin(µg/mL)	9.37	1.21	12.90	4.07	10.14

Abbreviations for Table 3.13: SD, Standard deviation; CV, coefficient of variation.

Table 3.14: Spearman's Rank Correlations From the Comparison ofAdiponectin Concentrations at Week 1 With Week 3 and Week 1 with Week6.

Data Compared	Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	
Baseline with week 3	ρ = 0.78, p <= 0.02	
Baseline with week 6	ρ= 0.85, p <= 0.01	

Table 3.15: Intra-Class Correlation Coefficients For Reliability Measurements in Short Term Variation.

	Intra-class correlation coefficient (95% CI)	n required measurements for 75% reliability nrep (95% CI)	n required measurements for 90% reliability nrep (95% CI)
Adiponectin	0.99 (0.98 - 1.00)	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)

Abbreviations for Table 3.15: CI, Confidence Interval; nrep, number of required repeat measurements.



3.4.5 Discussion

It is important to consider the background biological variation in prospective studies. A single assessment of a biochemical indicator may be prone to short-term variation and can lead to under-estimation of risk association (Pischon et al, 2003). The danger of misclassifying an individual into a particular risk category, be it high, intermediate or low, increases with a decrease in reproducibility of a marker, therefore damagingly impacting on the usefulness of the marker as a clinical tool (Welsh, PhD, 2008).

In this study the intra-assay CV (4.07%), is in line with that given by industrial kit parameters (2.5 - 4.7%, R&D systems ELISA; <=3.0, Mercodia and 5.4%, ALPCO Diagnostics ELISA). Although, the mean intra person CV was relatively high (12.9%), the biological component of this was fairly low (10.14%) as compared to some of the inflammatory cytokines (55.7%, CRP and 50.1%, IL-6) (Welsh, PhD, 2008), suggesting adiponectin is fairly stable in healthy volunteers. Interestingly, taking into account the known positive correlations adiponectin has with HDL cholesterol, a meta-analysis of 30 studies published from 1970-1992 yielded estimates of biological CV of 7.4% for HDL cholesterol (Smith et al, 1993). Therefore our findings from this small study are broadly consistent with known percentages of variability in established risk markers (e.g. HDL-C) that display robust correlations with adiponectin.

The good correlations that this study reports between baseline and week 3 ($\rho = 0.78$) and between baseline and week 6 ($\rho = 0.85$) suggests that intraindividual adiponectin concentrations are fairly stable over short term periods (up to 6 weeks) (table 3.14). Also, the intra-class correlation coefficient (0.99, 95% CI: 0.98 - 1.00) (table 3.15) in this study shows that total adiponectin has a high degree of reproducibility and these findings, that a single measurement of adiponectin concentration is sufficient for risk assessment in epidemiological studies. These findings are in line with those from the 2003 study by Pischon et al.

Figure 3.5 shows no linear trend between mean adiponectin concentrations and CV. Therefore CV appears to be independent of the plasma level of adiponectin. Larger studies would give a more accurate depiction of this relationship, but at face value, these data are reassuring as they suggest the adiponectin assay performs well across a range of values.

Limitations of the study

There were a few limitations to the study that merit discussion. The 50 samples analysed were not all in the same fed or fasted state. Only 3 of the volunteers were in a fasted state when the bloods were taken each week. However the state was consistent for each subject throughout the 6 weeks and from recent literature, it seems adiponectin levels do not alter postprandially (Caixas et al, 2006).

This study was not sufficiently large enough to stratify by sex, age and lifestyle factors. All, except two, women were pre-menopausal, and all individuals, as far as we can judge, led healthy lifestyles. Of note, the males had reduced levels of circulating adiponectin. Of course variation exists due to other external factors, for example genetic or other unknown metabolic or hormonal factors. However, it may not be possible to explain much more of the variation in adiponectin concentrations because of biological variation, as the mechanism for rises in adiponectin concentrations still requires further investigation. As it stands presently, adiponectin shows random pulsatility in its secretion (Punthakee et al, 2006). Other factors affecting the reproducibility of adiponectin should be considered, these include long term storage, freeze/thaw cycles and temperature during assay. Although, our prior studies in this thesis suggest adiponectin is in fact quite stable to many such considerations.

Also, due to time restraints we were unable to carry on the work for a longer period of time. We suggest that additional studies be carried out with larger volunteer numbers over a longer study time period and with all volunteers in the same fed state.

It may also be interesting to look at biological variability of other forms of adiponectin, particularly HMW adiponectin as it is thought to be the more biologically active form of the molecule.

Chapter IV: Methodological Considerations - Effects of Analytical Variables on Measurements of Adiponectin

4.1 Introduction to Analytical Variables

Analytical variables refer to problems or differences that may arise with performance of a test in the laboratory. The term 'analytical variable' refers to everything that affects a measurement: the method, the equipment, the reagents, the analyst, the laboratory environments, etc. Analytical variability can be reduced by adopting a stringent quality assurance procedure and by working to good laboratory practice (GLP) standards.

The first study in this chapter investigates compatibility of commercial ELISA kits available on the present market for the measurement of total adiponectin. It is important that the variability between commercial kits be considered when making comparisons between epidemiological studies, because if results obtained for total adiponectin are measured on different kits and are not comparable, then assumptions drawn from comparisons of the two data sets cannot be validated.

The second study in this chapter aims to validate the use of citrated plasma samples for the R&D Systems adiponectin ELISA kit. At present only EDTA plasma, serum and cell culture supernates have been validated for use on this kit. Sometimes a study may only have one type of aliquot obtainable from each volunteer/patient and it may be necessary to do all available tests on this sample if re-bleeding is not an option. This validation may add further scope for total adiponectin analysis when using this kit.

4.2 Analysing Citrated Samples for Total Adiponectin Using R&D ELISA Methodology

4.2.1 Introduction

Compounds that do not allow blood to clot are called anticoagulants. The most common of these include EDTA, Heparin and Citrate. Most clinical laboratory tests are performed using blood collected in EDTA or serum (Green et al, 2008). Situations may arise where blood has been drawn from a patient and preserved with only one type of anticoagulant and so all tests need to be performed on this sample, unless the patient is available for re-bleeding. All current ELISA assays recommend the use of human serum, EDTA plasma, or Li-Hep plasma for HMW adiponectin. In addition serum, plasma or cell culture supernates are recommended for total adiponectin analysis. It clearly states in the user guide for these assays that citrated plasma has not yet been validated for use in analysis.

Citrate is usually used for coagulation tests, as well as in blood transfusion bags. It gets rid of the calcium, but not as strongly as EDTA (wikipedia). It can be in the form of sodium citrate or Acid Citrate Dextrose Solution (ACD). Occasionally our laboratory receives only citrated plasma samples for a study. We generally like to measure as many variables on a sample as possible to gain a better understanding of disease and the associations between molecules in the pathogenicity of these various diseases, in particular CVD and Diabetes.

It is for this reason that this study aims to validate the use of citrated plasma samples in the total adiponectin ELISA assay. There is limited literature on this and so validation may prove to be a novel method for adiponectin analysis.
4.2.2 Principle

The aim of this study was to validate samples that have been preserved with citrate anticoagulant for use in a total adiponectin R&D systems ELISA assay (general methods chapter 2.4.1.1). We had a cohort from the Postman study⁴ in which samples had both an EDTA and a citrate aliquot for each volunteer. We assayed 109 EDTA plasma samples and the same 109 volunteers' citrated plasma samples on an R&D systems ELISA assay and compared the results to see if there was a significant difference in values between the separate anticoagulant factors and whether the results rendered from the two sample types correlated.

4.2.3 Study Subjects and Methods

Blood collection, storage and analysis

The following participant recruitment has been previously described elsewhere (Chastin et al, 2009). Participants for the study were postal workers, recruited from offices in Glasgow, UK. Postal workers within Glasgow were informed of the study via work e-mail, and participants volunteered to take part in the study. Postal workers were selected because there were clear distinctions in required activity levels at work between occupational categories. In this study, participants were either delivery postal workers who walked their delivery route (active workers) or office-based postal workers (sedentary workers). These categories were used to allow a comparison between individuals with typically active and sedentary employment types. Participants were non-smokers aged between 20 and 60 years, had been working for at least 3 months prior to the study, and were not on any medication for chronic heart disease, diabetes, hypertension or hypercholesterolemia.

⁴ Study looking at postal workers in the Glasgow area, UK. Postal workers have clear distinctions in required activity levels at work: desk/office job vs. postal delivery worker. This study allows comparison between individuals with active and sedentary employment and aims to look at how lifestyle affects CVD risk factors, diabetes, obesity and general well being.

Chapter 4: Analytical Variables

Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. The study was approved by the School of Health and Social Care, Glasgow Caledonian University ethics committee, and was performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki.

I obtained consent from the Principle investigator of the Postman study (Dr. William Tigbe) to include my findings from his samples in my study. Blood was drawn, by a trained medical practitioner, into two EDTA vacutainers (BD Vacutainer Systems: Becton, Dickinson and Company) and a citrate vacutainer (BD Vacutainer Systems: Becton, Dickinson and Company). These were placed on ice at the post office where blood was taken and immediately transported back to the Vascular Biochemistry laboratory for separation. The bloods were processed within 2 hours of venipuncture, where they were spun (3000rpm at 4°C for 10 min.) in an under-bench centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, GS-6KR) and the plasma separated with pastettes and aliguoted into eppendorf tubes (Blue for citrate and red for EDTA). The eppendorfs were clearly labelled with sample ID, date and time of venipuncture and placed in a -80°C freezer until analysis could be carried out on them. On the day of analysis samples were removed from the freezer in batches of 78, snap-thawed at 37°C and assayed on a R&D systems ELISA assay (general methods, chapter 2.4.1.1). Since each plate can only accommodate 78 study samples and 2 controls, two plates were used to fit the 109 EDTA samples on for analysis and two separate plates were used to fit the 109 citrate samples on. Total adiponectin and citrate were measured on the first defrost of these samples. All available data was analysed.

Statistical Analysis

Medians and CVs were calculated using an Excel spreadsheet. Dr. Paul Welsh advised on calculating out p- values and correlation coefficients. The Wilcoxon Matched-Pairs Signed-Ranks Test (Chapter 2) was used to establish p-values and the Spearman's rank Correlation Test (Chapter 2) was used to establish ρ -values. The website for IFA statistics was used for these tests (http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html). Calculations were based on the book by Fleiss in 1986.

4.2.4 Results

Table 4.1 summarises medians, 25th percentiles and 75th percentiles (IQR's) for both the citrate and EDTA sample types in all 109 volunteers.

Table 4.2 shows results from statistical analysis on the two sample types. There seems to be a significant change in concentrations of total adiponectin when measured on citrate samples compared to concentrations obtained from the EDTA samples (p< 0.001) (both measured using the R&D systems ELISA method). The Spearman's Rank Correlation Coefficient between these two data sets was 0.96 and highly significant (p< 0.001).

Figure 4.1 illustrates a Bland Altman plot of the mean of EDTA and Citrate log-transformed values vs. the difference between the log-transformed values of adiponectin concentrations from each sample type (Citrate and EDTA) using the R&D systems ELISA assay (general methods, chapter 2.4.1.1). Citrate values seem to be consistently lower than the EDTA values obtained using this assay.

Table 4.1 Summary of Data for EDTA Plasma and Citrate Plasma Measured on an R&D ELISA Assay for the Determination of Human Total Adiponectin

Type of sample	Median (µg/mL)	
EDTA Plasma	6.10 IQR (4.89 - 9.47)	
Citrate Plasma	5.34 IQR (3.84 - 8.48)	

Abbreviations for table 4.1: IQR, Inter-quartile range.

Table 4.2 Summary of Data from the Comparison of Total AdiponectinResults Obtained from Citrate Plasma and EDTA Plasma

Statistical test	Citrate Plasma vs. EDTA Plasma
Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranks test	p < 0.0001
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ = 0.96, p < 0.0001

Figure 4.1: Illustrating Bland Altman Plot of Mean of EDTA and Citrate Logged Total Adiponectin Values vs. the Difference between the EDTA and Citrate Logged Adiponectin Values



Mean of EDTA and citrate logged adiponectin values

4.2.5 Discussion

It is imperative to know the viability of sample types for different laboratory tests. In most cases the sample types that have been validated for the assay will be stated in the assay SOP. Although EDTA plasma is the most widely used sample type for most laboratory analysis, it may be necessary in some instances for another type of sample to be used. As is the case with large epidemiological studies, and if finance permits, a researcher would aim to test as many variables on that **one** sample to get a wider knowledge on the interactions of molecules in a disease/healthy state.

In this study one aim was to validate Citrate plasma samples for use on an R&D total adiponectin ELISA assay. From statistical analysis of the data (table 4.2), we can see that although there may be a significant difference in the actual concentrations of total adiponectin between the citrate and the EDTA samples (p< 0.0001), the highly significant correlation coefficient of 0.96 demonstrates that the samples maintain rank order between the two sample types. Figure 4.1 shows a Bland Altman plot of the mean of the EDTA and citrate samples vs. the difference between the two measurable concentrations from each sample type. The plot shows that on average the Citrate samples rendered lower total adiponectin values than the EDTA samples did (those values below the red line) (Figure 4.1). Looking at absolute concentrations, the total adiponectin concentrations measured on citrate samples were about $-1\mu g/mL$ lower than those concentrations obtained from the EDTA samples. This discrepancy is almost certainly due to the dilution effects, since citrated tubes contain 0.5mls of fluid to which 4.5mls of blood is added.

In conclusion, EDTA samples produce higher total adiponectin values than the citrated samples do when using this ELISA assay, but the correlation is still very good. Therefore citrated plasma samples could be validated for use. It's not an issue that the citrate values are slightly lower, as long as they are consistently lower within a study. However, it must be noted that the same type of sample should be used throughout the duration of a study; study

Chapter 4: Analytical Variables

results would not be comparable if one half of the cohort was measured on EDTA plasma and the other half of a cohort on citrate plasma.

We suggest that larger studies are needed to corroborate this result.

4.3 Comparison of Total Adiponectin Measurement by Three Different Commercially Available ELISA Kits

4.3.1 Introduction

As previously mentioned, adiponectin automatically self-binds to form larger structures and there are different multimeric forms including LMW trimers, MMW hexamers, HMW oligomeric structures and finally globular adiponectin. The varying forms have altered biological activity and therefore may also have separate functions.

A human adiponectin ELISA is designed to measure the concentration of molecules in human plasma/serum. Until recently ELISA's for the determination of adiponectin allowed only for the measurement of total adiponectin on samples. However, interest in adiponectin multimerisation and the regulation of its isoform distribution was fuelled by several studies indicating that most of the biological activity of adiponectin was attributed to the HMW form rather than to the LMW and MMW complexes. It became necessary for there to be a method capable of measuring all of the multimeric complexes. A handful of methods have been used for the isolation and measurement of HMW adiponectin, based on velocity gradient centrifugation (Scherer et al, 1995), gel filtration chromatography (Tsao et al, 2002) and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (Waki et al, 2003). However more recently, novel ELISA's have been developed to measure not only the total adiponectin concentrations in a given sample, but also the varying oligomeric forms of this molecule.

Prior to the introduction of this novel kit from ALPCO diagnostics (General Methods section 2.4.2), only total adiponectin measurement was available, the most popular of these being the R&D Systems adiponectin ELISA (general Methods 2.4.1.1). The R&D kit makes use of antibodies raised against human adiponectin and so allows for the direct determination of plasma levels of the protein. The ALPCO kit still employs the same sandwich enzyme technique typical of the ELISA assay, but also allows for the measurement of all of the multimeric complexes by adopting selective proteases to digest the molecule

Chapter 4: Analytical Variables

into its varying molecular weights. Also reported in this study is the performance of the Mercodia ELISA assay for the determination of total adiponectin concentrations in human samples (general methods 2.4.1.2). It is a new addition to this line of ELISA assays. It employs the same sandwich enzyme technique as the other two assays in which two monoclonal antibodies are directed against separate antigenic determinants on the adiponectin molecule, but like the R&D systems product only allows for the determination of total adiponectin concentrations.

It has become common practice (if finance allows) for researchers in this field to measure both the total and HMW species and to express these as a ratio to one another. The advantage of the ALPCO ELISA method is the ability to measure total concentrations of the molecule as well as the various forms of adiponectin by utilising the same standards and the same protocol. Therefore one is able to determine a more realistic analysis of the adiponectin distribution in a given sample. This is a more reliable way of determination as opposed to using one method for measuring total adiponectin and another for HMW adiponectin measurement. This is important as some studies (Magkos et al, 1995; Bluher et al, 2007) report differences in the ability of commercially available assays for total adiponectin. This is likely due to the variable specificity of the different antibodies used for each adiponectin isoform (Magkos et al, 1995). However, at times it may be the case that total adiponectin has already been measured on a data set in the past, with a kit, that at the time, only allowed for the measurement of total adiponectin, and as it has become common practice to now include a ratio incorporating the HMW adiponectin measurement, a different kit now needs to be employed for this purpose. Therefore we need to determine whether these two kits correlate to one another.

By comparing the total adiponectin concentrations obtained from the ALPCO and Mercodia kits to the adiponectin concentrations rendered from the R&D Systems kit, we could examine whether the kits correlated and whether the three kits produced similar results.

4.3.2 Principle

We had a sample set from the EarlyBird⁵ Cohort (Murphy et al, 2008) which had previously been analysed for total adiponectin in the original cohort, using the R&D Systems ELISA method. When the ALPCO and Mercodia kits became available we measured total adiponectin on the same sample set using these kits.

We measured total adiponectin on a subset of 75 serum samples from the EarlyBird Cohort, using the ALPCO diagnostics ELISA method and the Mercodia adiponectin ELISA method. Results from these tests were then compared to the previously determined total adiponectin concentrations measured using the R&D Systems ELISA method.

⁵ The EarlyBird study involves 300 schoolchildren and their families. It is a 12-year diabetes study to find which factors in childhood lead to the development of diabetes later in life. The study gathered unique data on the factors that underlie the early development of diabetes/heart disease (physical activity, energy expenditure, dietary choices and body composition), the influence of those factors on the insulin resistance that underlies disease and the impact of insulin resistance on the markers of disease as children grow and mature (http://www.earlybirddiabetes.org/

Chapter 4: Analytical Variables

4.3.3 Study Subjects and Methods

Blood collection, storage and analysis

The collection of these samples started in 2000 and continued right up until 2008. The method for blood collection has been documented elsewhere (Murphy et al, 2008). In short, children attended a hospitalbased outpatient facility at 0800-0900 after an overnight fast of at least 10 hours. Venous blood was collected into Vacutainer Tubes (BD Vacutainer Systems: Becton, Dickinson and Company) and delivered to the laboratory within 2 hours. After centrifugation (1500g for 10 min), samples for the original Earlybird cohort study were either analysed straight away or stored at -20°C. When samples were transferred to our laboratory they were stored at -80°C.

For the purpose of this study and due to financial constraints (high price of ALPCO kits), eighty samples were chosen randomly from the Earlybird cohort study. This set consisted of samples from 40 volunteers each with two visits. However not all volunteers were able to attend both visits, therefore there were 75 samples available for analysis. Total adiponectin concentrations were measured using the:

- 1. R&D systems ELISA method (General Methods 2.4.1.1)
- 2. Mercodia adiponectin ELISA method (General Methods 2.4.1.2)
- 3. ALPCO diagnostics ELISA method (General Methods section 2.4.2).

All available data was analysed.

Statistical analysis

Medians were calculated using an Excel spreadsheet. Dr. Paul Welsh advised on calculating out P- values and correlation coefficients. The Wilcoxon Matched-Pairs Signed-Ranks Test (Chapter 2) was used to establish p-values and the Spearman's rank Correlation Test (Chapter 2) was used to establish ρ -values. The website for IFA statistics was used for these tests (http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html). Calculations were based on the book by Fleiss in 1986.

4.3.4 Results

Table 4.3 illustrates medians, 25th percentiles and 75th percentiles for total adiponectin measurements on the three kits (R&D systems, Mercodia and ALPCO Diagnostics). On average the concentrations of total adiponectin measured on the ALPCO kit were lower than when measured with the other two kits.

Table 4.4 summarises statistical analysis of comparisons between the R&D systems ELISA and the ALPCO Diagnostics ELISA. There is a highly significant difference between total adiponectin concentrations measured in the same set of samples on the R&D kit and those obtained from the ALPCO Diagnostics kit (p< 0.0001). The data set rendered a correlation coefficient of 0.89 and this was a highly significant correlation (p< 0.0001).

Table 4.5 summarises statistical analysis of comparisons between the R&D systems ELISA and the Mercodia ELISA method. There is a highly significant difference between total adiponectin concentrations measured in the same set of samples on the R&D kit and those obtained from the Mercodia kit (p< 0.0001). The data set rendered a correlation coefficient of 0.83 and this was a highly significant correlation (p< 0.0001).

Figure 4.2 illustrates a Bland Altman plot of the means of the logtransformed concentrations measured on the R&D and ALPCO kits vs. the difference between the log-transformed concentrations rendered from each of these kits. There is a suggestion of a slight negative bias such that levels are proportionately lower as adiponectin concentrations increase.

Figure 4.3 illustrates a Bland Altman plot of the means of the logtransformed concentrations measured on the R&D and Mercodia kits vs. the difference between the log-transformed concentrations rendered from each of these kits.

Table 4.3: Summary of Data from Total Adiponectin ConcentrationsMeasured on 80 Samples With the R&D Systems ELISA Assay, the ALPCODiagnostics ELISA Assay and the Mercodia ELISA Assay.

	Median (µg/mL)
R&D Systems	10.48 IQR (8.41-13.89)
Alpco Diagnostics	7.37 IQR (6.27-9.08)
Mercodia	9.86 IQR (8.17-12.07)

Abbreviations for table 4.3: IQR, Inter-quartile range.

Table 4.4: Comparison of Total Adiponectin Measurements TakenFrom the R&D Systems Kit and the ALPCO Diagnostics Kit.

	R&D Systems vs. ALPCO	
Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed- ranks test	p< 0.0001	
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ = 0.89, p< 0.0001	

Table 4.5: Comparison of Total Adiponectin Measurements TakenFrom the R&D Systems Kit and the Mercodia Kit.

	R&D Systems vs. Mercodia	
Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranks test	p< 0.0001	
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient	ρ = 0.83, p< 0.0001	

Figure 4.2: Bland Altman Plot Illustrating the Means of the Logged Adiponectin Values from the R&D and ALPCO Kits vs. the Difference Between the Logged Adiponectin Values Rendered from Each Kit



Mean of R&D and ALPCO logged adiponectin values

Figure 4.3: Bland Altman Plot Illustrating the Means of the Logged Adiponectin Values from the R&D and Mercodia Kits vs. the Difference between the Logged Adiponectin Values Rendered from Each Kit



Mean of R&D and Mercodia logged adiponectin values

Chapter 4: Analytical Variables

4.3.5 Discussion

In order to make comparisons between large epidemiological studies, researchers need to be sure that the different commercial kits available for analyte measurement are comparable to one another. This study tested three commercially available ELISA kits for the determination of human adiponectin. Two of the kits (R&D and Mercodia) allow only for the measurement of total adiponectin and the third kit (ALPCO diagnostics) allows for the determination of all forms of the molecule, by use of selective proteases. The performance of the ALPCO and R&D kits from this study has been published in the Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism (Sattar et al, 2008) and presented in chapter 5 of this thesis.

In the comparison between all of the kits there are highly significant differences in the concentrations of total adiponectin measured. On average, the R&D systems kit renders the highest values (8.41-13.89) followed closely by the Mercodia kit (8.17-12.07) and the ALPCO diagnostics kit (6.27-9.08) giving the lowest values. This may be due, in part, to the extremely high sample dilution factor (1:5151) used in the ALPCO methodology compared to the R&D (1:100) and the Mercodia (1:101) kits. There is more chance for error in the ALPCO methodology too, as the dilution requires two dilution steps whereas the other two methods described in chapter 2 only require a single dilution step. This may also explain the slight negative bias seen in figure 4.2, where at higher levels of adiponectin concentrations, the difference in values between the kits is proportionately larger. With this noted however, it is reassuring to report that the ALPCO and R&D kits were as closely ranked (ρ =0.89) as the R&D and Mercodia kits (ρ =0.83). The very strong correlation coefficient factors suggest that there is a very good correlation between all kits, and although there may be differences in

the absolute concentrations, as long as this difference is consistent, comparisons between kits is good. It must be mentioned that Mercodia approached our laboratory after reading the journal article on the comparisons between the ALPCO diagnostics and R&D systems kits (Sattar et al, 2008). Mercodia were keen to validate their new total adiponectin ELISA. We agreed to assist and in doing so were given permission to publish the results in this thesis. Chapter V - High Molecular Weight Adiponectin and Incident Coronary Heart Disease: Findings from a prospective Case Control Study Nested within the British Women's Heart and Health Study.

5.1 Introduction

In recent years, literature on the relationship of circulating levels of adiponectin to incident vascular events has attracted a lot of attention. The adipocyte derived hormone, adiponectin, has apparent antiinflammatory (Gervois et al, 2007) and insulin sensitising properties (Kadowaki et al, 2006) therefore attracting considerable interest from research groups involved with CVD risk markers. Adiponectin has been shown to display a negative relationship with BMI, CRP and triglycerides, as well as a positive strong relationship with HDL-cholesterol (Figure 5.1) (Wannamethee et al, 2007). Whilst there is consistent evidence that high levels of adiponectin are associated with lower risk for incident diabetes (Lindsay et al, 2002; Wannamethee et al, 2007), it remains unclear whether high adiponectin levels are associated with lower risk for CHD events. One of the first studies to publish results on the relationship of adiponectin with CHD noted that high levels of total adiponectin were independently associated with lower risk for incident myocardial events (Vozarova et al, 2002). However since then other prospective studies have not been consistent. Our group showed no significant association of total adiponectin with incident CHD events in the British Regional Heart

study (BRHS), and in a subsequent meta-analysis of 7 prospective studies involving a total of 1318 CHD cases; including results from the British Women's Heart and Health Study (BWHHS) (Figure 5.2) (Sattar et al, 2006). Therefore, at present it is still unclear whether circulating levels of adiponectin are related to risk for incident vascular events.

Adiponectin is known to circulate in a number of different multimeric forms within our body, including a low, middle and high-molecular weight species. From recent data, it is thought that the latter HMW adiponectin species is the biologically active form of the molecule. HMW adiponectin has been shown to be better associated with insulin sensitivity than total adiponectin (Hara et al, 2006), be more strongly associated with incidence for diabetes (Nakashima et al, 2006), and it is also thought that the HMW moiety may be key to the vascular protective properties of the molecule, because it has been shown to be strongly linked to protection against endothelial cell apoptosis (Kobayashi et al, 2004). From this evidence, it is possible that the HMW form rather than the total adiponectin is more relevant to the risk for incident CHD events. Studies of this nature are still lacking. Until recently, the measurement of HMW adiponectin on a given sample was costly, complex and labour intensive. However, although still expensive, the introduction of an ELISA method for determination of separate adiponectin fractions has made it easier to measure HMW adiponectin on larger sample sets. Due to funding constraints we were not able to measure HMW adiponectin on all of the BWHHS samples and so we carried out a nested case control study taking baseline samples from women with subsequent CVD events and randomly selected control women of a similar age who did not suffer a CVD event.



Figure 5.1: Graphs Showing the Relationship of Adiponectin with Various Parameters in Humans.

Abbreviations for figure 5.1: CRP, C reactive protein; HDL-C, High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol; HOMA-IR, Homeostasis Model Assessment; TG, Triglyceride.

Figure 5.2: Figure Showing the 7 Prospective Studies of Circulating Concentrations of Adiponectin and CHD Risk.

We can see from the graph below the overall total meta-analysis shows no association between adiponectin levels and risk for CHD, because the confidence interval crosses 1. Note that this figure shows CHD risk ratios for those individuals in the top third of baseline adiponectin levels versus those in the bottom third. Pischon's study (HPFUS) (the first to report on the associations of adiponectin with CHD) shows a significant association between increased levels of adiponectin and myocardial events. As we can deduce from the data on this figure, studies since then have not been consistent with these findings. In particular, note the BRHS, the largest published study carried out on this relationship to date, demonstrates a non-significant association.



0.25 0.5 1.0 2.0 4.0

5.2 Principle

Our aim was to test whether HMW adiponectin was better associated with risk for incident vascular events than the previously reported total adiponectin from the original BWHHS (Lawlor et al, 2005).

5.3 Study Subjects and Methods

Blood collection, storage and analysis

The BWHHS is a prospective cohort study of 4,286 women randomly selected from 23 British towns between 1999 and 2001 and who were aged 60-79 years at baseline (Lawlor et al, 2002). The prospective case control study and end-point ascertainment nested within this cohort and used herein has been previously described (Lawlor et al, 2005). Briefly, women with CHD at baseline were excluded, and incident cases of CHD were identified through medical records and death registration up to January 2004. An incident case was defined as either of (i) death with an underlying or contributing cause of CHD (ICD10 codes I20-I25, I51.6); (ii) a myocardial infarction (WHO criteria), first diagnosis of angina or coronary artery by-pass or angioplasty. There were 167 incident cases of CHD (101 non-fatal and 66 fatal). Two controls were randomly selected, within 5-year age groups of the cases, from women without CHD at the baseline assessment. The BWHHS has Local- and Multi-Centre Research Ethics Committee (LREC and MREC) approvals and all participants provided written informed consent for their medical records to be reviewed.

Baseline blood samples were taken after a minimum six-hour fast. HMW adiponectin was measured by an ELISA on EDTA plasma samples (ALPCO

Diagnostics) (General methods section 2.4.2). This ELISA has been validated against the "gold standard" conventional fractionation, with excellent reported correlations ($\rho = 0.94$ to 0.97) between methods (http://www.alpco.com/pdfs/47/Human%20Multimeric%20Adiponectin%2 ODetails.pdf). The intra-assay CV was 6%. Since we had previously measured total adiponectin in the same cohort by a different ELISA (R&D systems, UK) (General methods section 2.4.1.1), we assayed **total** adiponectin by the ALPCO method in a subset of 80 samples and compared this measurement to the results obtained two years previously using the R&D ELISA method: a correlation of r = 0.89 between methods was noted despite blinded measurements, conducted several months apart with different dilutions. These results concur with our findings that the R&D and ALPCO kits are well correlated for total adiponectin measurement in serum samples (chapter 4.3). Repeated sample freeze thaw did not influence HMW adiponectin values (chapter 3.2).

Methods for insulin, glucose, lipid levels and C-reactive protein and homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) have been detailed previously (Lawlor et al, 2002). All blood samples were taken between 08.00 and 18.00 with the time of sampling (to nearest minute) recorded. Levels of total adiponectin and HMW adiponectin did not vary by time of day of sampling (data not shown).

Statistical analysis

Associations of continuous covariables with HMW adiponectin and total adiponectin were assessed using Spearman's rank correlation coefficients.

Correlation coefficients are presented for the entire sample (cases and controls combined) as there was no evidence of these associations differing by case-control status. Differences between cases and controls

were assessed using an unpaired t-test for continuous variables and chisquared test for categorical variables. Multiple logistic regression was used to assess the association of HMW adiponectin with CHD with adjustment for covariables. For positively skewed variables (HMW adiponectin, total adiponectin, CRP, glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR scores and triglycerides), geometric means and their 95% confidence intervals were used. Logged values were used for regression models. HMW adiponectin and total adiponectin were entered as continuous variable (natural logs) in these regression models. Regression coefficients for logged exposure variables are difficult to interpret and for this reason the effect estimates were expressed as the risk ratio of CHD for a doubling of HMW adiponectin or total adiponectin. Non-linear associations of quarters of the HMW adiponectin distribution were explored first as a series of three indicator variables and then as a continuous score and computing a likelihood ratio test comparing these two nested models. We repeated our analyses using conditional logistic regression and found the same results. All analyses were conducted in Stata version 9.0 (StataCorp., Texas).

5.4 Results

Of the randomly selected samples, one control did not have a baseline sample and therefore data was available for 167 cases and 333 controls. Table 5.1 shows the correlation of HMW with total adiponectin, giving an r = 0.75. Also from table 5.1 we can see both HMW adiponectin and total adiponectin were inversely associated with waist to hip ratio, fasting insulin, glucose, HOMA-IR, CRP and triglyceride levels and positively associated with HDL-c levels.

The 95% confidence interval levels of HMW adiponectin were not different between cases 4.07 (3.64, 4.55) μ g/ml and controls, 4.17

 $(3.90, 4.47) \mu g/ml$, where p = 0.7. As previously reported by Lawlor *et al* in 2005, cases had a higher fasting insulin, glucose, HOMA-IR, LDL-c and lower HDL-c. Triglyceride levels and systolic and diastolic blood pressure were similar. However hypertension and smoking were greater and use of HRT less at baseline in cases compared with controls.

In a multivariable analysis we found no association between HMW adiponectin and incident CHD (Table 5.2). The age-adjusted relative risk ratio for CHD for a doubling of HMW adiponectin was 0.96 (0.78, 1.18) (Table 5.2) and adjustment for any confounders did not alter this (model 2 and 3, Table 5.2).

Figure 5.3 shows the effect of HMW adiponectin by quarters of its distribution and from our examination we found no evidence of any linear or non-linear associations.

There was also no association of the ratio of HMW adiponectin:total adiponectin with CHD risk: age-adjusted relative risk per doubling of the ratio 1.10 (0.80, 1.50).

Table 5.1: Correlation of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin and Total Adiponectin with Measures of Adiposity, Insulin, Glucose and Lipid Levels in British Women aged 60-79 Years.

	Spearman rank correlations			
	HMW adiponectin	liponectin p total adiponectin		р
HMW	_	-	0.75	< 0.001
BMI	-0.12	0.008	-0.20	< 0.001
WHR	-0.26	< 0.001	-0.32	< 0.001
Insulin	-0.35	< 0.001	-0.41	< 0.001
Glucose	-0.11	0.01	-0.20	< 0.001
HOMA-IR	-0.30	< 0.001	-0.38	< 0.001
CRP	-0.17	0.002	-0.20	< 0.001
HDL-C	0.37	< 0.001	0.44	< 0.001
Triglyceride	-0.34	< 0.001	-0.42	< 0.001

Abbreviations for Table 5.1: HMW, High Molecular Weight; BMI, Body Mass Index; WHR, Waist to hip Ratio; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; CRP, C-Reactive Protein, HDL-C, High Density Lipoprotein C.

	Relative risk ratio (95% confidence interval) for a doubling of HMW adiponectin	p linear trend	p non linear association
Model 1: age adjusted ^a	0.96 (0.78-1.18)	0.71	0.96
Model 2: confounder adjusted ^b	0.98 (0.79-1.21)	0.85	0.79
Model 3: adjusted for confounders and potential mediators ^c	1.01 (0.81-1.24)	0.89	0.88

Table 5.2: Multivariable Associations of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin with Incident Cases of Coronary Heart Disease (N=167 cases and 333 controls).

^a Model 1: Adjusted for age (continuous in years)

^b Model 2: as model 1 plus adult social class (4-level categorical variable entered as a score-1 parameter) smoking (3-level categorical variable entered as a score-1 parameter) and physical activity (3-level categorical variable entered as a score-1 parameter)
^c Model 3: as model 2 plus, waist:hip ratio systolic blood pressure, fasting levels of high density lipoprotein, triglyceride (logged), glucose (logged), insulin (logged) and CRP (logged) (all continuous variable)

Figure 5.3: Proportion (%) of Women with Incidence Coronary Heart Disease (cases) by Quarters of the Distribution of High Molecular Weight Adiponectin.

The first quartile incorporates the bottom quarter of adiponectin values (i.e. those individuals having the lowest circulating adiponectin levels). The fourth quartile incorporates those women with the highest circulating levels of adiponectin. If there was a significant link between protection against CHD and levels of adiponectin, we would expect to see a linear relationship with those in the first quartile having a significantly higher incidence of CHD % than those in the fourth quartile. There is no evidence of any linear relationship here.



5.5 Discussion

A journal article on these findings has been published in the Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism (JCEM) (Sattar et al, 2008) and includes the following contributing authors: Sattar N, Watt P, Cherry L, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G, Lawlor DA (included in this thesis in appendix 4).

Our findings go against a clear link between HMW adiponectin and risk of incident vascular events. In line with our findings, Halperin et al reported no link between %HMW or total adiponectin and a vascular risk surrogate (endothelium-dependent vasodilation) in offspring of diabetic parents (Halperin et al, 2005). More interestingly, recent evidence suggests that higher adiponectin levels may actually predict higher risk for CVD mortality in the general population (Laughlin et al, 2007). HMW adiponectin predicts higher risk of mortality in patients with heart disease (Tsutsamoto et al, 2007), findings consistent with the observation by McEntegart et al in which they also reported a positive correlation between circulating adiponectin levels and BNP (McEntegart et al, 2007). In recent published literature (Kizer et al, 2008), it was demonstrated that higher levels of adiponectin predict increased risk of first ever CHD in older adults (inclusive of men and women). This latter study includes a large number of incident vascular events with good attention to potential confounders. These data suggest adiponectin and indeed its fractions have a complex relationship with vascular disease.

An editorial by Sattar and Nelson (Sattar et al, 2008) suggests reverse causality for the link between higher levels of adiponectin and the higher risk of CVD mortality. The editorial puts forward the notion that silent or clinically apparent vascular disease could lead to compensatory rises in adiponectin. Indeed adiponectin is thought to dampen the early phases of macrophage inflammatory responses, acting to inhibit the growth of myelomonocytic progenitor cells and decrease the ability of mature macrophages to respond to activation (Yokota et al, 2000; Gervois et al, 2007). This inhibited functioning of macrophages results in a reduced uptake of oxidised LDL, and this in turn inhibits foam cell formation. This is vital in fighting the onset of atherosclerosis. Sattar and Nelson also mention the positive correlation adiponectin exhibits with BNP in patients with chronic heart failure, as well as those without, and alternately it could be that a rise in BNP may link silent ischemia or vascular disease to higher adiponectin levels. In line with this McEntegart and colleagues (McEntegart et al, 2007) recently proposed the idea that the high levels of adiponectin in those with heart failure or acute coronary syndrome may represent a salvage mechanism to improve insulin resistance and fatty acid metabolism, thereby attempting to counteract metabolic or vascular stress (Sattar et al, 2008). If this was indeed true, then an investigation into the link between adiponectin levels and mortality risks in those with chronic vascular disease should be a good indicator of the validity of these suggestions. One such study (Dekker et al, 2008) has touched on the subject and its findings point to a positive correlation between these two parameters.

Finally, although we expected the correlation between HMW adiponectin and HOMA-IR score to be greater than between total adiponectin and HOMA-IR given its apparent increased association with insulin sensitivity (Nakashima et al, 2006; Lawlor et al, 2005), this was not so in our study. Similar results have also been observed by other researchers (Retnakaran et al, 2007).

There may be possible limitations to our study that merit discussion. We understand that our study cannot be extrapolated to men and other ethnic groups and larger studies are needed to corroborate our null result, although the adjusted result of 1.01 (0.81, 1.24) for incident CHD events with a doubling of HMW adiponectin is close to unity (Sattar et al, 2008). Some may argue that using kits from two different suppliers for the measurement of total and HMW adiponectin may affect our results. However, although our method for determination of HMW adiponectin is fairly new, we believe it to be robust. It should be noted that Bluher *et al* questioned the robustness of this method in their report (Bluher et al, 2007). Their study included 60 women who spanned glycaemia thresholds and reported no association of total adiponectin by the ALPCO method with two other methods for total adiponectin, with their p value being reported just as non significant with no value assigned. They also noted

no association of either total or HMW adiponectin with fasting insulin levels (ρ = -0.09, and ρ = -0.04 respectively, both non-significant). Our study, by contrast, included 500 women without diabetes, and found the HMW fraction to correlate nicely with the total adiponectin ($\rho = 0.75$, p<0.001) using different methods for determination. Furthermore the total adiponectin measurement using the ALPCO kit correlated with the R&D ELISA on a subset of 80 samples ($\rho = 0.89$, p<0.001), even though the tests were done blinded and two years apart. In addition, the HMW fraction correlated with fasting insulin (-0.35, p<0.001) and with other metabolic parameters in the expected fashion (Table 5.1). Other groups have used gold standard techniques such as velocity sedimentation technique to report similar correlations between total and HMW adiponectin. For example Halperin et al (Halperin et al, 2005) reported a correlation of p =0.72 between %HMW and total adiponectin. Also, the ALPCO method has been validated against more conventional methods for adiponectin fractionation including immunoblotting and velocity sedimentation technique, and has been shown to perform well. Finally, others (von Eynatten et al, 2007; Hara et al, 2006) have used larger sized cross-sectional studies than that published by Bluher and colleagues, to show good performance of kits and a correlation to insulin sensitivity and related parameters. Therefore our null findings are unlikely to be due to methodological issues, although clearly more work in this area is required.

In conclusion, despite evidence to suggest that the HMW form of adiponectin is the biologically active form of the molecule, our results go against a significant inverse association between HMW adiponectin and incident CHD events. The findings from this study do however further support the notion that circulating adiponectin has a stronger association with diabetes than with vascular disease. Uncertainty still lies with the role adiponectin plays in vascular disease and more studies are required to investigate further.

Chapter VI - Serial Changes in Adiponectin and BNP in ACS Patients: Paradoxical Associations with Each Other and with Prognosis

6.1 Introduction

As mentioned previously throughout this thesis, adiponectin has been shown to have the unusual property of correlating inversely with markers of adiposity. It has also been suggested to possess anti-inflammatory properties (Ouchi et al, 2007) and in line with this may protect cardiac tissue and increase inflammatory dampening thereby limiting the occurrence of atherogenesis (Ouchi et al, 2006).

Despite adiponectin's clear link to lower diabetes risk, its relationship to CHD is not clear. An initial study linked low levels of adiponectin to increased risk of CHD events in healthy men (Pischon et al, 2004), however a recent metaanalysis suggested a more modest association with CHD (Sattar et al, 2006). Further to this, studies in people with prevalent heart failure or acute coronary syndromes show that high plasma levels of adiponectin are associated with **greater** disease severity (Nakamura et al, 2006; McEntegart et al, 2007) and with higher risk of adverse outcome (Tsutamoto et al, 2007; Kistorp et al, 2005; George et al, 2006; Cavusoglu et al, 2006). These studies highlight the complexity of the relationships adiponectin displays with regard to health and disease within the body. Circulating adiponectin concentrations may represent both a protective or theoretically harmful signal depending on the context.

Brain natriuretic peptide (BNP), now known as B-type natriuretic peptide (also BNP) is a 32 amino acid polypeptide secreted by the ventricles of the heart in response to excessive stretching of heart muscle cells (cardiomyocytes). BNP was originally identified in porcine brain and thereby got its name, but in humans it is found mainly in cardiac ventricles. BNP and its inactive Nterminal metabolite NT-proBNP (released in 1:1 ratio during processing) are sensitive markers of cardiac overload and are markers of prognosis in those with CHF (Clerico et al, 2004). Baseline NT-proBNP and BNP have positive correlations with adiponectin in those with prevalent CHF and CAD (Nakamura et al, 2006; McEntegart et al, 2007; Tsutamoto et al, 2007; Kistorp et al, 2005; George et al, 2006; Cavusoglu et al, 2006; Clerico et al, 2004; von Eynatten et al, 2006; Tanaka et al, 2008). In particular the recent Atherogene study showed that baseline adiponectin predicted risk of poor outcome in CHF independent of conventional risk factors, but not independent of BNP (Schnabel et al, 2008).

To further investigate the potential pathological link between BNP and adiponectin, we examined in 442 ACS patients the inter-relationship of circulating adiponectin and BNP both at baseline and at a 7 week follow up (338 patients) with adverse outcomes at 10 months to determine whether change in either parameter was a better predictor of adverse events than a single measurement. Changes in concentrations of adiponectin over time were also investigated to see if they correlated with changes in BNP over time.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Study population

442 Caucasian patients with the diagnosis of ACS (between August 2004 and November 2006) were consecutively recruited at Ninewells Hospital, Dundee. Patients were recruited if they presented within 72 hours after the onset of ischemic discomfort and included those diagnosed with (Cnop et al, 2003) ST elevation MI (STEMI); ST elevation >1mm in 2 limb leads or >2mm in leads V1-V6 or new left bundle branch block, (Lafontan et al, 2006) Non ST segment elevation MI (NSTEMI); no ST elevation on ECG despite elevated Troponin T >0.01 ug/mL, (Ouchi et al, 2007) Unstable angina; ischaemic chest pain lasting more than 30 minutes with no evidence of myocyte necrosis or ST elevation. Ethical approval was obtained from the Tayside Committee of Medical Research Ethics and all participating subjects gave written, informed consent. The research was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. During the ACS admission, the patients underwent the following clinical procedures: (1) Clinical history and risk factor analysis.

(2) Evaluation of admission Killip class defined as follow:

• Killip class I: No clinical signs of heart failure.

• Killip class II: Rales or crackles in the lungs, an S₃ gallop, and elevated jugular venous pressure.

• Killip class III: Frank acute pulmonary oedema.

• Killip class IV: Cardiogenic shock or hypotension (measured as systolic BP lower than 90 mmHg), and evidence of peripheral vasoconstriction (oliguria, cyanosis or sweating).

(3) ECG: presence of absence of ST deviation (>1.0 mm).

(4) Bedside BNP assay.

(5) Laboratory tests: admission haemoglobin, eGFR using the modification of diet in renal disease equation and serum Troponin-T level.

(6) Bedside echocardiography: LV systolic dysfunction (LVSD) defined as LVEF <45% (Simpson's biplane method) and left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) assessment.

6.2.2 Echocardiography

Transthoracic echocardiography was performed by one trained operator using an

Acuson (Sequia 512) imaging system with a 3V2C transducer. The scan was performed with the patient lying in the left lateral position at approximately 45%.

6.2.3 Left ventricular hypertrophy assessment

Patients were studied with two-dimensional guided M-mode echocardiography in standard views. All measurements were made according to the American Society of Echocardiography (ASE) recommendation at end diastole, taken as the onset of QRS complex. The leading edge to leading edge convention was used to measure interventricular septal thickness, left ventricular internal diameter and left ventricular posterior wall thickness. Measurements were made over at least 3 separate cardiac cycles and the average taken. Left ventricular mass was calculated according to the formula of Devereux et al.
0.80 (ASE left ventricular mass) + 0.6 (Devereux et al, 1986) and indexed to body surface area to give a left ventricular mass index (LVMI). Left ventricular hypertrophy was defined as LVMI greater than $95g/m_2$ in females and greater than 115 g/m₂ in males in accordance to ASE guidelines (Lang et al, 2005).

6.2.4 Left ventricular systolic function assessment

Quantitative assessment of LV systolic function was made using the modified biplane Simpson's method to calculate a LVEF. Three measurements from successive cardiac cycles were made in the two chamber and four chamber views. LVSD was defined as an LVEF < 45%.

6.2.5 Blood sample collection and analysis

Samples were collected by venipucture into EDTA vacutainer tubes or serum clot accelerators. One EDTA vacutainer of blood sample was kept at room temperature and analysed for BNP within 4 hours of the draw time. Whole blood was analysed with the triage BNP assay (Biosite, USA) as reported previously (Morrison et al, 2002). The inter-assay CV was 8.8% at 71.3 pg/mL and 11.6% at 4088 pg/mL. The detection limit was 5 pg/mL. An electrochemilumninescent immunoassay approved for quantitative measurement of Troponin T was provided by Roche Diagnostics and run on Roche Modular E170 unit. At 0.06 ug/L a CV of 10% is achievable and the detection limit was 0.01 ug/L. Blood samples for adiponectin or other nonroutine analyte measurement were spun at 2000g for 15 min and the serum or plasma layers were aliquoted within 4 hours, snap frozen, and stored at -80°C. Total plasma adiponectin was analysed using a commercially available kit (R&D systems, Oxon, UK). The inter-assay CV for the adiponectin assay was less than 8%. The same methods were used for samples at follow-up measurements.

6.2.6 Follow-up Measurements

7 weeks after baseline admission, an attempt was made to re-examine patients with a full ECG, trans-thoracic echocardiography to assess LVEF, and routine blood tests including repeat bedside BNP and freezing of plasma samples (average time of follow-up 52 ± 17 days). Of the 442 baseline patients (of whom 90 experienced adverse outcomes (detailed below) by 10 months), 433 were still alive, and 338 consented to continuing participation in the study at 7 weeks (of whom 51 experienced adverse outcome by 10 months). In relating BNP and adiponectin levels to risk of outcome we used all 442 baseline patients for whom measurements were obtained, and the 338 patient samples available to us from the 7 week measurement

6.2.7 End points

The end point of death from any cause, readmission with ACS or admission with congestive heart failure (CHF) was evaluated at 10 months (265.79 ± 80.31 days). Information on end points was collected from telephone interviews with patients or patient relatives, hospital database and patients case notes. The definition of readmission with ACS is as described above. Congestive heart failure was defined as hospitalization for a clinical syndrome involving at least 2 of the following: paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnoea, orthopnoea, elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles, third heart sound and cardiomegaly or pulmonary oedema on chest X-Ray. These clinical signs and symptoms must have represented a clear change from the normal clinical status, requiring intravenous diuretics, inotropic support or vasodilator therapy.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are summarized as median and 25th and 75th percentile. For discrete variables, absolute and relative frequencies per category are given. Variables were logarithmically transformed to obtain normal distributions, with tertiles of adiponectin generated. Inter-group differences were assessed by chi squared test or analysis of variance. Spearman correlation coefficients are reported. The association of adiponectin with adverse outcome was examined in different binary logistic regression models, first a univariate model, then in a model adjusting for classical risk factors, a third model additionally adjusted for baseline BNP and a fourth model for 7 week BNP. Goodness of fit of the models was tested by Hosmer-Lemeshow. Statistical significance was determined at p <0.05.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Baseline characteristics

In the complete patient group the median BNP level at baseline was 154 pg/ml (inter-quartile range [IQR] 53-336), and the median baseline adiponectin level was 6.76mg/ml (IQR 4.16- 10.82). With continuous analyses, the baseline correlation between BNP and adiponectin was $\rho = 0.32$, (p<0.001).

Table 6.1 illustrates baseline characteristics of the patients according to tertiles of adiponectin concentration. As expected, age increased across tertiles of adiponectin (p for trend <0.001). Some other major cardiovascular risk factors showed inverse associations with adiponectin including proportion of male gender (p<0.001), BMI (p<0.001), and total cholesterol (p=0.07) while HDL cholesterol increased across tertiles (p<0.001). Blood pressure, presence of hypertension, diabetes, or smoking habit showed no significant association with adiponectin levels. Haemoglobin levels and kidney function (eGFR) decreased across adiponectin tertiles (p<0.001). Among clinical measures, left ventricle ejection fraction (p<0.001) decreased, and sub-optimal prognosis according to Killip class increased (p=0.004) with increasing adiponectin.

6.3.2 Changes in adiponectin and BNP from baseline to 7 weeks

The median BNP level at 7 weeks was lower compared to baseline at 94pg/ml (IQR 36-198) and the median adiponectin level was 5.49mg/ml (IQR 3.48-8.99). With continuous analyses the 7 week correlation between BNP and adiponectin was $\rho = 0.33$, (p<0.001). Overall change in adiponectin and BNP levels between baseline and 7 week follow up for the whole patient group are shown in Fig 6.1 a and b respectively. As can be seen from these figures both the change in adiponectin and BNP were near-normally distributed, with the former being slightly left-skewed and the latter right-skewed (skewedness statistic -1.22 and 1.80 respectively). For both biomarkers there was a spread of patients with either increases or decreases in either marker over the 7

week interval. Figure 6.2 (with both markers log-transformed to normality) demonstrates a significant correlation between changes in BNP versus change in adiponectin. Indeed the correlation (ρ =0.39, p<0.001) was at least as strong as the baseline and 7 week correlations between parameters noted above.

6.3.3 Associations of baseline adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome

In unadjusted models, baseline adiponectin showed a borderline significant association with outcome: OR 2.06 (95% CI 0.92-4.63) p=0.08 (Table 6.2a). Adjusting for classical risk factors (including clinical parameters) attenuated the association (OR 1.63 [0.54 - 4.93]). Subsequent adjustments for BNP levels attenuated the association of baseline adiponectin with risk to near unity. As seen in Table 6.2b however, BNP remained significantly associated with poor outcome in every adjustment model, even after adjusting for baseline adiponectin (OR 3.26 [1.54 - 6.91]).

6.3.4 Associations of 7 week adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome

Among those who survived the first 7 weeks following ACS and who consented to further study, the association between 7 week adiponectin and risk of poor outcome was not considerably different to the association seen at baseline, and none was significant, perhaps due to reduced power with fewer observations (Table 6.2a). In contrast, the association of 7 week BNP with risk of poor outcome was substantially stronger, and was independent of classical risk factors, and independent of 7 week adiponectin (OR 6.84 [2.54 - 18.45]) (Table 6.2b).

6.3.5 Associations of change in adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome

Change in adiponectin (Table 6.2a), appeared somewhat more strongly linked to risk for adverse outcome than either baseline or 7 week adiponectin. For change in adiponectin the unadjusted OR was 5.42 (2.78 - 10.55), and attenuated to OR 3.99 (1.79 - 8.92) with adjustment for classical markers, and to OR 3.17 (1.29 - 7.78) with additional adjustment for change in BNP. Change in BNP was not itself independently associated with adverse outcome in the latter model, suggesting change in adiponectin was the stronger marker. Since change in adiponectin and 7 week BNP appeared to have the strongest independent associations with outcome, we included both markers in same multivariable model to test whether 7 week BNP could explain the association of change in adiponectin with prognosis. After doing this, change in adiponectin was no longer associated with risk for adverse outcome (OR 1.13 [0.27 - 4.92]), but 7 week BNP measurement remained significantly associated (OR 5.90 [1.04 - 32.94]).

Table 6.1: Association between admission adiponectin levels (divided into thirds) and baseline characteristics of ACS patients (n=442 with adiponectin measurement)

Characteristic	Bottom third 0.48- 4.85µg/mL (n=147)	Middle third 4.86-8.94 Top third 8.95-35 85µg/mL (n=148) 85µg/mL (n=143)		p-value*
Age	60 (12)	66 (11)	69 (11)	<0.001
Sex Male/Female n (%)	125/22 (85/15)	98/50 (66/44)	77/70 (52/48)	<0.001
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	130 (115-150)	131 (118 - 150)	128 (110 - 147)	0.23
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	70 (63-81)	72 (65 - 82)	70 (60 - 80)	0.18
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.12 (4.19-6.08)	4.81 (3.94 -5.95)	4.52 (3.85-5.62)	0.07
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.15 (0.99-1.33)	1.32 (1.11-1.47)	1.50 (1.2 -1.82)	<0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	28.0(26.0-31.0)	26.0 (24 29.0)	25.0 (22.0-29.0)	<0.001
Smoking n (%) Never	46 (31)	57 (38)	52 (35)	
Past	41 (28)	44 (30)	52 (35)	
Present	60 (41)	47 (32)	43 (30)	0.21
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	15.0 (14.1 -15.8)	14.1 (12.7-14.9)	13.3 (12.1- 14.4)	<0.001
eGFR (mL/min/1.73m²)	70 (59-78)	66 (52-75)	61 (51- 73)	<0.001
Troponin T (ng/mL)	0.27 (0.01-1.86)	0.36 (0.06-1.47)	0.31 (0.07-1.43)	0.98
Non ST elevation ACS (%)	69	75	75	0.353
Type 2 Diabetes n (%)	21 (14)	23 (16)	16 (11)	0.48
History of hypertension(%)	61 (41)	71 (48)	74 (50)	0.29
ST deviation on ECG n (%)	73 (50)	68 (46)	71 (48)	0.81
LBBB on ECG n (%)	4 (2.7)	5 (3.4)	7 (4.8)	0.63
LV ejection fraction (%)	57 (49-63)	55 (45 - 62)	52 (39 - 61)	0.001
LV Hypertrophy (%)	84 (66)	81 (71)	74 (67)	0.680
Killip class 2,3 or 4 n (%)	8 (5)	13 (9)	25 (17)	0.004
BNP (pg/mL)	81 (39-216)	152 (44-343)	239 (114-489)	<0.001

Abbreviations for table 6.1: ACS, Acute coronary syndrome; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; LBBB, left bundle branch block; LV, left ventricular.

Data presented are the number (%) of patients or median and $25^{th}/75^{th}$ IQR for continuous variables. p-values represent trends across adiponectin third

Table 6.2a Association (Odds ratio) between baseline adiponectin, 7 week adiponectin, and change in adiponectin and collective adverse outcomes of mortality, heart failure or acute coronary syndrome (n=51) within 10 months of index acute coronary syndrome events.

Adiponectin Measurement

Adjustment model	Baseline adiponectin	7 week adiponectin	Change in adiponectin		
Unadjusted	2.06 (0.92-4.63)	2.19 (0.79 - 6.08)	5.42 (2.78 - 10.55)		
Classical risk factors	1.63 (0.54 - 4.93)	1.31 (0.33 - 5.27)	3.99 (1.79 - 8.92)		
Classical risk factors +	1.18 (0.38 - 3.64)	-	-		
baseline BNP					
Classical risk factors + 7 week	-	0.74 (0.17 - 3.28)	-		
BNP					
Classical risk factors and	-	-	3.17 (1.29 - 7.78)		
change in BNP					

ORs for adiponectin and BNP are for 1 log unit increase in the patient population.

Classical risk factors = Age, sex, BMI, pre-existing hypertension, pre-existing diabetes mellitus, Killip class 2,3 or 4, ST deviation, left bundle branch block, log troponin on admission, CKD stages 3, 4 or 5, left ventricular systolic dysfunction, smoking status, haemoglobin on admission, total and HDL cholesterol concentrations.

Table 6.2b Association (Odds ratio) between baseline BNP, 7 week BNP, and change in BNP and collective adverse outcomes of mortality, heart failure or acute coronary syndrome (n=51) within 10 months of index acute coronary syndrome events.

BNP Measurement

Adjustment model	Baseline BNP	7 week BNP	Change in BNP		
Unadjusted	4.29 (2.59 - 7.11)	6.73 (3.33 - 13.60)	2.33 (1.13 - 4.82)		
Classical risk factors	2.83 (1.35 - 5.92)	6.54 (2.49 - 17.21)	3.07 (1.25 - 7.53)		
Classical risk factors + baseline	3.26 (1.54 - 6.91)	-	-		
adiponectin					
Classical risk factors + 7 week	-	6.84 (2.54 - 18.45)	-		
adiponectin					

ORs for adiponectin and BNP are for 1 log unit increase in the patient population.

Classical risk factors = Age, sex, BMI, pre-existing hypertension, pre-existing diabetes mellitus, Killip class 2,3 or 4, ST deviation, left bundle branch block, log troponin on admission, CKD stages 3, 4 or 5, left ventricular systolic dysfunction, smoking status haemoglobin on admission, total and HDL cholesterol concentrations.

Figure titles

Figure 6.1 (a&b): Dot-plots of the untransformed overall change in adiponectin and BNP between baseline observations and follow-up observations 7 weeks later in the patient group.

Figure 6.2: Correlation of change from baseline at 7 weeks follow-up for adiponectin and B-type natriuretic peptide. Delta values represent (log follow-up value - log baseline value) for both adiponectin and BNP.

Figure 6.1a



Figure 6.1b



Figure 6.2



6.4 Discussion

A journal article has been published on these findings in Clinical Science London (Ang et al, 2009) and includes the following contributing authors: Ang DS, Welsh P, Watt P, Nelson SM, Struthers A, Sattar N (included in this thesis in appendix 4).

To our knowledge, this is the first study to date to examine the association of circulating adiponectin and BNP with risk of poor outcome in a group of ACS patients where serial measurements have been made. Importantly, an increase in adiponectin 7 weeks after admission was more strongly associated with risk of adverse outcome than a single measure at either time point - in other words, if adiponectin levels increased, adverse event risk was greater, whereas the absolute levels of adiponectin at either time point were less important. In contrast, 7 week BNP measurement was more strongly associated with risk, superior to both baseline and change in BNP measurements. In terms of independent risk prediction, the strongest marker of risk of adverse events was 7 week BNP, which was associated with risk independently of change in adiponectin. Finally, although the patterns of risk associations of these markers are different, these data allow us to show that following index admission for ACS, BNP and adiponectin associate with each other at baseline, at follow up, and that change in both markers also correlate (ρ =0.39, p<0.001). Our finding of a positive correlation between baseline circulating BNP and adiponectin, although apparently paradoxical on the basis of presumed functions of adiponectin, was an expected result based on previous findings in similar patient groups (Nakamura et al, 2006; McEntegart et al, 2007; Tsutamoto et al, 2007; Kistorp et al, 2005; George et al, 2006; Cavusoglu et al, 2006; von Eynatten et al, 2006; Tanaka et al, 2008; Schnabel et al, 2008). Our finding that 7 week BNP is more strongly related to adverse outcome than BNP at admission is in agreement with a recent study in 157 CHF patients, where discharge BNP was shown to be strongly associated with poor outcome (Cournot et al, 2008). We do not propose that our results definitively answer the question of whether circulating BNP and adiponectin are or are not clinically useful in prognosis of ACS. Rather, our results may give insight into the pathophysiology behind increased risk of ACS recurrence,

CHF, or death following an index ACS event. Our results are suggestive of an interesting and potentially important pathphysiological pathway which links an increase in adiponectin to adverse prognosis in a manner not independent of BNP. Although an observational study cannot imply a causal link, it is interesting to speculate on the potential relationship of adiponectin and BNP following ACS. We found that absolute levels of BNP at 7 weeks were the strongest predictor of prognosis. This makes sense, since levels of BNP following the settling of acute phase response and/or changes in clinical therapies after an event will better represent long-term cardiac /vascular status, and therefore subsequent risk. In contrast to BNP, increasing levels of adiponectin following index ACS admittance were potentially more strongly related to risk than baseline or 7 week adiponectin, and yet this relationship was partially dependant on 7 week BNP in multivariable models. This may be suggestive of some association between progressive disease severity and changes in adiponectin (as measured by follow-up BNP). The Atherogene investigators have very recently shown that the relationship of baseline adiponectin with risk of death or non-fatal MI in a group of coronary artery disease patients is confounded by associations with BNP (Schnabel et al, 2008). Our observations now extend this observation to show that the two parameters also change in parallel post ACS, such that the risk associations of adiponectin with risk are dependent on BNP. This provides evidence that there may be a direct or indirect link between high post ACS BNP and a rise in adiponectin in those at greatest risk of poor outcome. If there is a link between the two parameters, are there any clues to mechanisms? Natriuretic peptides may directly stimulate higher adiponectin levels since a novel lipolytic and potential lipid-mobilising effect of natriuretic peptides has been identified (Sengenes et al, 2000). These actions appear to be mediated by specific adipocyte membrane receptors, which operate via a cGMP-dependent pathway and they may indirectly stimulate adiponectin production (Sengenes et al, 2000). Furthermore, infusion of atrial natriuretic peptide (carperitide) in patients with heart failure leads to increased adiponectin plasma levels (Tanaka et al, 2008). Alternatively, $TNF\alpha$ (among other pro-inflammatory cytokines) has been suggested to inhibit adiponectin expression in tissue from healthy subjects (Bruun et al, 2003; Wang et al, 2006), but perhaps not in obese subjects (Degawa-Yamauchi et al, 2005). TNF α is known to be elevated

in conditions such as CHF and ACS (Mizia-Stec et al, 2003), and hence, speculatively, the inhibitory signal may also be lost in such patients. A recent attempt at explaining the physiology behind the reverse epidemiology of adiponectin in patients with ACS and CHF has been made, with the authors suggesting that elevated levels of adiponectin in these cases represent an attempt at counter-regulation of systemic inflammation (Rathmann et al, 2000). Although this is a possibility, the additional possible direct cardioprotective and metabolic roles of adiponectin in ACS and CHF should not be overlooked. Importantly, adiponectin may directly reduce oxidative ischemiareperfusion injury (Shibata et al, 2005; Tao et al, 2007; Gonon et al, 2008), perhaps alluding to a mechanism whereby elevated BNP, in response to cardiac injury, induces an adiponectin-mediated cardio-protective response. Interestingly, this may also be true in silent ischaemia since others have suggested elevations in BNP may also occur in silent ischaemia (Rana et al, 2006; Struthers et al, 2007), an observation potentially explaining why it is a better marker than simple echo measures of cardiac dysfunction. Additionally, from a metabolic viewpoint, ACS and CHF are often considered to be insulin resistant states, although individuals who are insulin resistant without cardiovascular complications would be expected to have low levels of adiponectin. As we recently suggested (McEntegart, 2007), high levels of adiponectin in those with ACS and CHF may be a reflection of a salvage mechanism to improve insulin resistance and fatty acid oxidation, perhaps at a cost of cachexia in some cases. Regardless of mechanisms, greater cardiac disease severity may lead to a greater cardiological and metabolic salvage attempt and thus higher adiponectin levels. Alternatively, our speculation may be misguided and adiponectin may just be a passive marker of other physiological processes, its actions inhibited by peripheral "adiponectin resistance." Limitations of the study require consideration. The group of 442 ACS patients went on to have 90 endpoint events, and follow-up measures are based on 51 events in 338 patients, which represents a relatively low power for the study and we cannot discount the possibility of type II errors. Nevertheless, our data on baseline associations of adiponectin with age and female gender (Balion et al, 2008) as well as with BNP (Nakamura et al, 2006; McEntegart et al, 2007; Tsutamoto et al, 2007; Kistorp et al, 2005; George et al, 2006; Cavusoglu et al, 2006; von Eynatten et al, 2006; Tanaka et al, 2008;

Schnabel et al, 2008), and the link to endpoints (Schnabel et al, 2008; Cournot et al, 2008; Vorovich et al, 2008), is consistent with the literature and suggest results are externally valid. Further larger studies with serial measures are required to confirm and expand on the potential mechanistic relationships of adiponectin, BNP, and cardiac stress. In this study we do not focus on the potential clinical utility of any measure of adiponectin or BNP in the ACS clinical setting, but on pathophysiological changes in ACS which may instruct further clinical studies.

Of additional interest, the use of genetics (e.g. Mendelian randomisation) may help tease out the whether adiponectin is protective, harmful, or passive for vascular risk for a variety of patient/cohort groups. In conclusion, we have shown for first time by using serial measurements that an increase in plasma adiponectin after ACS is strongly related to risk of adverse outcome, but that this relationship is not independent of BNP levels. Taken together with evidence of apparently paradoxical correlations of adiponectin and BNP at baseline, follow-up, and in overall change following ACS, our results allude to a potential direct or indirect relationship between adiponectin and BNP post-ACS that requires further investigation.

Chapter VII: Discussion

Adiponectin has become a popular molecule for investigation in the ongoing search for novel risk markers of diseases associated with the metabolic syndrome. It displays insulin sensitising properties as well as having apparent anti-inflammatory functions. Although it is predominantly released from fat cells, its levels are reduced in obese individuals, and the hypothesis is that mechanisms associated with insulin resistance, such as inflammation or altered adipocyte morphology may be the reason for this. Since the first description of the molecule in 1995, the precise role this adipokine plays in the onset of disease has been difficult to determine, making it such an exciting molecule for investigation.

Many prospective studies have been carried out to determine the role adiponectin plays in health and disease, but few have considered the laboratory aspects. This thesis has tested adiponectin's robustness in laboratories and it's associations with CVD using prospective studies. The results have shed new insights of potential relevance. The content of this thesis has highlighted the importance of considering pre-analytical (Results summarised in table 7.1) and practical variables in large epidemiological and clinical studies. I have shown that one measurement of adiponectin is sufficient for use in large epidemiological studies. The reproducibility in measurement of this molecule is good and the biological variation is minimal compared to some of the other inflammatory cytokines. From our studies, freeze/thaw cycles do not affect adiponectin concentrations; we recommend further investigation on this. Results from studies involving varied blood processing times and temperatures revealed no significant difference in samples left un-separated at both room temperature $(23^{\circ}C-25^{\circ}C)$ and in the cold room $(4^{\circ}C-7^{\circ}C)$ for up to 6 days. I have validated the use of citrated plasma samples on a commercial ELISA (R&D systems adiponectin assay) in our lab, and have also shown that 3 adiponectin ELISA kits developed by different suppliers correlate well with one another. This is important for the comparison of results between studies that have employed different commercial kits for adiponectin analysis, although some absolute differences suggest the same assay should be used throughout any individual study.

Table 7.1 Overview of pre-analytical variables for total and HMW adiponectin measurement.

	Sample Type		Accuracy		Sample Processing			Freeze	Freeze-thaw	
	Use in Serum?	Use in Plasma?	Intra Assay CV	Inter Assay CV	Absolute Values Stal	Co Dle?	orrelations Stable?	Absolute Values Stable?	Correlations Stable?	R Coefficient (95% CI)
					Fridge Bench Fridge Bench		(Pilot study/ I	(Pilot study/ larger study)		
Total Adiponectin	+	+*	< 5%	< 7%	+	+ +	+ +	+/-	+/+	0.99 (0.98 - 1.00)
	_		. E0/ [†]		2		, , , ,	(Only tested or	n pilot study)	0.07 (0.78 4.48) *
	+	+	< 5%'	< 0%'	:	<u>؛</u> ؛	؛ ؛	+	+	0.90 (0.78-1.18)

* Also validated in this thesis (chapter 4.2) for use with Citrate Plasma

† Data taken from ALPCO Diagnostics SOP for the quantitative, selective determination of high, middle and total molecular weight adiponectin in human serum or plasma

‡ Data taken from Sattar et al, 2008

With regards to the clinical studies, our published work as presented in detail herein has shown that:

- I. HMW adiponectin is not predictive of CHD events.
- II. Adiponectin change post ACS correlates with change in BNP and elevations in both parameters predict incident events, with BNP associations potentially mediating adiponectin's link to incident events.

This work therefore extends current knowledge on both laboratory aspects of adiponectin and its associations with vascular disease, although of course, I have not examined causal mechanisms but merely reported associations.

Further work

- Ideally it would be useful to extend on our laboratory data by validating the ALPCO HMW adiponectin ELISA against the gold standard method (ultracentrifugation) on a large set of samples (Ideally n>100) to confirm our findings.
- Further work is required to examine the relationship between HMW adiponectin and CHD. Although our study found no link between HMW adiponectin and risk of incident vascular events, a larger prospective study (therefore offering more statistical power) is needed to confirm our findings.
- 3. Although research into not mentioned in this thesis, it is still very important to note that underlying genes may be responsible for the relationships reported in several studies. Whether future studies using genetic variations in adiponectin concentrations help determine causal pathways, remains to be proven.

List of References

Ahima RS. Central actions of adipocyte hormones. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2005 Sep;16(7):307-13.

Ahima RS, Osei SY. Adipokines in obesity. Front Horm Res. 2008;36:182-97.

Ang DS, Welsh P, Watt P, Nelson SM, Struthers A, Sattar N. Serial changes in adiponectin and BNP in ACS patients: paradoxical associations with each other and with prognosis. Clin Sci (Lond). 2009 Jul;117(1):41-8.

Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Takahashi M, Maeda K, Miyagawa J, et al. Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999 Apr 2;257(1):79-83.

Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Maeda K, Kuriyama H, Okamoto Y, Kumada M, Hotta K, Nishida M, Takahashi M, Nakamura T, Shimomura I, Muraguchi M, Ohmoto Y, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y. Adipocyte-derived plasma protein adiponectin acts as a platelet-derived growth factor-BB-binding protein and regulates growth factor-induced common postreceptor signal in vascular smooth muscle cell. Circulation 2002 June105:2893-2898.

Aviram M, Rosenblat M. Phospholipase A2 and phospholipase D are involved in macrophage NADPH oxidase-mediated oxidation of low density lipoprotein. Isr J Med Sci. 1996 Sep;32(9):749-56.

Balion CM, Santaguida P, McKelvie R, Hill SA, McQueen MJ, Worster A, et al. Physiological, pathological, pharmacological, biochemical and hematological factors affecting BNP and NT-proBNP. Clin Biochem. 2008 Mar;41(4-5):231-9.

Berg AH, Combs TP, Du X, Brownlee M, Scherer PE. The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. Nat Med. 2001 Aug;7(8):947-53.

Bhopal R. Epidemic of cardiovascular disease in South Asians. BMJ. 2002 Mar 16;324(7338):625-6.

Bluher M, Brennan AM, Kelesidis T, Kratzsch J, Fasshauer M, Kralisch S, et al. Total and high-molecular weight adiponectin in relation to metabolic variables at baseline and in response to an exercise treatment program: comparative evaluation of three assays. Diabetes Care. 2007 Feb;30(2):280-5.

Boden G, Cheung P, Mozzoli M, Fried SK. Effect of thiazolidinediones on glucose and fatty acid metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes. Metabolism. 2003 Jun;52(6):753-9.

Brand K, Page S, Rogler G, Bartsch A, Brandl R, Knuechel R, et al. Activated transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B is present in the atherosclerotic lesion. J Clin Invest. 1996 Apr 1;97(7):1715-22.

Bruun JM, Lihn AS, Verdich C, Pedersen SB, Toubro S, Astrup A, et al. Regulation of adiponectin by adipose tissue-derived cytokines: in vivo and in vitro investigations in humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2003 Sep;285(3):E527-33.

Caixas A, Gimenez-Palop O, Gimenez-Perez G, Potau N, Berlanga E, Gonzalez-Glemente JM, et al. Postprandial adiponectin levels are unlikely to contribute to the pathogenesis of obesity in Prader-Willi syndrome. Horm Res. 2006;65(1):39-45.

Cavusoglu E, Ruwende C, Chopra V, Yanamadala S, Eng C, Clark LT, et al. Adiponectin is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality, cardiac mortality, and myocardial infarction in patients presenting with chest pain. Eur Heart J. 2006 Oct;27(19):2300-9.

Chang CC, Noll WW, Nutile-McMenemy N, Lindsay EA, Baldini A, Chang W, Chang TY. Localization of acyl coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase gene to human chromosome 1q25. Somat Cell Mol Genet. 1994 Jan;20(1):71-4. Chastin SF, Dall PM, Tigbe WW, Grant MP, Ryan CG, Rafferty D, et al. Compliance with physical activity guidelines in a group of UK-based postal workers using an objective monitoring technique. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2009 Aug;106(6):893-9.

Chen R, Liang F, Moriya J, Yamakawa JI, Takahashi T, Shen L, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) and their agonists for hypertension and heart failure: Are the reagents beneficial or harmful? Int J Cardiol. 2008 Jun 25.

Clerico A, Emdin M. Diagnostic accuracy and prognostic relevance of the measurement of cardiac natriuretic peptides: a review. Clin Chem. 2004 Jan;50(1):33-50.

Cnop M, Havel PJ, Utzschneider KM, Carr DB, Sinha MK, Boyko EJ, et al. Relationship of adiponectin to body fat distribution, insulin sensitivity and plasma lipoproteins: evidence for independent roles of age and sex. Diabetologia. 2003 Apr;46(4):459-69.

Combs TP, Berg AH, Obici S, Scherer PE, Rossetti L. Endogenous glucose production is inhibited by the adipose-derived protein Acrp30. J Clin Invest. 2001 Dec;108(12):1875-81.

Costacou T, Zgibor JC, Evans RW, Otvos J, Lopes-Virella MF, Tracy RP, et al. The prospective association between adiponectin and coronary artery disease among individuals with type 1 diabetes. The Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. Diabetologia. 2005 Jan;48(1):41-8.

Cournot M, Mourre F, Castel F, Ferrieres J, Destrac S. Optimization of the use of B-type natriuretic peptide levels for risk stratification at discharge in elderly patients with decompensated heart failure. Am Heart J. 2008 Jun;155(6):986-91.

Daimon M, Oizumi T, Saitoh T, Kameda W, Hirata A, Yamaguchi H, et al. Decreased serum levels of adiponectin are a risk factor for the progression to type 2 diabetes in the Japanese Population: the Funagata study. Diabetes Care. 2003 Jul;26(7):2015-20.

Danesh J, Wheeler JG, Hirschfield GM, Eda S, Eiriksdottir G, Rumley A, et al. C-reactive protein and other circulating markers of inflammation in the prediction of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med. 2004 Apr 1;350(14):1387-97.

Degawa-Yamauchi M, Moss KA, Bovenkerk JE, Shankar SS, Morrison CL, Lelliott CJ, et al. Regulation of adiponectin expression in human adipocytes: effects of adiposity, glucocorticoids, and tumor necrosis factor alpha. Obes Res. 2005 Apr;13(4):662-9.

Dekker JM, Funahashi T, Nijpels G, Pilz S, Stehouwer CD, Snijder MB, et al. Prognostic value of adiponectin for cardiovascular disease and mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Apr;93(4):1489-96.

Devereux RB, Casale PN, Kligfield P, Eisenberg RR, Miller D, Campo E, et al. Performance of primary and derived M-mode echocardiographic measurements for detection of left ventricular hypertrophy in necropsied subjects and in patients with systemic hypertension, mitral regurgitation and dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol. 1986 Jun 1;57(15):1388-93.

Dupont J, Chabrolle C, Ram´e C, Tosca L, Coyral-Castel S. Role of the Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors, Adenosine Monophosphate-Activated Kinase, and Adiponectin in the Ovary. PPAR Research Volume 2008, Article ID 176275, doi:10.1155/2008/176275

EarlyBird Study

http://www.earlybirddiabetes.org/ Website accessed: Nov 2009 Ebinuma H, Miyazaki O, Yago H, Hara K, Yamauchi T, Kadowaki T. A novel ELISA system for selective measurement of human adiponectin multimers by using proteases. Clin Chim Acta. 2006 Oct;372(1-2):47-53.

Elortza F, Nuhse TS, Foster LJ, Stensballe A, Peck SC, Jensen ON. Proteomic analysis of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane proteins. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2003 Dec;2(12):1261-70. Emberson J, Whincup P, Morris R, Walker M, Ebrahim S. Evaluating the impact of population and high-risk strategies for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Eur Heart J. 2004 Mar;25(6):484-91.

Ernst E MA, Scherer A, Schmidlechner CH, Monshausen CH. Methodological and intraindividual variations in some hemorheological tests. Clin Hemorheol. 1985;5:511-4.

Ferris WF, Naran NH, Crowther NJ, Rheeder P, van der Merwe L, Chetty N. The relationship between insulin sensitivity and serum adiponectin levels in three population groups. Horm Metab Res. 2005 Nov;37(11):695-701.

Fisher FF, Trujillo ME, Hanif W, Barnett AH, McTernan PG, Scherer PE, et al. Serum high molecular weight complex of adiponectin correlates better with glucose tolerance than total serum adiponectin in Indo-Asian males. Diabetologia. 2005 Jun;48(6):1084-7.

Fleiss J. The design and analysis of clinical experiments. New York: Wiley; 1986.

Forest C, Tordjman J, Glorian M, Duplus E, Chauvet G, Quette J, et al. Fatty acid recycling in adipocytes: a role for glyceroneogenesis and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase. Biochem Soc Trans. 2003 Dec;31(Pt 6):1125-9. **Forouhi NG, Sattar N, McKeigue PM.** Relation of C-reactive protein to body fat distribution and features of the metabolic syndrome in Europeans and South Asians. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2001 Sep;25(9):1327-31.

Fourlanos S, Varney MD, Tait BD, Morahan G, Honeyman MC, Colman PG, et al. The rising incidence of type 1 diabetes is accounted for by cases with lower-risk human leukocyte antigen genotypes. Diabetes Care. 2008 Aug;31(8):1546-9.

Frei B. Cardiovascular disease and nutrient antioxidants: role of low-density lipoprotein oxidation. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 1995 Jan;35(1-2):83-98.

Fruebis J, Tsao TS, Javorschi S, Ebbets-Reed D, Erickson MR, Yen FT, et al. Proteolytic cleavage product of 30-kDa adipocyte complement-related protein increases fatty acid oxidation in muscle and causes weight loss in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Feb 13;98(4):2005-10.

George J, Patal S, Wexler D, Sharabi Y, Peleg E, Kamari Y, et al. Circulating adiponectin concentrations in patients with congestive heart failure. Heart. 2006 Oct;92(10):1420-4.

Gervois P, Fruchart JC, Staels B. Drug Insight: mechanisms of action and therapeutic applications for agonists of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Feb;3(2):145-56.

Gonon AT, Widegren U, Bulhak A, Salehzadeh F, Persson J, Sjoquist PO, et al. Adiponectin protects against myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury via AMP-activated protein kinase, Akt, and nitric oxide. Cardiovasc Res. 2008 Apr 1;78(1):116-22.

Green D, McMahon B, Foiles N, Tian L. Measurement of hemostatic factors in EDTA plasma. Am J Clin Pathol. 2008 Nov;130(5):811-5.

Gualillo O, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Lago F. The emerging role of adipokines as mediators of cardiovascular function: physiologic and clinical perspectives. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2007 Nov;17(8):275-83.

Halperin F, Beckman JA, Patti ME, Trujillo ME, Garvin M, Creager MA, et al. The role of total and high-molecular-weight complex of adiponectin in vascular function in offspring whose parents both had type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2005 Oct;48(10):2147-54.

Han JK, Lee HS, Yang HM, Hur J, Jun SI, Kim JY, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-delta agonist enhances vasculogenesis by regulating endothelial progenitor cells through genomic and nongenomic activations of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway. Circulation. 2008 Sep 2;118(10):1021-33.

Hara K, Horikoshi M, Yamauchi T, Yago H, Miyazaki O, Ebinuma H, et al. Measurement of the high-molecular weight form of adiponectin in plasma is useful for the prediction of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care. 2006 Jun;29(6):1357-62.

Harris EK, Yasaka T. On the calculation of a "reference change" for comparing two consecutive measurements. Clin Chem. 1983 Jan;29(1):25-30.

Hu E, Liang P, Spiegelman BM. AdipoQ is a novel adipose-specific gene dysregulated in obesity. J Biol Chem. 1996 May 3;271(18):10697-703.

Hug C, Wang J, Ahmad NS, Bogan JS, Tsao TS, Lodish HF. T-cadherin is a receptor for hexameric and high-molecular-weight forms of Acrp30/adiponectin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Jul 13;101(28):10308-13.

Hulstrom V, Hojlund K, Vinten J, Beck-Nielsen H, Levin K. Adiponectin and its response to thiazolidinediones are associated with insulin-mediated glucose metabolism in type 2 diabetic patients and their first-degree relatives. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2008 Feb 18. **Iniguez G, Torrealba IM, Avila A, Cassorla F, Codner E.** Adiponectin serum levels and their relationships to androgen concentrations and ovarian volume during puberty in girls with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Horm Res. 2008;70(2):112-7.

Iqbal O. Endocannabinoid System and Pathophysiology of Adipogenesis: Regulation, Function & Dysregulation of Endocannabinoids. Personalized Medicine. 2007;4(3):307-319.

Jalovaara K, Santaniemi M, Timonen M, Jokelainen J, Kesaniemi YA, Ukkola O, et al. Low serum adiponectin level as a predictor of impaired glucose regulation and type 2 diabetes mellitus in a middle-aged Finnish population. Metabolism. 2008 Aug;57(8):1130-4.

Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors. Endocr Rev. 2005 May;26(3):439-51.

Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T, Kubota N, Hara K, Ueki K, Tobe K. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors in insulin resistance, diabetes, and the metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest. 2006 Jul;116(7):1784-92.

Kimberley FC, Screaton GR. Following a TRAIL: update on a ligand and its five receptors. Cell Res. 2004 Oct;14(5):359-72.

Kistorp C, Faber J, Galatius S, Gustafsson F, Frystyk J, Flyvbjerg A, et al. Plasma adiponectin, body mass index, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation. 2005 Sep 20;112(12):1756-62. Kizer JR, Barzilay JI, Kuller LH, Gottdiener JS. Adiponectin and risk of coronary heart disease in older men and women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Sep;93(9):3357-64.

Kobayashi H, Ouchi N, Kihara S, Walsh K, Kumada M, Abe Y, et al. Selective suppression of endothelial cell apoptosis by the high molecular weight form of adiponectin. Circ Res. 2004 Mar 5;94(4):e27-31.

Koenig W, Khuseyinova N, Baumert J, Meisinger C, Lowel H. Serum concentrations of adiponectin and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease in apparently healthy middle-aged men: results from the 18-year follow-up of a large cohort from southern Germany. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006 Oct 3;48(7):1369-77.

Krentz AJ, Friedmann PS. Type 2 diabetes, psoriasis and thiazolidinediones. Int J Clin Pract. 2006 Mar;60(3):362-3.

Kumar CKA. Oral hypoglycemic agents for treatment of Type-II Diabetes Mellitus: A Review. www.Pharmainfo.net, Recent Pharmaceautical Reviews. 2008. Vol. 6 Issue 1.

Lacher DA, Hughes JP, Carroll MD. Estimate of biological variation of laboratory analytes based on the third national health and nutrition examination survey. Clin Chem. 2005 Feb;51(2):450-2.

Lafontan M, Viguerie N. Role of adipokines in the control of energy metabolism: focus on adiponectin. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2006 Dec;6(6):580-5.

Lang RM, Bierig M, Devereux RB, Flachskampf FA, Foster E, Pellikka PA, et al. Recommendations for chamber quantification: a report from the American Society of Echocardiography's Guidelines and Standards Committee and the Chamber Quantification Writing Group, developed in conjunction with the European Association of Echocardiography, a branch of the European Society of Cardiology. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2005 Dec;18(12):1440-63.

Lau SM, Hng TM, de Vries B, McLean M, Cheung NW. Sexual dimorphism of high molecular weight adiponectin in cord blood. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2008 Aug 15.

Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor E, May S, Langenberg C. Association of adiponectin with coronary heart disease and mortality: the Rancho Bernardo study. Am J Epidemiol. 2007 Jan 15;165(2):164-74. Lawlor DA, Davey Smith G, Ebrahim S, Thompson C, Sattar N. Plasma adiponectin levels are associated with insulin resistance, but do not predict future risk of coronary heart disease in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005 Oct;90(10):5677-83.

Lawlor DA, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G. The association between components of adult height and Type II diabetes and insulin resistance: British Women's Heart and Health Study. Diabetologia. 2002 Aug;45(8):1097-106. Lindsay RS, Funahashi T, Hanson RL, Matsuzawa Y, Tanaka S, Tataranni PA, et al. Adiponectin and development of type 2 diabetes in the Pima Indian population. Lancet. 2002 Jul 6;360(9326):57-8.

Li S, Shin HJ, Ding EL, van Dam RM. Adiponectin levels and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2009 Jul 8;302(2):179-88

Lindsay RS, Resnick HE, Zhu J, Tun ML, Howard BV, Zhang Y, et al. Adiponectin and coronary heart disease: the Strong Heart Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005 Mar;25(3):e15-6.

Lu JY, Huang KC, Chang LC, Huang YS, Chi YC, Su TC, et al. Adiponectin: a biomarker of obesity-induced insulin resistance in adipose tissue and beyond. J Biomed Sci. 2008 Sep;15(5):565-76.

Maeda K, Okubo K, Shimomura I, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y, Matsubara K. cDNA cloning and expression of a novel adipose specific collagen-like factor, apM1 (AdiPose Most abundant Gene transcript 1). Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1996 Apr 16;221(2):286-9.

Magkos F, Sidossis LS. Recent advances in the measurement of adiponectin isoform distribution. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2007 Sep;10(5):571-5.

McEntegart MB, Awede B, Petrie MC, Sattar N, Dunn FG, MacFarlane NG, et al.

Increase in serum adiponectin concentration in patients with heart failure and cachexia: relationship with leptin, other cytokines, and B-type natriuretic peptide. Eur Heart J. 2007 Apr;28(7):829-35.

McKeigue PM, Shah B, Marmot MG. Relation of central obesity and insulin resistance with high diabetes prevalence and cardiovascular risk in South Asians. Lancet. 1991 Feb 16;337(8738):382-6.

MHRA website for GLP regulations

http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Inspectionandstandards /GoodLaboratoryPractice/index.htm Website last modified and checked: 4 August 2010

Miyazaki Y, Mahankali A, Wajcberg E, Bajaj M, Mandarino LJ, DeFronzo RA. Effect of pioglitazone on circulating adipocytokine levels and insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004 Sep;89(9):4312-9.

Mizia-Stec K, Gasior Z, Zahorska-Markiewicz B, Janowska J, Szulc A, Jastrzebska-Maj E, et al. Serum tumour necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-2 and interleukin-10 activation in stable angina and acute coronary syndromes. Coron Artery Dis. 2003 Sep;14(6):431-8.

Morrison LK, Harrison A, Krishnaswamy P, Kazanegra R, Clopton P, Maisel A. Utility of a rapid B-natriuretic peptide assay in differentiating congestive heart failure from lung disease in patients presenting with dyspnea. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002 Jan 16;39(2):202-9.

Murphy MJ, Hosking J, Metcalf BS, Voss LD, Jeffery AN, Sattar N, et al. Distribution of adiponectin, leptin, and metabolic correlates of insulin resistance: a longitudinal study in British children; 1: Prepuberty (EarlyBird 15). Clin Chem. 2008 Aug;54(8):1298-306. Nakamura T, Funayama H, Kubo N, Yasu T, Kawakami M, Saito M, et al. Association of hyperadiponectinemia with severity of ventricular dysfunction in congestive heart failure. Circ J. 2006 Dec;70(12):1557-62.

Nakano Y, Tobe T, Choi-Miura NH, Mazda T, Tomita M. Isolation and characterization of GBP28, a novel gelatin-binding protein purified from human plasma. J Biochem. 1996 Oct;120(4):803-12.

Nakashima R, Kamei N, Yamane K, Nakanishi S, Nakashima A, Kohno N. Decreased total and high molecular weight adiponectin are independent risk factors for the development of type 2 diabetes in Japanese-Americans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006 Oct;91(10):3873-7.

Okamoto Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Nishida M, Arita Y, Kumada M, et al. Adiponectin reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2002 Nov 26;106(22):2767-70.

Ouchi N, Kihara S, Arita Y, Okamoto Y, Maeda K, Kuriyama H, et al. Adiponectin, an adipocyte-derived plasma protein, inhibits endothelial NFkappaB signaling through a cAMP-dependent pathway. Circulation. 2000 Sep 12;102(11):1296-301.

Ouchi N, Shibata R, Walsh K. Cardioprotection by adiponectin. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2006 Jul;16(5):141-6.

Ouchi N, Walsh K. Adiponectin as an anti-inflammatory factor. Clin Chim Acta. 2007 May 1;380(1-2):24-30.

Ouchi N, Walsh K. A novel role for adiponectin in the regulation of inflammation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008 Jul;28(7):1219-21.

Otto C, Otto B, Göke B, Pfeiffer AF, Lehrke M, Vogeser M, Spranger J, Parhofer KG. Increase in adiponectin levels during pioglitazone therapy in relation to glucose control, insulin resistance as well as ghrelin and resistin levels. J Endocrinol Invest. 2006 Mar;29(3):231-6. Pajvani UB, Hawkins M, Combs TP, Rajala MW, Doebber T, Berger JP, et al. Complex distribution, not absolute amount of adiponectin, correlates with thiazolidinedione-mediated improvement in insulin sensitivity. J Biol Chem. 2004 Mar 26;279(13):12152-62.

Panigrahy D, Singer S, Shen LQ, Butterfield CE, Freedman DA, Chen EJ, et al. PPARgamma ligands inhibit primary tumor growth and metastasis by inhibiting angiogenesis. J Clin Invest. 2002 Oct;110(7):923-32.
Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Baker MB, Hecht R, Winters D, Boone T, et al. Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. Science. 1995 Jul 28;269(5223):540-3.

Phillips SA, Ciaraldi TP, Kong AP, Bandukwala R, Aroda V, Carter L, et al. Modulation of circulating and adipose tissue adiponectin levels by antidiabetic therapy. Diabetes. 2003 Mar;52(3):667-74.

Pischon T, Girman CJ, Hotamisligil GS, Rifai N, Hu FB, Rimm EB. Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men. JAMA. 2004 Apr 14;291(14):1730-7.

Pischon T, Hotamisligil GS, Rimm EB. Adiponectin: stability in plasma over 36 hours and within-person variation over 1 year. Clin Chem. 2003 Apr;49(4):650-2.

Plump AS, Smith JD, Hayek T, Aalto-Setala K, Walsh A, Verstuyft JG, et al. Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. Cell. 1992 Oct 16;71(2):343-53.

Punthakee Z, Delvin EE, O'Loughlin J, Paradis G, Levy E, Platt RW, et al. Adiponectin, adiposity, and insulin resistance in children and adolescents. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006 Jun;91(6):2119-25. Rana BS, Davies JI, Band MM, Pringle SD, Morris A, Struthers AD. B-type natriuretic peptide can detect silent myocardial ischaemia in asymptomatic type 2 diabetes. Heart. 2006 Jul;92(7):916-20.

Rathmann W, Haastert B, Herder C, Hauner H, Koenig W, Meisinger C, et al. Differential association of adiponectin with cardiovascular risk markers in men and women? The KORA survey 2000. Int J Obes (Lond). 2007 May;31(5):770-6.

Retnakaran R, Connelly PW, Maguire G, Sermer M, Zinman B, Hanley AJ. Decreased high-molecular-weight adiponectin in gestational diabetes: implications for the pathophysiology of Type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med. 2007 Mar;24(3):245-52.

Retnakaran R, Hanley AJ, Connelly PW, Maguire G, Sermer M, Zinman B. Low serum levels of high-molecular weight adiponectin in Indo-Asian women during pregnancy: evidence of ethnic variation in adiponectin isoform distribution. Diabetes Care. 2006 Jun;29(6):1377-9.

Retnakaran R, Hanley AJ, Raif N, Connelly PW, Sermer M, Zinman B. Hypoadiponectinaemia in South Asian women during pregnancy: evidence of ethnic variation in adiponectin concentration. Diabet Med. 2004 Apr;21(4):388-92.

Russell TR, Ho R. Conversion of 3T3 fibroblasts into adipose cells: triggering of differentiation by prostaglandin F2alpha and 1-methyl-3-isobutyl xanthine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1976 Dec;73(12):4516-20.

Sattar N, Nelson SM. Adiponectin, diabetes, and coronary heart disease in older persons: unraveling the paradox. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Sep;93(9):3299-301.

Sattar N, Wannamethee G, Sarwar N, Tchernova J, Cherry L, Wallace AM, et al. Adiponectin and coronary heart disease: a prospective study and metaanalysis. Circulation. 2006 Aug 15;114(7):623-9.

Sattar N, Wannamethee SG, Forouhi NG. Novel biochemical risk factors for type 2 diabetes: pathogenic insights or prediction possibilities? Diabetologia. 2008 Jun;51(6):926-40.

Sattar N, Watt P, Cherry L, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G, Lawlor DA. High molecular weight adiponectin is not associated with incident coronary heart disease in older women: a nested prospective case-control study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 May;93(5):1846-9.

Scherer PE, Williams S, Fogliano M, Baldini G, Lodish HF. A novel serum protein similar to C1q, produced exclusively in adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 1995 Nov 10;270(45):26746-9.

Schnabel R, Messow CM, Lubos E, Espinola-Klein C, Rupprecht HJ, Bickel C, et al. Association of adiponectin with adverse outcome in coronary artery disease patients: results from the AtheroGene study. Eur Heart J. 2008 Mar;29(5):649-57.

Schraw T, Wang ZV, Halberg N, Hawkins M, Scherer PE. Plasma adiponectin complexes have distinct biochemical characteristics. Endocrinology. 2008 May;149(5):2270-82.

Sengenes C, Berlan M, De Glisezinski I, Lafontan M, Galitzky J. Natriuretic peptides: a new lipolytic pathway in human adipocytes. FASEB J. 2000 Jul;14(10):1345-51.

Shapiro L, Scherer PE. The crystal structure of a complement-1q family protein suggests an evolutionary link to tumor necrosis factor. Current Biology. 1998 Mar; 8(6): 335-340.

Shetty S, Kusminski CM, Scherer PE. Adiponectin in health and disease: evaluation of adiponectin-targeted drug development strategies. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2009 May;30(5):234-9.

Shibata R, Sato K, Pimentel DR, Takemura Y, Kihara S, Ohashi K, et al. Adiponectin protects against myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury through AMPK- and COX-2-dependent mechanisms. Nat Med. 2005 Oct;11(10):1096-103.

Sigurdsson E, Thorgeirsson G, Sigvaldason H, Sigfusson N. Prevalence of coronary heart disease in Icelandic men 1968-1986. The Reykjavik Study. Eur Heart J. 1993 May;14(5):584-91.

Smith SA. Central role of the adipocyte in the insulin-sensitising and cardiovascular risk modifying actions of the thiazolidinediones. Biochimie. 2003 Dec;85(12):1219-30.

Spranger J, Kroke A, Mohlig M, Bergmann MM, Ristow M, Boeing H, et al. Adiponectin and protection against type 2 diabetes mellitus. Lancet. 2003 Jan 18;361(9353):226-8.

Statistics Website http://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/Service/Statistics.html Website Accessed August 2009. Website Checked 5 August 2010 by Paul Boersma.

Struthers A, Lang C. The potential to improve primary prevention in the future by using BNP/N-BNP as an indicator of silent 'pancardiac' target organ damage: BNP/N-BNP could become for the heart what microalbuminuria is for the kidney. Eur Heart J. 2007 Jul;28(14):1678-82.

Takeuchi T, Adachi Y, Ohtsuki Y, Furihata M. Adiponectin receptors, with special focus on the role of the third receptor, T-cadherin, in vascular disease. Med Mol Morphol. 2007 Sep;40(3):115-20.

Tanaka T, Tsutamoto T, Nishiyama K, Sakai H, Fujii M, Yamamoto T, et al. Impact of oxidative stress on plasma adiponectin in patients with chronic heart failure. Circ J. 2008 Apr;72(4):563-8.

Tanaka T, Tsutamoto T, Sakai H, Nishiyama K, Fujii M, Yamamoto T, et al. Effect of atrial natriuretic peptide on adiponectin in patients with heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 2008 Apr;10(4):360-6.

Tanita T, Miyakoshi H, Nakano Y. Performance of ELISA for specific measurement of high-molecular-weight (HMW) adiponectin. J Immunol Methods. 2008 Apr 20;333(1-2):139-46.

Tao L, Gao E, Jiao X, Yuan Y, Li S, Christopher TA, et al. Adiponectin cardioprotection after myocardial ischemia/reperfusion involves the reduction of oxidative/nitrative stress. Circulation. 2007 Mar 20;115(11):1408-16.

Tarquini R, Lazzeri C, Laffi G, Gensini GF. Adiponectin and the cardiovascular system: from risk to disease. Intern Emerg Med. 2007 Oct;2(3):165-76.

Tenenbaum A, Motro M, Fisman EZ. Dual and pan-peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors (PPAR) co-agonism: the bezafibrate lessons. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2005;4:14.

The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration. Major Lipids, Apolipoproteins, and Risk of Vascular Disease. JAMA. 2009; Vol 302, No. 18.

Thomson G, Valdes AM. Conditional genotype analysis: detecting secondary disease loci in linkage disequilibrium with a primary disease locus. BMC Proc. 2007;1 Suppl 1:S163.

Tilg H, Moschen AR. Adipocytokines: mediators linking adipose tissue, inflammation and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006 Oct;6(10):772-83.

Tsao TS, Murrey HE, Hug C, Lee DH, Lodish HF. Oligomerization statedependent activation of NF-kappa B signaling pathway by adipocyte complement-related protein of 30 kDa (Acrp30). J Biol Chem. 2002 Aug 16;277(33):29359-62.

Tsuchida A, Yamauchi T, Takekawa S, Hada Y, Ito Y, Maki T, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)alpha activation increases adiponectin receptors and reduces obesity-related inflammation in adipose tissue: comparison of activation of PPARalpha, PPARgamma, and their combination. Diabetes. 2005 Dec;54(12):3358-70.

Tsutamoto T, Tanaka T, Sakai H, Ishikawa C, Fujii M, Yamamoto T, et al. Total and high molecular weight adiponectin, haemodynamics, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2007 Jul;28(14):1723-30.

Valsamakis G, Chetty R, McTernan PG, Al-Daghri NM, Barnett AH, Kumar S. Fasting serum adiponectin concentration is reduced in Indo-Asian subjects and is related to HDL cholesterol. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2003 Mar;5(2):131-5.

von Eynatten M, Hamann A, Twardella D, Nawroth PP, Brenner H, Rothenbacher D. Relationship of adiponectin with markers of systemic inflammation, atherogenic dyslipidemia, and heart failure in patients with coronary heart disease. Clin Chem. 2006 May;52(5):853-9.

von Eynatten M, Hamann A, Twardella D, Nawroth PP, Brenner H, Rothenbacher D. Atherogenic dyslipidaemia but not total- and high-molecular weight adiponectin are associated with the prognostic outcome in patients with coronary heart disease. Eur Heart J. 2008 May;29(10):1307-15.

von Eynatten M, Lepper PM, Humpert PM. Total and high-molecular weight adiponectin in relation to metabolic variables at baseline and in response to an exercise treatment program: comparative evaluation of three assays: response to Bluher et al. Diabetes Care. 2007 Jul;30(7):e67; author reply e8.

Vorovich EE, Chuai S, Li M, Averna J, Marwin V, Wolfe D, et al. Comparison of matrix metalloproteinase 9 and brain natriuretic peptide as clinical biomarkers in chronic heart failure. Am Heart J. 2008 Jun;155(6):992-7.

Vozarova B, Stefan N, Lindsay RS, Krakoff J, Knowler WC, Funahashi T, et al. Low plasma adiponectin concentrations do not predict weight gain in humans. Diabetes. 2002 Oct;51(10):2964-7.

Vu V, Riddell MC, Sweeney G. Circulating adiponectin and adiponectin receptor expression in skeletal muscle: effects of exercise. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2007 Nov;23(8):600-11.

Waki H, Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Ito Y, Uchida S, Kita S, et al. Impaired multimerization of human adiponectin mutants associated with diabetes. Molecular structure and multimer formation of adiponectin. J Biol Chem. 2003 Oct 10;278(41):40352-63.

Wang B, Trayhurn P. Acute and prolonged effects of TNF-alpha on the expression and secretion of inflammation-related adipokines by human adipocytes differentiated in culture. Pflugers Arch. 2006 Jul;452(4):418-27.
Wang CH, Weisel RD, Liu PP, Fedak PWM, Verma S. Glitazones and Heart Failure - Critical Appraisal for the Clinician. Circulation. 2003;107:1350-1354

Wang CY, Mayo MW, Korneluk RG, Goeddel DV, Baldwin AS Jr. NF-kappaB antiapoptosis: induction of TRAF1 and TRAF2 and c-IAP1 and c-IAP2 to suppress caspase-8 activation. Science. 1998 Sep 11;281(5383):1680-3.

Wannamethee SG, Lowe GD, Rumley A, Cherry L, Whincup PH, Sattar N. Adipokines and risk of type 2 diabetes in older men. Diabetes Care. 2007 May;30(5):1200-5.
Wannamethee SG, Tchernova J, Whincup P, Lowe GD, Rumley A, Brown K, et al. Associations of adiponectin with metabolic and vascular risk parameters in the British Regional Heart Study reveal stronger links to insulin resistancerelated than to coronory heart disease risk-related parameters. Int J Obes (Lond). 2007 Jul;31(7):1089-98.

Wannamethee SG, Whincup PH, Lennon L, Sattar N. Circulating adiponectin levels and mortality in elderly men with and without cardiovascular disease and heart failure. Arch Intern Med. 2007 Jul 23;167(14):1510-7.

Whitehead JP, Richards AA, Hickman IJ, Macdonald GA, Prins JB. Adiponectin--a key adipokine in the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2006 May;8(3):264-80.

Wikipedia. Brain natriuretic peptide. cited; Available from: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brain_natriuretic_peptide.

Xu A, Chan KW, Hoo RL, Wang Y, Tan KC, Zhang J, et al. Testosterone selectively reduces the high molecular weight form of adiponectin by inhibiting its secretion from adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 2005 May 6;280(18):18073-80.

Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Minokoshi Y, Ito Y, Waki H, Uchida S, et al. Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. Nat Med. 2002 Nov;8(11):1288-95. Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Waki H, Imai Y, Shimozawa N, Hioki K, et al. Globular adiponectin protected ob/ob mice from diabetes and ApoE-deficient mice from atherosclerosis. J Biol Chem. 2003 Jan 24;278(4):2461-8.

Yang WS, Chuang LM. Human genetics of adiponectin in the metabolic syndrome. J Mol Med. 2006 Feb;84(2):112-21.

Yang WS, Tsou PL, Lee WJ, Tseng DL, Chen CL, Peng CC, et al. Allelespecific differential expression of a common adiponectin gene polymorphism related to obesity. J Mol Med. 2003 Jul;81(7):428-34.

Yatagai T, Nagasaka S, Taniguchi A, Fukushima M, Nakamura T, Kuroe A, et al. Hypoadiponectinemia is associated with visceral fat accumulation and insulin resistance in Japanese men with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 2003 Oct;52(10):1274-8.

Yokota T, Oritani K, Takahashi I, Ishikawa J, Matsuyama A, Ouchi N, et al. Adiponectin, a new member of the family of soluble defense collagens, negatively regulates the growth of myelomonocytic progenitors and the functions of macrophages. Blood. 2000 Sep 1;96(5):1723-32.

Yu JG, Javorschi S, Hevener AL, Kruszynska YT, Norman RA, Sinha M, et al. The effect of thiazolidinediones on plasma adiponectin levels in normal, obese, and type 2 diabetic subjects. Diabetes. 2002 Oct;51(10):2968-74.

Zhuo Q, Wang Z, Fu P, Piao J, Tian Y, Xu J, Yang X. Associations of waist circumference and body mass index with hypoadiponectinemia in older adults in major cities in China. Wei Sheng Yan Jiu. 2009 Sep;38(5):558-61.

APPENDICES

Manufacturers and suppliers of reagents, hardware and software

1. <u>Reagents and kits</u>

All R & D kits

R & D Systems Europe Ltd 19 Barton Lane Abingdon Science Park Abingdon OX14 3NB United Kingdom Tel: +44 (0) 1235 529449 Fax: +44 (0) 1235 533420 Email: info@RnDSystems.co.uk

All ALPCO Diagnostics kits

Diagenics Limited South House 3 Bond Avenue Bletchley Milton Keynes MK1 1SW United Kingdom Tel: 01908 376376 Fax: 01908 376375 Email:cs@alpco.com

Mercodia Kits

Head office in Uppsala, Sweden: Sylveniusgatan 8A SE-754 50 Uppsala, Sweden E-mail: info@mercodia.com Tel: +46 18 57 00 70 Fax: +46 18 57 00 80 Netherlands Contact: Mattias Gareskog E-mail: mattias.gareskog@mercodia.se Tel: +46 18 57 00 77

2. Equipment

Hamilton Diluter (Microlab 500 series)

Scientific Laboratory Supplies Ltd Unit 17 Coatbridge Business Centre 204 Main Street Coatbridge Lanarkshire ML5 3RB United Kingdom Tel: (01236) 431857 Fax: (01236) 431050 Email: info@scientific-labs.com

Multiskan Ascent Plate Reader and Ascent Software, Denley minimix Plateshaker and Gilson pipettes and Multichannel pipette.

Thermo Life Sciences Unit 5 The Ringway Centre Edison Road Basingstoke Hampshire RG 21 6YH Tel: (01256) 817282 Fax: (01256) 817292 Website: www.thermols.com

Blood Bottles (Vacutainers)

BD The Danby Building Edmund Halley Road, Oxford Science Park Oxford OX4 4DQ United Kingdom Tel: +44 1865 748844 Fax: +44 1865 717313 Email: bdukvacutainer@europe.bd.com Website: www.bd.com/uk

Versa max Plate reader

Molecular Devices Ltd Unit 135, Wharfedale Road Winnersh Wokingham Berkshire RG41 5RB Tel: 0118 944 8000 Fax: 0118 9448001 Website: www.moleculardevices.com

Appendix 2

Calculation of Biological CV

Total CV = Total intra-person variation (12.9%) Methodological CV = Intra-assay CV (4.07%)

Biological CV =	<u>Total CV - Methodological CV</u> 1 - Total CV
=	<u>0.129 - 0.0407</u> 1- 0.129
=	<u>0.0883</u> 0.871
=	10.14 %

Appendix 3 Kit Inserts

R&D Systems ELISA for total adiponectin determination

Mercodia ELISA for total adiponectin determination

ALPCO Diagnostics ELISA for total, HMW, MMW and LMW adiponectin determination

Quantikine[®]

Human Total Adiponectin/Acrp30 Immunoassay

Catalog Number DRP300 SRP300 PDRP300

For the quantitative determination of total human Adiponectin concentrations in cell culture supernates, serum, and plasma.

This package insert must be read in its entirety before using this product.

FOR RESEARCH USE ONLY. NOT FOR USE IN DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURES.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents Pa	age
NTRODUCTION	2
PRINCIPLE OF THE ASSAY	3
LIMITATIONS OF THE PROCEDURE	3
MATERIALS PROVIDED	4
STORAGE	5
OTHER SUPPLIES REQUIRED	5
PRECAUTIONS	5
SAMPLE COLLECTION AND STORAGE	5
SAMPLE PREPARATION	6
REAGENT PREPARATION	6
ASSAY PROCEDURE	7
ASSAY PROCEDURE SUMMARY	8
CALCULATION OF RESULTS	9
TYPICAL DATA	9
FECHNICAL HINTS	10
PRECISION.	10
RECOVERY	11
INEARITY	11
SENSITIVITY	11
CALIBRATION	12
SAMPLE VALUES	12
SPECIFICITY	13
REFERENCES	14
PLATE LAYOUT	15

MANUFACTURED AND DISTRIBUTED BY:

R&D Systems, Inc.	TELEPHONE:	(800) 343-7475
614 McKinley Place NE		(612) 379-2956
Minneapolis, MN 55413	FAX:	(612) 656-4400
United States of America	E-MAIL:	info@RnDSystems.com

DISTRIBUTED BY:

R&D Systems Europe, Ltd. 19 Barton Lane Abingdon Science Park Abingdon, OX14 3NB United Kingdom

R&D Systems China Co. Ltd. 24A1 Hua Min Empire Plaza 726 West Yan An Road Shanghai PRC 200050 TELEPHONE: FAX: E-MAIL: +44 (0)1235 529449 +44 (0)1235 533420 info@RnDSystems.co.uk

TELEPHONE: FAX: E-MAIL: +86 (21) 52380373 +86 (21) 52371001 info@RnDSystemsChina.com.cn

INTRODUCTION

Adiponectin, alternately named Adipocyte complement-related protein of 30 kDa (Acrp30), adipoQ, adipose most abundant gene transcript 1 (apM1), and gelatin-binding protein of 28 kDa (GBP28), is an adipocyte-specific, secreted protein with potential roles in glucose and lipid homeostasis. Circulating Adiponectin levels are high, accounting for approximately 0.01% of total plasma protein (1 - 4). Adiponectin contains a modular structure that includes an N-terminal collagen-like domain followed by a C-terminal globular domain with significant sequence and structural resemblance to the complement factor C1g (1, 5, 6). Although they share little sequence identity, similar three-dimensional structure and certain conserved amino acid residues suggest an evolutionary link between the C1q-like domain of Adiponectin and members of the TNF superfamily (7). Adiponectin assembles into different complexes including trimers (low molecular weight), hexamers (middle molecular weight), and higher order oligomeric structures (high molecular weight) that may affect biological activity (1, 7, 8). Adiponectin is induced during adipocyte differentiation and its secretion is stimulated by insulin (1, 9). Two receptors for Adiponectin, termed AdipoR1 and AdipoR2, have been cloned (10). Although functionally distinct from G-protein-coupled receptors, the genes encode predicted proteins containing 7 transmembrane domains. AdipoR1 is highly expressed in skeletal muscle, while AdipoR2 is primarily found in hepatic tissues.

Injection of Adiponectin into non-obese diabetic mice leads to an insulin-independent decrease in glucose levels (11). This is likely due to insulin-sensitizing effects involving Adiponectin regulation of triglyceride metabolism (11). A truncated form of Adiponectin (gAdiponectin) containing only the C-terminal globular domain has been identified in the blood, and recombinant gAdiponectin has been shown to regulate weight reduction as well as free fatty acid oxidation in mouse muscle and liver (2, 12). The full-length recombinant Adiponectin protein is apparently less potent at mediating these effects (2, 12). The mechanism underlying the role of Adiponectin in lipid oxidation may involve the regulation of expression or activity of proteins associated with triglyceride metabolism including CD36, acyl CoA oxidase, AMPK, and PPARγ (12 - 14).

Although Adiponectin-regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism in humans is less clear, similar mechanisms may also be in place (15). A negative correlation between obesity and circulating Adiponectin has been well established (6, 16, 17), and Adiponectin levels increase concomitantly with weight loss (18). Decreased Adiponectin levels are associated with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia, and patients with type-2 diabetes are reported to exhibit decreased circulating Adiponectin (19, 20). Thiazolidinediones, a class of insulin-sensitizing, anti-diabetic drugs, elevate Adiponectin in insulin-resistant patients (21). In addition, high Adiponectin levels are associated with a reduced risk of type-2 diabetes (22). Using magnetic resonance spectroscopy it has been demonstrated that intracellular lipid content in human muscle negatively correlates with Adiponectin levels, potentially due to Adiponectin-induced fatty acid oxidation (15).

Adiponectin may also play anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory roles. Adiponectin plasma levels are decreased in patients with coronary artery disease (20). Furthermore, neointimal thickening of damaged arteries is exacerbated in Adiponectin-deficient mice and is inhibited by exogenous Adiponectin (23). Adiponectin inhibits endothelial cell expression of adhesion molecules *in vitro*, suppressing the attachment of monocytes (24). In addition, Adiponectin negatively regulates myelomonocytic progenitor cell growth and TNF- α production in macrophages (25, 26).

The Quantikine Human Total Adiponectin Immunoassay is a 4.5 hour solid-phase ELISA designed to measure total (low, middle, and high molecular weight) human Adiponectin in cell culture supernates, serum, and plasma. It contains NS0-expressed recombinant human Adiponectin and has been shown to accurately quantitate the recombinant factor. Results obtained using natural human Adiponectin showed linear curves that were parallel to the standard curves obtained using the Quantikine kit standards. These results indicate that the Quantikine Human Total Adiponectin kit can be used to determine relative mass values for naturally occurring Adiponectin.

PRINCIPLE OF THE ASSAY

This assay employs the quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique. A monoclonal antibody specific for the Adiponectin globular domain has been pre-coated onto a microplate. Standards and samples are pipetted into the wells and any Adiponectin present is bound by the immobilized antibody. After washing away any unbound substances, an enzyme-linked monoclonal antibody specific for the Adiponectin globular domain is added to the wells. Following a wash to remove any unbound antibody-enzyme reagent, a substrate solution is added to the wells and color develops in proportion to the amount of Adiponectin bound in the initial step. The color development is stopped and the intensity of the color is measured.

LIMITATIONS OF THE PROCEDURE

- FOR RESEARCH USE ONLY. NOT FOR USE IN DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURES.
- The kit should not be used beyond the expiration date on the kit label.
- · Do not mix or substitute reagents with those from other lots or sources.
- If samples generate values higher than the highest standard, dilute the samples with the appropriate Calibrator Diluent and repeat the assay.
- Any variation in standard diluent, operator, pipetting technique, washing technique, incubation time or temperature, and kit age can cause variation in binding.
- This assay is designed to eliminate interference by soluble receptors, binding proteins, and other factors present in biological samples. Until all factors have been tested in the Quantikine Immunoassay, the possibility of interference cannot be excluded.

MATERIALS PROVIDED

Description	Part #	Cat. # DRP300	Cat. # SRP300
Adiponectin Microplate - 96 well polystyrene microplate (12 strips of 8 wells) coated with a mouse monoclonal antibody against the Adiponectin globular domain.	892517	1 plate	6 plates
Adiponectin Conjugate - 21 mL/vial of mouse monoclonal antibody against the Adiponectin globular domain conjugated to horseradish peroxidase with preservatives.	892518	1 vial	6 vials
Adiponectin Standard - 500 ng/vial of recombinant human Adiponectin in a buffered protein base with preservatives; lyophilized.	892519	1 vial	6 vials
Assay Diluent RD1W - 11 mL/vial of a buffered protein base with preservatives.	895117	1 vial	6 vials
Calibrator Diluent RD5-5 - 21 mL/vial of a buffered protein base with preservatives.	895485	1 vial	6 vials
Calibrator Diluent RD6-39 - 21 mL/vial of a buffered protein base with preservatives.	895824	3 vials	18 vials
Wash Buffer Concentrate - 21 mL/vial of a 25-fold concentrated solution of buffered surfactant with preservatives.	895003	1 vial	6 vials
Color Reagent A - 12.5 mL/vial of stabilized hydrogen peroxide.	895000	1 vial	6 vials
Color Reagent B - 12.5 mL/vial of stabilized chromogen (tetramethylbenzidine).	895001	1 vial	6 vials
Stop Solution - 6 mL/vial of 2 N sulfuric acid.	895032	1 vial	6 vials
Plate Covers - Adhesive strips.		4 strips	24 strips

DRP300 contains sufficient materials to run an ELISA on one 96 well plate. SRP300 (SixPak) contains sufficient materials to run ELISAs on six 96 well plates.

This kit is also available in a PharmPak (R&D Systems, Catalog # PDRP300). PharmPaks contain sufficient materials to run ELISAs on 50 microplates. Specific vial counts of each component may vary. Please refer to the literature accompanying your order for specific vial counts.

STORAGE

Unopened Kit	Store at 2 - 8° C. Do not use past kit expiration date.				
	Diluted Wash Buffer				
	Stop Solution				
	Assay Diluent RD1W				
Opened/ Reconstituted	Calibrator Diluent RD5-5				
	Calibrator Diluent RD6-39	May be stored for up to 1 month at 2 - 8° C.*			
	Conjugate				
Reagents	Unmixed Color Reagent A				
	Unmixed Color Reagent B				
	Standard				
	Microplate Wells	Return unused wells to the foil pouch containing the desiccant pack, reseal along entire edge of zip-seal. May be stored for up to 1 month at 2 - 8° C.*			

*Provided this is within the expiration date of the kit.

OTHER SUPPLIES REQUIRED

- Microplate reader capable of measuring absorbance at 450 nm, with the correction wavelength set at 540 nm or 570 nm.
- · Pipettes and pipette tips.
- Deionized or distilled water.
- · Squirt bottle, manifold dispenser, or automated microplate washer.
- 500 mL graduated cylinder.
- · Test tubes for serial dilution.
- · Human Total Adiponectin Controls (optional; available from R&D Systems).

PRECAUTIONS

Calibrator Diluent RD6-39 contains sodium azide which may react with lead and copper plumbing to form explosive metallic azides. Flush with large volumes of water during disposal.

The Stop Solution provided with this kit is an acid solution. Wear eye, hand, face, and clothing protection when using this material.

SAMPLE COLLECTION AND STORAGE

Cell Culture Supernates - Remove particulates by centrifugation and assay immediately or aliquot and store samples at ≤ -20° C. Avoid repeated freeze-thaw cycles.

Serum - Use a serum separator tube (SST) and allow samples to clot for 30 minutes before centrifugation for 15 minutes at 1000 x g. Remove serum and assay immediately or aliquot and store samples at \leq -20° C. Avoid repeated freeze-thaw cycles.

Plasma - Collect plasma using heparin or EDTA as an anticoagulant. Centrifuge for 15 minutes at 1000 x g within 30 minutes of collection. Assay immediately or aliquot and store samples at \leq -20° C. Avoid repeated freeze-thaw cycles.

Note: Citrate plasma has not been validated for use in this assay.

SAMPLE PREPARATION

Serum and plasma samples require a 100-fold dilution. A suggested 100-fold dilution is 10 μ L sample + 990 μ L Calbrator Diluent RD6-39.

REAGENT PREPARATION

Bring all reagents to room temperature before use.

Wash Buffer - If crystals have formed in the concentrate, warm to room temperature and mix gently until the crystals have completely dissolved. Dilute 20 mL of Wash Buffer Concentrate into deionized or distilled water to prepare 500 mL of Wash Buffer.

Substrate Solution - Color Reagents A and B should be mixed together in equal volumes within 15 minutes of use. Protect from light. 200 μL of the resultant mixture is required per well.

Adiponectin Standard - Reconstitute the Adiponectin Standard with 2.0 mL of Calibrator Diluent RD5-5 (for cell culture supernate samples) or Calibrator Diluent RD6-39 (for serum/plasma samples). This reconstitution produces a stock solution of 250 ng/mL. Mix the standard to ensure complete reconstitution and allow the standard to sit for a minimum of 15 minutes with gentle agitation prior to making dilutions.

Pipette 200 μ L of Calibrator Diluent RD5-5 (*for cell culture supernate samples*) or Calibrator Diluent RD6-39 (*for serum/plasma samples*) into each tube. Use the stock solution to produce a dilution series (below). Mix each tube thoroughly before the next transfer. The 250 ng/mL standard serves as the high standard. The appropriate Calibrator Diluent serves as the zero standard (0 ng/mL).



ASSAY PROCEDURE

Bring all reagents and samples to room temperature before use. It is recommended that all samples, controls, and standards be assayed in duplicate.

- 1. Prepare all reagents, working standards, and samples as directed in the previous sections.
- Remove excess microplate strips from the plate frame, return them to the foil pouch containing the desiccant pack, and reseal.
- 3. Add 100 µL of Assay Diluent RD1W to each well.
- Add 50 µL of Standard, control, or sample* per well. Cover with the adhesive strip provided. Incubate for 2 hours at room temperature. A plate layout is provided to record standards and samples assayed.
- 5. Aspirate each well and wash, repeating the process three times for a total of four washes. Wash by filling each well with Wash Buffer (400 μL) using a squirt bottle, manifold dispenser, or autowasher. Complete removal of liquid at each step is essential to good performance. After the last wash, remove any remaining Wash Buffer by aspirating or decanting. Invert the plate and blot it against clean paper towels.
- Add 200 μL of Adiponectin Conjugate to each well. Cover with a new adhesive strip. Incubate for 2 hours at room temperature.
- 7. Repeat the aspiration/wash as in step 5.
- Add 200 μL of Substrate Solution to each well.
 For cell culture supernate samples: Incubate for 20 minutes at room temperature.
 For serum/plasma samples: Incubate for 30 minutes at room temperature.
 Protect from light.
- Add 50 µL of Stop Solution to each well. The color in the wells should change from blue to yellow. If the color in the wells is green or if the color change does not appear uniform, gently tap the plate to ensure thorough mixing.
- 10. Determine the optical density of each well within 30 minutes, using a microplate reader set to 450 nm. If wavelength correction is available, set to 540 nm or 570 nm. If wavelength correction is not available, subtract readings at 540 nm or 570 nm from the readings at 450 nm. This subtraction will correct for optical imperfections in the plate. Readings made directly at 450 nm without correction may be higher and less accurate.

*Serum/plasma samples require dilution. See Sample Preparation section.

ASSAY PROCEDURE SUMMARY

 Prepare reagents, samples, and standards as instructed.



2. Add 100 µL Assay Diluent RD1W to each well.



 Add 50 µL Standard, control or sample* to each well. Incubate 2 hours at RT.



4. Aspirate and wash 4 times.



 Add 200 µL Conjugate to each well. Incubate 2 hours at RT.



6 Aspirate and wash 4 times.



Add 200 µL Substrate Solution to each well.
 Protect from light.



Serum/Plasma samples: Incubate 30 minutes at RT. Cell Culture Supernate samples:

Incubate 20 minutes at RT.

8. Add 50 μ L Stop Solution to each well. Read at 450 nm within 30 minutes. λ correction 540 or 570 nm

*Serum/plasma samples require dilution. See Sample Preparation section.

CALCULATION OF RESULTS

Average the duplicate readings for each standard, control, and sample and subtract the average zero standard optical density.

Plot the optical density for the standards versus the concentration of the standards and draw the best curve. The data can be linearized by using log/log paper and regression analysis may be applied to the log transformation.

To determine the Adiponectin concentration of each sample, first find the absorbance value on the y-axis and extend a horizontal line to the standard curve. At the point of intersection, extend a vertical line to the x-axis and read the corresponding Adiponectin concentration.

If the samples have been diluted, the concentration read from the standard curve must be multiplied by the dilution factor.

TYPICAL DATA

These standard curves are provided for demonstration only. A standard curve should be generated for each set of samples assayed.



TECHNICAL HINTS

- · When mixing or reconstituting protein solutions, always avoid foaming.
- To avoid cross-contamination, change pipette tips between additions of each standard level, between sample additions, and between reagent additions. Also, use separate reservoirs for each reagent.
- When using an automated plate washer, adding a 30 second soak period following the addition of wash buffer, and/or rotating the plate 180 degrees between wash steps may improve assay precision.
- To ensure accurate results, proper adhesion of plate sealers during incubation steps is necessary.
- Substrate Solution should remain colorless until added to the plate. Keep Substrate Solution protected from light. Substrate Solution should change from colorless to gradations of blue.
- Stop Solution should be added to the plate in the same order as the Substrate Solution. The color developed in the wells will turn from blue to yellow upon addition of the Stop Solution. Wells that are green in color indicate that the Stop Solution has not mixed thoroughly with the Substrate Solution.

PRECISION

Intra-assay Precision (Precision within an assay)

Three samples of known concentration were tested twenty times on one plate to assess intra-assay precision.

Inter-assay Precision (Precision between assays)

Three samples of known concentration were tested in forty separate assays to assess inter-assay precision.

	Intra-assay Precision			_	Inter-a	assay Pre	cision
Sample	1	2	3		1	2	3
n	20	20	20]	40	40	40
Mean (ng/mL)	19.8	69.9	143		20.5	74.4	157
Standard deviation	0.50	2.40	6.76		1.40	4.30	10.8
CV (%)	2.5	3.4	4.7		6.8	5.8	6.9

Serum/Plasma Assay

Cell Culture	Supernate Assay	
--------------	-----------------	--

	Intra-	Intra-assay Precision			Inter-a	assay Pre	cision
Sample	1	2	3		1	2	3
n	20	20	20		40	40	40
Mean (ng/mL)	12.5	45.3	91.5		12.7	47.1	100
Standard deviation	0.41	1.27	4.56		1.00	2.80	6.70
CV (%)	3.2	2.8	5.0		7.9	5.9	6.7

RECOVERY

The recovery of Adiponectin spiked to levels throughout the range of the assay was evaluated.

Sample	Average % Recovery	Range	
Cell culture media (n=4)	101	88 - 112	

LINEARITY

To assess the linearity of the assay, samples containing and/or spiked with high concentrations of Adiponectin were serially diluted with the appropriate Calibrator Diluent to produce samples with values within the dynamic range of the assay.

		Cell culture media (n=4)	Serum (n=4)	Heparin plasma (n=4)	EDTA plasma (n=4)
1:2	Average % of Expected	104	99	99	95
	Range (%)	101 - 107	92 - 103	93 - 106	86 - 102
1:4	Average % of Expected	103	98	99	96
	Range (%)	101 - 106	91 - 101	92 - 109	89 - 104
1:8	Average % of Expected	103	102	104	97
	Range (%)	101 - 104	98 - 105	97 - 107	84 - 102
1:16	Average % of Expected	103	105	104	101
	Range (%)	100 - 104	96 - 115	103 - 105	85 - 107

SENSITIVITY

Eighty assays were evaluated and the minimum detectable dose (MDD) of Adiponectin ranged from 0.079 - 0.891 ng/mL. The mean MDD was 0.246 ng/mL.

The MDD was determined by adding two standard deviations to the mean optical density value of twenty zero standard replicates and calculating the corresponding concentration.

CALIBRATION

This immunoassay is calibrated against a highly purified NS0-expressed recombinant human Adiponectin produced at R&D Systems.

SAMPLE VALUES

Serum/Plasma - Samples drawn from apparently healthy volunteers were evaluated for the presence of Adiponectin in this assay. No medical histories were available for the donors used in this study.

Sample Type	Mean (ng/mL)	Range (ng/mL)	Standard Deviation (ng/mL)
Serum (n=60)	6641	865 - 21,424	3665
EDTA plasma (n=35)	5548	1198 - 19,973	3557
Heparin plasma (n=35)	6026	1359 - 20,691	3728

Cell Culture Supernates - Human peripheral blood leukocytes (1 x 10⁶ cells/mL) were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 5% fetal calf serum, 50 μ M β -mercaptoethanol, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin sulfate. Cells were cultured unstimulated or stimulated with 10 μ g/mL PHA. Aliquots of the cell culture supernate were removed and assayed for levels of natural total Adiponectin. No detectable levels were observed.

SPECIFICITY

This assay recognizes recombinant and natural (low, middle, and high molecular weight) human total Adiponectin. The factors listed below were prepared at 50 ng/mL in Calibrator Diluents RD5-5 and RD6-39 and assayed for cross-reactivity. Preparations of the following factors at 50 ng/mL in a mid-range recombinant human Adiponectin control were assayed for interference. No significant cross-reactivity or interference was observed.

Recombinant human: 4-1BB APRIL BAFF/BLyS CD27 CD30 Ligand CD40 Ligand Fas Ligand GITR Ligand LIGHT LT-α1/β2 LT-α2/β1 OX40 Ligand TNF-α TNF-β TRAIL TRANCE TWEAK VEGI

 $\begin{array}{l} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Recombinant}\\ \mbox{mouse:} \\ \mbox{Adiponectin} \\ \mbox{CD27 Ligand} \\ \mbox{CD30 Ligand} \\ \mbox{Fas Ligand} \\ \mbox{LT-}\alpha1/\beta2 \\ \mbox{LT-}\alpha2/\beta1 \\ \mbox{OX40 Ligand} \\ \mbox{TNF-}\alpha \\ \mbox{TNF-}\alpha \\ \mbox{TRANCE} \end{array}$

Recombinant porcine: TNF-α

Recombinant rat: TNF-α

Other proteins: human Complement C1q

REFERENCES

- 1. Scherer, P.E. et al. (1995) J. Biol. Chem. 270:26746.
- 2. Fruebis, J. et al. (2001) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98:2005.
- 3. Berg, A.H. et al. (2002) Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 13:84.
- 4. Arita, Y. et al. (1999) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 257:79.
- 5. Maeda, K. et al. (1996) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 221:286.
- 6. Kishore, U. and K.B. Reid (2000) Immunopharmacology 49:159.
- 7. Pajvani, U.B. et al. (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278:9073.
- 8. Tsao, T.S. et al. (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278:50810.
- 9. Hu, E. et al. (1996) J. Biol. Chem. 271:10697.
- 10. Yamauchi, T. et al. (2003) Nature 423:762.
- 11. Berg, A.H. et al. (2001) Nat. Med. 7:947.
- 12. Yamauchi, T. et al. (2001) Nat. Med. 7:941.
- 13. Tomas, E. et al. (2002) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:16309.
- 14. Yamauchi, T. et al. (2002) Nat. Med. 8:1288.
- 15. Thamer, C. et al. (2002) Horm. Metab. Res. 34:646.
- 16. Stefan, N. et al. (2002) J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87:4652.
- 17. Matsubara, M. et al. (2002) Eur. J. Endocrinol. 147:173.
- 18. Faraj, M. et al. (2003) J. Clin. Endorinol. Metab. 88:1594.
- 19. Weyer, C. et al. (2001) J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86:1930.
- 20. Hotta, K. et al. (2000) Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20:1595.
- 21. Maeda, N. et al. (2001) Diabetes 50:2094.
- 22. Spranger, J. et al. (2003) Lancet 361:1060.
- 23. Matsuda, M. et al. (2002) J. Biol. Chem. 277:37487.
- 24. Ouchi, N. et al. (1999) Circulation 100:2473.
- 25. Yokota, T. et al. (2000) Blood 96:1723.
- 26. Ouchi, N. et al. (2001) Circulation 103:1057.

Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA

Directions for Use

10-1193-01 REAGENTS FOR 96 DETERMINATIONS

For Research Use Only Not for Use in Diagnostic Procedures

Manufactured by

Mercodia AB Sylveniusgatan 8A SE-754 50 Uppsala Sweden



EXPLANATION OF SYMBOLS USED ON LABELS

ΣΣ = 96	Reagents for 96 determinations
	Expiry date
	Store between 2-8°C
LOT	Lot No.

Mercodia 2009

INTENDED USE

Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA provides a method for the quantitative determination of human adiponectin in serum or plasma.

SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION OF THE TEST

Adiponectin is also called: Acrp30 (30 kDa adipocyte complement-related protein), GBP28 (Gelatin-binding protein), adipoQ, apM1 (Adipose most abundant gene transcript 1) [1, 2]. Adiponectin is an adipocyte-secreted hormone, consisting of 244 amino acids with a molecular weight of approximately 30kDa (28-30kDa). It is one of the most abundant proteins in human blood, with circulating concentrations of 0.5-30 µg/ml, which accounts for approximately 0,01% of total plasma protein [2].

The protein consists of four domains: one globular C-terminal, one collagen-like N-terminal, one signaling peptide and one hyper variable domain. The globular domain has significant sequence and structural similarities to the complement factor C1q [2,3]. The globular domain also has structural similarities to TNF- α [3-5].

Adiponectin concentration is reversely associated with type 2 diabetes, coronary artery disease and obesity, all together called the metabolic syndrome. Adiponectin decreases blood glucose and free fatty acid serum concentrations and increases insulin sensitivity [7]. Adiponectin has also been shown to have anti-inflammatory effects [2].

Adiponectin has been suggested to exist in different forms in circulation: monomers, isolated globular forms (the globular domains), trimers, hexamers and larger oligomers [8-11]. Monomers are believed to associate in circulation to trimers through the globular domains. Trimers are associated to larger oligomers through the collagen-like domain [7].

However, recent studies indicate that adiponectin may not be present in circulation as monomers or isolated globular forms, but rather in multimeric structures. The studies have shown that the dominant forms of adiponectin that circulates in human blood are hexamers (LMW) and lager oligomers (HMW) [6, 12-14]. The LMW adiponectin levels does not seem to differ between insulin sensitive- and insulin resistant subjects, nor does LMW adiponectin differ between men and women. The increased levels of total adiponectin in insulin sensitive subjects and women were caused by increased amounts of HMW adiponectin. Both total and HMW adiponectin showed significant differences between the insulin sensitive- and insulin resistant subjects according to Lara-Castro et al. 2006 [6].

Several isoforms of adiponectin do circulate in blood. It is yet to be determined whether all isoforms are secreted by the adipocytes, whether there is a posttranscriptional assembly of HMW adiponectin in blood or whether the HMW form is secreted and degraded in blood. The individual metabolic significance of each adiponectin isoform also remains unclear [6].

PRINCIPLE OF THE PROCEDURE

Mercodia Adiponectin EUSA is a solid phase two-site enzyme immunoassay. It is based on the sandwich technique in which two monoclonal antibodies are directed against separate antigenic determinants on the adiponectin molecule. During incubation, adiponectin in the sample react with anti-adiponectin antibodies bound to microtitration well. After washing, peroxidase conjugated anti-adiponectin antibodies are added and after the second incubation and a simple washing step that removes unbounded enzyme labeled antibody, the bound conjugate is detected by reaction with 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB). The reaction is stopped by adding acid to give a colorimetric endpoint that is read spectrophotometrically.

WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS

- For research use only. Not for use in diagnostic procedures. Not for internal or external use in humans or animals.
- The content of this kit and their residues must not be allowed to come into contact with ruminating animal or swine.
- The Stop Solution in this kit contains 0.5 M H₂SO₄. Follow routine precautions for handling hazardous chemicals.
- · All patient samples should be handled as capable of transmitting infections.

MATERIAL REQUIRED BUT NOT PROVIDED

- Pipettes for 20, 25, 50, 100, 200 and 1000 µl (repeat pipettes preferred for addition of enzyme conjugate solution, Substrate TMB and Stop Solution)
- Beakers and cylinders for reagent preparation
- Redistilled water
- Microplate reader (450 nm filter)
- · Plate shaker (The recommended velocity is 700-900 cycles per minute, orbital movement)
- Microplate washing device

REAGENTS

Each Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA kit (10-1193-01) contains reagents for 96 wells, sufficient for 42 samples and one calibrator curve in duplicate. For larger series of assays, use pooled reagents from packages bearing identical lot numbers. The expiry date for the complete kit is stated on the outer label. The recommended storage temperature is 2-8°C.

Coated Plate (Mouse monoclonal anti-human adiponectin) For unused microtitration strips, reseal the bag months.	1 plate 8-well strips using adhesiv	96 wells e tape and s	Ready for use tore at 2-8°C for two
Calibrators 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 (Recombinant human adiponectin) Concentration stated on vial label. Color coded	5 vials yellow	1000 µl	Ready for Use
Calibrator 0 Color coded yellow	1 vial	5 ml	Ready for use
Assay Buffer Color coded red	1 vial	12 ml	Ready for use
Sample Buffer 2X Dilute with 50 ml redistilled water to make sam Color coded yellow Storage after dilution: 2-8°C for two months	1 bottle Iple buffer.	50 ml	
Enzyme Conjugate 11X (Peroxidase conjugated mouse monoclonal anti	1 vial -human adipo	1.3 ml onectin)	Preparation, see below
Enzyme Conjugate Buffer Color coded blue	1 vial	13 ml	Ready for use
Wash Buffer 21X Dilute with 800 ml redistilled water to make wa Storage after dilution: 2-8°C for two months	1 bottle ash buffer.	40 ml	
Substrate TMB (TMB) Colorless solution Note! Light sensitive!	1 bottle	22 ml	Ready for use
Stop Solution 0.5 M H ₂ SO ₄	1 vial	7 ml	Ready for use

Preparation of enzyme conjugate solution

Prepare the needed volume of enzyme conjugate solution by dilution of Enzyme Conjugate 11X, (1+10) in Enzyme Conjugate Buffer according to the table below. Mix gently.

When preparing enzyme conjugate solution for the whole plate or if the reagents are to be used within two months, pour all of the Enzyme Conjugate Buffer into the Enzyme Conjugate 11X vial.

Number of strips	Enzyme Conjugate 11X	Enzyme Conjugate Buffer	
12 strips	1 vial	1 vial	
8 strips	700 μl	7 ml	
6 strips	500 μl	5 ml	
4 strips	400 μl	4 ml	

Storage after dilution: 2-8°C for two months.

SPECIMEN COLLECTION AND HANDLING Serum

Collect blood by venipuncture, allow to clot. Separate the serum by centrifugation at 4 300 g for 15 minutes at 2-8°C. Specimen can be stored at 2-8°C up to 14 days. For longer periods, store samples at -20°C. Avoid repeated freezing and thawing.

Plasma

Collect blood by venipuncture into tubes containing heparin, citrate or EDTA as anticoagulant, and separate the plasma fraction. Samples can be stored at 2-8°C up to 14 days. For longer periods store samples at -20°C. Avoid repeated freezing and thawing.

PREPARATION OF SAMPLES

Samples should be diluted 1/101 w/v with sample buffer (20 μ l sample + 2,0 ml sample buffer). Diluted samples can be stored at 2-8°C up to 14 days. *Note!* Buffers containing sodium azide (NaN₃) can not be used for sample dilution.

TEST PROCEDURE

All reagents and samples must be brought to room temperature before use. Prepare a calibrator curve for each assay run.

- Prepare enzyme conjugate solution (according to the table on previous page), sample buffer, wash buffer and samples.
- 2. Prepare sufficient microplate wells to accommodate Calibrators and samples in duplicate.
- 3. Pipette 25 µl each of Calibrators and samples into appropriate wells.
- 4. Add 100 µl of Assay Buffer into each well.
- 5. Incubate on a plate shaker (700-900 rpm) for 1 hour at room temperature (18-25°C).
- 6. Wash plate 6 times with automatic plate washer
- or

aspirate the reaction volume completely and fill each well with 350 µl wash buffer. Aspirate liquid completely. Repeat 5 times. After final wash, invert and tap the plate firmly against absorbent paper.

- 7. Add 100 µl of enzyme conjugate solution into each well.
- 8. Incubate on a plate shaker for 1 hour at room temperature (18-25°C).
- Wash plate 6 times with automatic plate washer or

aspirate the reaction volume completely and fill each well with 350 µl wash buffer. Aspirate liquid completely. Repeat 5 times. After final wash, invert and tap the plate firmly against absorbent paper.

- 10. Add 200 µl Substrate TMB into each well.
- 11. Incubate for 15 minutes at room temperature (18-25°C).
- 12. Add 50 µl Stop Solution to each well.
- Place the plate on the shaker for approximately 5 seconds to ensure mixing.
- 13. Read optical density at 450 nm and calculate results.
 - Read within 30 minutes.

Note ! To prevent contamination between the conjugate and substrate, separate pipettes are recommended.

INTERNAL QUALITY CONTROL

Commercial controls such as Mercodia Obesity Control kit (10-1241-01) and/or internal serum pools with low, intermediate and high adiponectin concentrations should routinely be assayed as unknowns, and results charted from day to day. It is good laboratory practice to record the following data for each assay: kit lot number; reconstitution dates of kit components; OD values for the blank (sample buffer), Calibrators and controls.

CALCULATION OF RESULTS

Computerized calculation

The concentration of adiponectin is obtained by computerized data reduction of the absorbance for the Calibrators 1-5 versus the concentration using cubic spline regression.

Manual calculation

- 1. Plot the absorbance values obtained for the Calibrators 1-5 against the adiponectin
- concentration on a log log paper and construct a calibrator curve.
- 2. Read the concentration of the unknown samples from the calibrator curve.
- 3. Multiply the concentration with the dilution factor.

Example of results

Wells	Identity	A ₄₅₀	Mean conc. ng/ml	x101 µg/ml
1A-B	Calibrator 0	0.059/0.056		
1C-D	Calibrator 1 (5 ng/ml)*	0.106/0.102		
1E-F	Calibrator 2 (15 ng/ml)*	0.207/0.216		
1G-H	Calibrator 3 (50 ng/ml)*	0.563/0.559		
2A-B	Calibrator 4 (150 ng/ml)*	1.477/1.567		
2C-D	Calibrator 5 (300 ng/ml)*	2.602/2.681		
2E-F	Unknown 1	0.374/0.367	29.825	3.012
2G-H	Unknown 2	0.754/0.758	67.178	6.785
3A-B	Unknown 3	1.385/1.373	133.340	13.467

*Exact concentration indicated on vial label.

Example of calibrator curve

A typical calibrator curve is shown here. Do not use this curve to determine actual assay results.



LIMITATIONS OF THE PROCEDURE

As with all diagnostic tests, a definitive diagnosis should not be based on the results of a single test, but should be made by a physician after all dinical findings have been evaluated. Grossly lipemic, icteric or haemolyzed samples do not interfere in the assay.

EXPECTED VALUES

Good practice dictates that each laboratory establishes its own expected range of values.

Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA detects LMW(Hexamer 230kDa) and HMW(Oligomer >420 kDa) adiponectin, as determined by size exclusion gel chromatography.

The different multimeric forms of endogenous adiponectin were studied and separated in serum from a healthy individual by a three-step method; ammonium sulphate precipitation followed by ion exchange and gel filtration chromatography.

With ion exchange chromatography, proteins binds to the matrix with electrostatic forces causing separation since different proteins/isoforms have different total net charges or isoelectric points. The ion exchange column used was Mono Q 10/100GL (GE Healthcare). Triethanolamine buffer was used for eluting the proteins.

The isoforms of adiponectin has been shown to have different isoelectric points and post-translational patterns [15]. Proline hydroxylation and lysine hydroxylation/glycosylation are believed to have great importance on the assembly of the oligomers [12,15].

Five clearly distinct peaks were visible when the serum adiponectin was separated by ion exchange chromatography, indicating that the serum adiponectin analyzed presents at least five different post-translational patterns, yielding different isoelectric points, see figure 1 below. Pools A-E were further analyzed by size exclusion gel chromatography to determine the apparent size of the multimeric adiponectin forms.



Figure 1 Elution profile of serum adiponectin from ion exchange chromatography and as identified by the Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA. Peak fractions were pooled to A, B, C, D and E.

Size exclusion gel filtration chromatography separates proteins according to apparent globular size. The gel filtration column that was used was HiLoad 16/60 Superdex 200 prep grade (GE Health care). PBS was used for eluting the proteins.

Three dominant multimeric forms were visible when the serum adiponectin was seperated by size exclusion gel chromatography, with apparent sizes of 230 kDa, 420 kDa and > 600 kDa respectively, and interpreted as LMW (hexamer 230 kDa) and HMW (420 kDa and >600 kDA), see figure 2 below.



Figure 2 Elution profile of serum adiponectin from size exclusion gel filtration chromatography and as identified by the Mercodia Adiponectin ELISA. Each pool (A,B, C, D and E) was analyzed separately and together as one pool (Pool).

In conclusion, the serum adiponectin analyzed displayed three dominant multimeric forms based on size, and five different forms based on isoelectric points, or total net charges.

PERFORMANCE CHARACTERISTICS

Detection limit

Detection limit is defined as the Capability of Detection according to ISO11843-Part 1. Capability of Detection should be seen as part of a method validation, rather than the lowest concentration that can be measured.

The detection limit is 1.25 (ng/ml) as determined by the methodology described in ISO11843-Part 4.

Concentration of samples with absorbance below Calibrator 1 should not be calculated, instead expressed as less or equal to (s) the concentration indicated on the vial for Calibrator 1.

Recovery

Recovery upon addition is 92-109% (mean 101%). Recovery upon dilution is 89-111% (mean 98%).

Hook effect

There is no existing hook effect.

Precision

Each sample was analyzed in 4 replicates on 39 different occasions.

Sample	Mean value (ng/ml)	Coefficient of variation			
		within assay %	between assay %	total assay %	
1	29.7	3.0	5.3	5.5	
2	65.9	2.7	5.0	5.2	
3	13.0	3.0	5.8	6.0	

Specificity

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mbox{The following crossreactions have been found:} \\ \mbox{C1q} & {} \le 0.007\% \\ \mbox{TNF-}\alpha & n.s \end{array}$

CALIBRATION

Adiponectin ELISA is calibrated against a highly purified, fully validated, commercial adiponectin preparation. The concentration of adiponectin is expressed in ng/ml.

WARRANTY

The performance data presented here was obtained using the procedure indicated. Any change or modification in the procedure not recommended by Mercodia AB may affect the results, in which event Mercodia AB disclaims all warranties expressed, implied or statutory, including the implied warranty of merchantability and fitness for use. Mercodia AB and its authorized distributors, in such event, shall not be liable for damages indirect of consequential.

REFERENCES

[1] PDB, Protein Data Bank: www.expasy.org, adiponectin: Q 15848 (21 oct.2005).

[2] Meier U and Gressner AM (2004) Endocrine Regulation of Energy Metabolism: Review of Pathobiochemical and Clinical Aspects of Leptin, Ghrelin, Adiponectin, and Resistin. *Clin Chem* 50:1511-1525

[3] Tsao TS, Lodish HF and Fruebis J (2002) ACRP30, a new hormone controlling fat and glucose metabolism. Eur J Pharmacol 440:213-221

[4] Shapiro L and Scherer PE (1998) The crystal structure of a complement-1q family protein suggests an evolutionary link to tumor necrosis factor. *Curr Biol* 12:335-338

[5] Bobbert T, Rochlitz H, Wegewitz U, Akpulat S, Mai K, Weickert MO, Mohlig M, Pfeiffer AF and Spranger J (2005) Changes of adiponectin oligomer composition by moderate weight reduction. *Diabetes* 54:2712-2719

[6] Lara-Castro C, Luo N, Wallace P, Klein RL and Garvey T (2006) Adiponectin Multimeric Complexes and the Metabolic Syndrome Trait Cluster. *Diabetes* 55: 249-259

[7] Duntas LH, Popovic V and Panotopoulos G (2004) Adiponectin: Novelties in Metabolism and Hormonal Regulation. Nutr Neurosci 7:195-200

[8] Tsao TS, Lodish HF and Fruebis J (2002) ACRP30, a new hormone controlling fat and glucose metabolism. J Biol Chem 50:50810-50817

[9] Nakashima R, Kamei N, Yamane K, Nakanishi S, Nakashima A and Kohno N (2006) Decreased Total and High Molecular Weight Adiponectin Are Independent Risk Factors for the Development of Type 2 Diabetes in Japanese-Americans. *Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91:3873-3877

[10] Hara K, Horikoshi M, Yamauchi T, Yago H, Miyazaki O, Ebinuma H, Imai Y, Nagai R, and Kadowaki T (2006) Measurement of the High-Molecular Weight Form of Adiponectin in Plasma Is Useful for the Prediction of Insulin Resistance and Metabolic Syndrome. *Diabetes Care* 29:1357-1362

[11] Nakano Y, Tobe T, Choi-Miura NH, Mazda T and Tomita M (1996) Isolation and Charactrization of GBP28, a Novel Gelatin-Binding Protein Purified from Human Plasma. J Biol Chem 120:803-812

[12] Bodles AM, Banga A, Rasouli N, Ono F, Kern PA and Owens RJ (2006) Pioglitazone increases secretion of high-molecular-weight adiponectin from adipocytes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 291:E1100-E1105

[13] Halperin F, Beckman JA, Patti ME, Trujillo ME, Garvin M, Creager MA, Scherer PE and Goldfine AB (2005) The role of total and high-molecular-weight complex of adiponectin in vascular function in offspring whose partents both had type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 48:2147-2154

[14] Fisher FF, Trujillo ME, Hanif W, Bamett AH, McTernan PG, Scherer PE, and Kumar S (2005) Serum high molecular weight complex of adiponectin correlates better with glucose tolerance than total serum adiponectin in Indo-Asian males. *Diabetologia* 48:1084-1087

[15] Wang Y, Lu G, Wong WP, Viegenthart JF, Gerwig GJ, Lam KS, Cooper GJ and Xu A (2004) Proteomic and functional characterization of endogenous adiponectin purified from fetal bovine serum. *Proteomics* 4:3933-3942



Immunoassay Kits Beyond The Ordinary

Adiponectin (Multimeric) EIA

For the quanitative, selective determination of High Molecular Weight (HMW), Mid-Molecular Weight (MMW) and Total Adiponectin in human serum or plasma.

For Research Use Only. Not For Use In Diagnostic Procedures.

Catalog Number: Size: Storage: Version: 47-ADPH-9755 96 Wells 2-10°C 03/13/05 - ALPCO_02/08/07

ALPCO Diagnostics

26 Keewaydin Drive Unit G • Salem, NH 03079 Phone: (800) 592-5726 • Fax: (603) 898-6854 www.alpco.com • Email: web@alpco.com

This Protocol is for Reference Purposes Only. DO NOT use this copy to run your assay; use the protocol included with the kit ONLY.

APPLICATION

This assay is intended for the quantitative, selective determination of High Molecular Weight (HMW), Mid-Molecular Weight (MMW) and Total Adiponectin in human serum or plasma.

INTRODUCTION

Adiponectin is a 244 amino acid protein (one of several known adipocytokines) secreted by the adipocyte. It has been reported that adiponectin circulates in the blood in various oligomeric complexes consisting of multiple proteins bound together. These complexes range from dimeric forms to a "bouquet" structure of 9 or more proteins. 1-3 Adiponectin has been reported to have several physiological actions, such as protective activities against atherosclerosis, improvement of insulin sensitivity, and prevention of hepatic fibrosis. In recent years, the relationship of these physiological actions with the circulating multimer structure of adiponectin has been attracting wide attention. It has been reported recently that the ratio of high-molecular weight adiponectin in circulation to total adiponectin level of the subject reflects the condition of disease more clearly than total adiponectin levels alone.⁴⁻⁶

The structure of adiponectin multimers was elucidated recently by selectively separating each adiponectin multimer from human plasma. This led to the discovery of an albumin-binding trimer, in addition to the already documented trimer, hexamer and HMW form. Following a further report that part of the multimer form is able to be digested selectively by a certain protease, this kit utilizes a method of measurement incorporating pretreatment with proteases for selective measurement of human multimeric adiponectin.⁷ In addition, in order to provide a reference for total adiponectin levels, a new, simple pretreatment method is utilized. By the proposed method, multimeric adiponectin in the serum is converted mainly to a dimer via the addition of an SDS-containing acid buffer (without boiling step). *

ASSAY PRINCIPLES

This kit operates on the principle of a "sandwich" format enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). The specific antibodies used in the kit are anti-human adiponectin monoclonal antibodies (MoAbs) directed to two independent epitopes. The specimens are pre-treated as described below, and total adiponectin and individual multimers of adiponectin are determined selectively, directly or indirectly. Multimers of adiponectin are classified into four fractions with this kit:

- 1) Total adiponectin fraction: "Total-Ad"-assayed directly on the plate
- High-molecular adiponectin fraction (equivalent of dodecamer -octodecamer): "HMW-Ad"-assayed directly on the plate
- Middle-molecular adiponectin fraction (equivalent of hexamer): "MMW-Ad"-inferred value obtained by subtracting the concentration of HMW-Ad from the combined concentration of MMW-Ad + HMW-Ad
- 4) Low-molecular adiponectin fraction (equivalent of trimer including albumin-binding adiponectin): "LMW-Ad"-inferred value obtained by subtracting the combined concentration of MMW-Ad + HMW-Ad from the total concentration of Ad.

The microtiter plate wells have been coated with an anti-human adiponectin monoclonal antibody. Adiponectin in the standards and pretreated specimens are captured by the antibody during the first incubation. Afterwards, a wash step removes all unbound material. Subsequently, an anti-human adiponectin antibody which has been biotin-labeled is added and binds to the immobilized adiponectin in the wells. After the second incubation and subsequent wash step, HRP–labeled streptavidin is added. After the third incubation and subsequent wash step, substrate solution is added. Finally, stop reagent is added after allowing the color to develop. The intensity of the color development is read by a microplate reader.

The absorbance value reported by the plate reader is proportional to the concentration of adiponectin in the sample. In this kit, pre-treated normal human serum by sample pre-treatment buffer is used as the Calibrator. The sample Pre-Treatment procedure used in this assay is very important for good results. It is outlined here briefly, and explained further in the Assay Procedure section of this insert.

- "Total-Ad" assay: Specimens are treated with SDS-containing acid buffer to convert multimeric adiponectin mainly to a dimer form.
- 2) For "HMW-Ad" assay: The protease that selectively digests LMW-Ad and MMW-Ad acts on specimens, and remaining MW-Ad fraction is treated with SDS-containing acid buffer to convert it to a dimer form. Upon addition of the SDS-buffer, the digestive reaction of protease is stopped.

This Protocol is for Reference Purposes Only. DO NOT use this copy to run your assay; use the protocol included with the kit ONLY.
3) For combined "MMW-Ad" and "HMW-Ad" assay: The protease that selectively digests only LMW-Ad acts on specimens, and remaining MMW-Ad and HMW-Ad are treated with SDS -containing acid buffer to convert these fractions to a dimer form. Upon addition of the SDS-buffer, the digestive reaction of protease is stopped.

KIT COMPONENTS

Reagent	Composition	Amount
Wash buffer concentrate	Phosphate buffer (pH 7.2)	100 ml x 1 vial
Sample pre-treatment buffer	Citrate buffer (pH 3.0) containing SDS	50 ml x 1 vial
Dilution buffer	Phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) containing BSA	100 ml x 1 vial
Monoclonal Ab coated plate	Anti-human Adiponectin mouse monoclonal Ab coated 96-well	1 plate
Calibrator	Human serum stablized in sample pre-treatment buffer	0.25 ml x 1 vial
Biotin Labeled MoAb	Biotin Conjugated anti-human adiponectin	6.0 mL x 1 vial
Enzyme-labeled streptavidin	Horse radish peroxidase ^(HRP) 6.0 labeled streptavidin	ml x 1 vial
Substrate (lyophilized)	O-phenylenediamine	2 vials
Substrate buffer	Citrate buffer (pH 5.0) containing H2O2	15 ml x 1 vial
Stop reagent	7.7% H ₂ SO ₄	15 ml x 1 vial
Protease I (lyophilized)	Protease	1 vial
Protease II (lyophilized)	Protease	1 vial
Protease buffer	Tris buffer (pH 8.0)	50 ml x 1 vial

REAGENT PREPARATION AND STORAGE

Proteases are extremely temperature sensitive. It is critical that all reagents must be allowed to reach room temperature prior to use.

a) Wash buffer

Dilute Wash buffer concentrate with 900mL purified water. Working Wash buffer should be stored at 2-10°C.

b)Sample pre-treatment buffer

A white precipitate may form in this vial. This precipitate will be completely dissolved by warming the solution to room temperature and thoroughly stirring it before use.

c) Dilution buffer

Dilution buffer is supplied ready-to-use.

d)Monoclonal-antibody coated wells

MoAb coated wells are supplied ready-to-use. The unused strips should be returned to the laminate bag and stored at 2-10° C.

e) Working Calibrator

Note: There may be a precipitate in the tube. Allow the solution to stand at room temperature and stir thoroughly before using. Avoid foaming.

Just prior to use, dilute the Calibrator 1:101 with Dilution buffer and further the serial dilution to create a standard curve:

This Protocol is for Reference Purposes Only. DO NOT use this copy to run your assay; use the protocol included with the kit ONLY.

luted 1:101. bsequent st	Actual concentration (diluted 1 andards must be calculated fr	:101) is found on the vial label; om this value.
Standard number:	Calibration material to add:	Diluent to add:
1	150 µl of stock solution	0 μ1
2	150 µl of standard 1	150 µl
3	150 µl of standard 2	150 µl
4	150 µl of standard 3	150 µl
5	150 µl of standard 4	150 µl
6	150 µl of standard 5	150 µl
7	150 µl of standard 6	150 µl
8	0	150 µl

* The remaining Calibrator should be stored at 2-10°C and the same procedure should be repeated when it is to be used again.

* Since precipitation is temporarily caused when Calibrator is added to Dilution buffer, stir it thoroughly.

* The working calibrator should be prepared at the same time as the dilution after specimen treatment and add the treated specimen and the working calibrator to the MoAb coated wells in succession.

f) Biotin labeled-MoAb

Biotin labeled-MoAb is supplied ready-to-use.

g) Enzyme labeled streptavidin

Enzyme labeled streptavidin solution is supplied ready-to-use.

h)Substrate solution

Just prior to use, reconstitute the Substrate (lyophilized) by adding 6 mL of substrate buffer to the substrate vial. The substrate solution should be used immediately after reconstitution and the remaining solution should be discarded.

i) Stop reagent

Stop reagent is used as it is.

j) Protease solution I

Reconstitute Protease I (lyophilized) by adding 10 mL of protease buffer to the vial and dissolve completely by mixing at room temperature for 1 5-30min. Protease I is stable for 2 days at 2-10°C. Freeze below -30°C for extended storage.

k) Protease solution II

Reconstitute Protease II (lyophilized) by adding 10 mL of protease buffer to the vial and dissolve completely by mixing at room temperature for 15-30 min. Protease II is stable for 2 days at 2-10°C. Freeze below -30°C for extended storage.

ASSAY PROCEDURE

1) Pretreatment of specimens

Each specimen may be treated by any combination of the pretreatment options below, but separate aliquots must be used for each option. For example, if HMW and total adiponectin concentrations are being quantified on the same sample, treat two aliquots of the sample: one by the "total-Ad" procedure and one by the "HMW-Ad" procedure.

~Pre-treatment option 1: For "Total-Ad" assay

Add 100 µl of Protease Buffer (Tris buffer, pH 8.0) and 400 uL of Sample Pre-treatment Buffer to 10 uL of serum or plasma.

Stir thoroughly (sample dilution = 1:51).

-Pre-treatment option 2: For combined "MMW-Ad" and "HMW-Ad" assay

Add 100 uL of Protease Solution I to 10 uL of serum or plasma and incubate for 20 min at 37° C. Immediately add 400 uL of Sample Pre-Treatment Buffer. Stir thoroughly (sample dilution = 1:51).

~Pre-treatment option 3: For "HMW-Ad" assayAdd 100 iL of the Protease Solution II to 10 uL of serum or

This Protocol is for Reference Purposes Only. DO NOT use this copy to run your assay; use the protocol included with the kit ONLY.

plasma and incubate for 20 min at 37° C. Immediately add 400 uL of the <u>Sample Pre-Treatment Buffer</u>. Stir thoroughly (sample dilution = 1:51).

2) Dilution of Pretreated specimens

Further dilute pre-treated specimens 1:101 as follows:

Add 10 uL of the pre-treated specimen obtained in Steps 1 to 3 (see "Pretreatment of Specimens") to 1.0 ml Dilution Buffer (Phosphate Buffer + BSA, pH 7.2). FINAL Sample dilution = 1:5151.

* Since precipitation is temporarily caused when a pretreated specimen is added to Dilution buffer, stir thoroughly.

3) Assay Method

- Plan your plate configuration. Determine how many strips will be needed and remove the excess strips from the microtiter plate. Store the remaining strips in the laminate bag.
- Add 50 uL each of the working calibrator and diluted samples to the appropriate wells, according to the plate configuration.
- 3) Cover the plate with a plate sealer and incubate for 1 hour at room temperature (20-30 °C).
- 4) Decant the plate and strike the plate against absorbent towels to remove any excess liquid. Do not introduce absorbent materials into the wells! Wash by adding 350-400 uL of Wash Buffer to each well (using a laboratory squeeze bottle, wash manifold, or automated plate washer); decant wash buffer and strike plate against absorbent towels to remove residual liquid. Repeat this cycle twice, for a total of 3 washes.
- Add 50 uL of Biotin-labeled monoclonal antibodies to each well. Cover the plate with a plate sealer and incubate for 1 hour at room temperature (20-30 °C).
- 6) Repeat wash step as described in Step 4.
- Add 50 uL of the Enzyme-labeled streptavidin to each well. Cover the plate with a plate sealer and incubate for 30 min at room temperature (20-30 °C).
- Repeat wash step as described in Step 4.
- Add 50 uL of the Substrate solution to each well. Protect the plate from light and incubate for 10 min. at room temperature (20-30 °C).
- 10) Add 50 uL of the Stop solution to each well.
- Using a microtiter plate reader set to 492 nm, read the absorbance of each well. Use a reference wavelength of 600-700 nm if desired.

Proteases are extremely temperature sensitive. It is critical that all reagents must be allowed to reach room temperature prior to use.

4) Calculations

Calculate the Å absorbance by subtracting the absorbance of the 0 ng/mL calibrator from those of other calibrators and diluted samples. Plot the Å absorbance of calibrators against the calibrator concentration on log-log or semi-log graph paper. Draw a smooth curve through these points to construct the calibration curve. Read the concentrations for the Diluted samples from the calibration curve. Calculate the concentration for the Diluted samples by multiplying by dilution factor (1:5151). Each fraction of Adiponectin multimers are calculates as follows.

- "Total-Ad": Concentration of the specimen prepared by Pre-treatment option 1.
- "HMW-Ad": Concentration of the specimen prepared by Pre-treatment option 3.
- "MMW-Ad": Concentration of the specimen prepared by Pre-treatment option 2 (HMW + MMW Ad)
 minus the concentration of the specimen prepared by Pre-treatment option 3 (HMW-Ad)
- "LMW-Ad": Concentration of the specimen prepared by Pre-treatment option 1 (Total-Ad) minus the concentration of the specimen prepared by Pre-treatment option 2 (HMW + MMW Ad).

PROCEDURAL NOTES

Proteases are extremely temperature sensitive. It is critical that all reagents must be allowed to reach room temperature prior to use.

1. This kit has been validated for analyzing human serum, EDTA-plasma or heparinized plasma. Citrated

This Protocol is for Reference Purposes Only. DO NOT use this copy to run your assay; use the protocol included with the kit ONLY. plasma must not be used due to unqualified lower results.

- Measurements of different adiponectin species of the same serum or plasma samples MUST be in the same plate. DO NOT calculate results between different plates.
- 3. A calibration curve must be run with each assay. Calibrators and samples should be assayed in duplicate.
- If the concentration of adiponectin in a specimen exceeds the highest point of the calibration curve range, dilute pretreated specimen further with Dilution Buffer and re-assay.
- Observe all specified reaction times and temperatures outlined in this manual. These parameters are especially important while pre-treating samples with proteases.
- If the kit is not used entirely during the premier run, the remaining reagents may be stored as directed in the package insert and used one subsequent time before the expiration date.
- Samples must be run promptly after the step of addition of the Sample pre-treatment buffer and added to the MoAb coated wells.
- 8. Remove all residual liquid completely after each step of the wash procedure.
- 9. Do not allow the wells to dry out or be damaged during the washing procedure.
- 10. Avoid carrying out this procedure in direct sunlight.

PERFORMANCE CHARACTERISTICS

- 1. Sensitivity
- The absorbance is not less than 0.9 OD when the standard solution (4.8 ng/mL) is measured. 2. Specificity
- The observed value is 80-120% of the known concentration when a control specimen of known concentration is used.
- 3. Reproducibility

The coefficient of variation for observed values is not more than 15% when the same specimens are measured simultaneously 8 times.

4. Range of measurement:

This test kit is effective in the range of 0.075 to 4.8 ng/mL when operated as directed under the section entitled "Assay Procedure".

WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS

- The human serum contained in the calibrator was tested and found negative for presence of the HBs antigen, HIV antibody, and HCV antibody, however all specimens should be handled carefully as though capable of transmitting infection.
- Stop reagent (7.7% H₂SO₄) is hazardous and can cause severe burns. In case of eye contact, rinse
 immediately with plenty of water, and seek medical advice. In case of contact with skin or clothing, rinse
 immediately with plenty of water.

STORAGE OF REAGENTS

The kit reagents should be stored at 2-10°C. DO NOT FREEZE.

EXPIRATION DATE Indicated on the package.

NUMBER OF ASSAYS 96 tests per kit

REFERENCES

1) Waki H, et al : (2003) J.Biol. Chem. 278, 40352-63

- 2) Pajvani UB, et al : (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278, 9073-85
- 3) Tsao TS, et al : (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278, 508 10-7

4) Pajvani UB, et al : (2004) J. Biol. Chem. 279, 12 152-62

5) Tonelli J, et al : (2004) Diabetes, 53, 162 1-9

6) Kobayashi H, et al : (2004) Circ. Res. 94, 27-31

7) International Publication Number WO 2005/038457

8) International Publication Number WO 2005/038458

Manufactured By: Daiichi Pure Chemical Toyko, Japan

This Protocol is for Reference Purposes Only.

DO NOT use this copy to run your assay;

use the protocol included with the kit ONLY.

Appendix 4 Papers

High Molecular Weight Adiponectin Is Not Associated with Incident Coronary Heart Disease in Older Women: A Nested Prospective Case-Control Study Naveed Sattar, Pauline Watt, Lynne Cherry, Shah Ebrahim, George Davey Smith, and Debbie A. Lawlor

Serial changes in adiponectin and BNP in ACS patients: paradoxical associations with each other and with prognosis Donald S. C. Ang, Paul Welsh, Pauline Watt, Scott M. Nelson, Allan Struthers and Naveed Sattar.

Endocrine Care-Brief Report

High Molecular Weight Adiponectin Is Not Associated with Incident Coronary Heart Disease in Older Women: A Nested Prospective Case-Control Study

Naveed Sattar, Pauline Watt, Lynne Cherry, Shah Ebrahim, George Davey Smith, and Debbie A. Lawlor

British Heart Foundation Glasgow Cardiovascular Research Centre (N.S., P.W., L.C.), University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 8TA, Scotland, United Kingdom; Department of Epidemiology and Population Health (S.E.), London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London WC1E 7HT, England, United Kingdom; and Medical Research Council Centre of Causal Analyses in Translational Epidemiology (G.D.S., D.A.L.), University of Bristol, Bristol 8S8 2PR, England, United Kingdom

Context: Adiponectin levels appear weakly linked to incident vascular disease, but the high molecular weight (HMW) fraction may be more relevant.

Objective: Our objective was to test whether HMW adiponectin, the key biologically active fraction, is linked to incident coronary heart disease (CHD) events.

Design, Participants, and Main Outcome Measures: We assessed the association between HMW adiponectin (measured by ELISA) and CHD risk in a prospective (4-yr) case-control study nested within the British Women's Heart and Health Study. All women were postmenopausal.

Setting: Women were seen in a primary care setting.

Results: Among both cases (n = 167) and controls (n = 333), HMW adiponectin positively correlated with age and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and inversely correlated with waist to hip ratio, fasting insulin, fasting glucose, homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance scores, C-reactive protein, and triglycerides, in similar fashion to total adiponectin. The age-adjusted relative risk ratio for a doubling of HMW adiponectin was 0.96 (95% confidence interval, 0.78–1.18), and adjustment for any of the potential confounding or mediating variables did not substantively alter this. Additional adjustments for childhood social class, alcohol consumption, hormone replacement therapy use, statin, aspirin, or blood pressure medication did not alter the null association. When we examined the effect of HMW adiponectin by quarters of its distribution, there was no evidence of any associations (*P* trend = 0.71). There was also no association of the ratio of HMW adiponectin to total adiponectin to total adiponectin with CHD risk; age-adjusted relative risk per doubling of the ratio was 1.10 (95% confidence interval, 0.80–1.50).

Conclusions: Despite associations with total adiponectin and insulin resistance, our data go against any apparent association between HMW adiponectin levels and incident CHD events. (J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93: 1846–1849, 2008)

igh levels of adiponectin are unequivocally associated with lower risk of incident diabetes (1–3). High adiponectin was initially reported to be independently associated with lower risk for incident myocardial events (4). Consequently, its role in the common soil hypothesis was proposed. However, subsequent studies, inclusive of the British Regional Heart Study as well as a metaanalysis of seven prospective studies involving a total of 1318 coronary heart disease (CHD) cases, did not confirm a significant association of adiponectin with risk for incident CHD events [odds ratio for top third vs. bottom, 0.84; 95%

1846 Joem.endojournals.org J Clin Endocrinol Metab. May 2008, 93(5):1846–1849

Downloaded from joem endojournals org at Glasgow Univ Library on January 11, 2010

⁰⁰²¹⁻⁹⁷²X/08/\$15.00/0

Printed in U.S.A.

Copyright © 2008 by The Endocrine Society

doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2603 Received November 27, 2007. Accepted February 15, 2008. First Published Online February 26, 2008

Abbreviations: BWHHS, British Women's Heart and Health Study, CHD, coronary heart disease; O, confidence interval; CRP, C-reactive protein; HDL-C, high-density lipoproteincholeatarol; HMW, high molecular weight; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance; HRT, homeone replacement therapy; LDL, low-density lipoprotein-cholestarol.

confidence interval (CI), 0.70–1.01] (5). Nevertheless, because the high molecular weight (HMW) form of adiponectin appears to be 1) better associated with insulin sensitivity than total adiponectin (6), 2) more strongly associated with lower risk for incident diabetes (7), and 3) more strongly linked to protection against endothelial cell apoptosis (8), there is a need to examine whether this fraction is related to risk for vascular events.

Using a nested case-control study of the British Women's Heart and Health Study (BWHHS), we tested the hypothesis that higher levels of the HMW rather than total adiponectin (9) would be associated with lower risk of incident CHD events.

Subjects and Methods

The BWHHS is a prospective cohort study of 4286 women randomly selected from 23 British towns between 1999 and 2001 and who were aged 60–79 yr at baseline (10). The prospective case-control study and endpoint ascertainment nested within this cohort and used herein has been previously described (9). Briefly, an incident case was defined as either 1) death with an underlying or contributing cause of CHD (ICD10 codes I20-125, 151.6) or 2) a myocardial infarction (World Health Organization criteria), first diagnosis of angina, or coronary artery bypass or angioplasty. There were 167 incident cases of CHD (101 nonfatal and 66 fatal). Two controls were randomly selected, within 5-yr age groups of the cases, from women without CHD at the baseline assessment. The BWHHS has local and multicenter research ethics committee approvals, and all participants provided written informed consent for their medical records to be reviewed.

Baseline blood samples were taken after a minimum 6-h fast. HMW adiponectin was measured by an ELISA (ALPCO Diagnostics, Salem, NH) with a protease to digest both the low and medium molecular weight forms, leaving the HMW form intact for measurement (11). This ELISA has been validated against conventional fractionation, with excellent correlations (r = 0.94 - 0.97) between methods (http://www.alpco.com/pdfs/47/Human%20Multimeric%20Adiponectin%20Details.pdf). The intraassay coefficient of variation was 6%. Because we had previously measured total adiponectin in the same cohort by a different ELISA (R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK) (9), we correlated total adiponectin by the ALPCO and R&D ELISAs in a subset of 80 samples; an excellent correlation of r = 0.89 between methods was noted despite blinded measurements, conducted several months apart with different dilutions. Repeated-sample freeze-thaw did not influence HMW adiponectin values.

Methods for insulin, glucose, and lipids levels and C-reactive protein (CRP) and homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) have been detailed previously (10). All blood samples were taken between 0800 and 1800 h with the time of sampling (to nearest minute) recorded. Levels of total adiponectin and HMW adiponectin did not vary by time of day of sampling.

Medication history, blood pressure, body mass index, waist and hip circumference, and information on adult and childhood occupational social class, smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activity were determined as previously described (10).

Statistical analyses

Spearman's rank correlation coefficients were used to assess the associations of continuous covariables with HMW adiponectin and total adiponectin. There was no statistical evidence that any of these associations differed by case-control status, and therefore correlation coefficients are presented for the whole sample (cases and controls combined). Distributions of HMW adiponectin, total adiponectin, and other characteristics are presented for cases and controls. Differences between cases and controls were assessed using an unpaired t test for continuous variables and χ^2 test for categorical variables. Multiple logistic regression was used to assess the association of HMW adiponectin with CHD with adjustment for covariables. Geometric means and their 95% CI were used for positively skewed variables (HMW adiponectin, total adiponectin, CRP, glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR scores, and triglycerides) with logged values used in regression models. HMW adiponectin and total adiponectin were entered as continuous variables (natural logs of their levels) in these regression models. Because regression coefficients for logged exposure variables are difficult to interpret, these effect estimates are expressed as the risk ratio of CHD for a doubling of HMW or total adiponectin, as in other prospective studies of the association of total adiponectin with CHD. Possible nonlinear associations were explored by entering quarters of the HMW adiponectin distribution first as a series of three indicator variables and then as a continuous score and computing a likelihood ratio test comparing these two nested models. In the nested case control study design, the odds ratio derived from logistic regression directly estimates the incidence rate ratio and hence the risk ratio (12, 13). We repeated our analyses using conditional logistic regression and found the same, although less precise, results. All analyses were conducted in Stata version 9.0 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX).

Results

One control did not have a baseline sample; thus, data were available for 167 cases and 333 controls. HMW adiponectin was correlated with total adiponectin (r = 0.75) (Table 1). Both were inversely associated with waist to hip ratio, fasting insulin, glucose, HOMA-IR, CRP, and triglyceride levels and positively associated with high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) levels. There was no strong statistical evidence of heterogeneity between the associations of either form of adiponectin with any of these traits (all P values > 0.3).

Geometric mean (95% CI) levels of HMW adiponectin were not different in cases [4.07 (3.64–4.55) μ g/ml] vs. controls [4.17 (3.90–4.47) μ g/ml]; P = 0.7. As previously reported (9), cases had higher fasting insulin, glucose, HOMA-IR, low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C) and lower HDL-C, but triglyceride levels and systolic and diastolic blood pressure were similar. However, the prevalence of hypertension and smoking was greater, and use of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) less at baseline in cases compared with controls.

HMW adiponectin levels were lower in women who were in manual, compared with nonmanual, social classes in adulthood, but there were no strong associations of smoking, physical activity, alcohol consumption, or statin, aspirin, or HRT use with HMW adiponectin levels (full data not shown).

In multivariable analyses, there was no association between HMW adiponectin and incident CHD (Table 2). The age-adjusted relative risk ratio for incident CHD for a doubling of HMW adiponectin was 0.96 (95% CI, 0.78–1.18), and adjustment for any of the potential confounding or mediating variables, including glucose, did not substantively alter this (Table 2). The same was true when we removed the 25 women with baseline diabetes (data not shown). Additional adjustments for childhood social class, alcohol consumption, HRT use, statin, aspirin, or blood pressure medication did not alter the null association (data not shown). When we examined the effect of HMW adiponectin by quarters of its distribution, there was no

Downloaded from joem endojournals org at Glasgow Univ Library on January 11, 2010

TABLE 1. Correlation of HMW adiponectin and total adiponectin with measures of adiposity, insulin, glucose, and lipid levels in British women aged 60–79 yr (n = 500)

	Spearman's rank correlation coefficient with HMW adiponectin	P	Spearman's rank correlation coefficient with total adiponectin	P
HMW or total adiponectin	0.75	< 0.001	0.75	< 0.001
Age	0.08	0.07	0.13	0.004
Body mass index	-0.12	0.008	-0.20	< 0.001
Waist-hip ratio	-0.26	< 0.001	-0.32	< 0.001
Insulin	-0.35	< 0.001	-0.41	< 0.001
Glucose	-0.11	0.01	-0.20	< 0.001
HOMA-IR	-0.30	< 0.001	-0.38	< 0.001
CRP	-0.17	0.002	-0.20	< 0.001
Total cholesterol	0.00	0.97	-0.02	0.51
LDL-C	0.01	0.84	-0.01	0.63
HDL-C	0.37	< 0.001	0.44	< 0.001
Triplycerides	-0.34	< 0.001	-0.42	< 0.001
Systolic blood pressure	-0.06	0.20	-0.05	0.36
Diastolic blood pressure	0.05	0.31	0.01	0.62

evidence of any linear or nonlinear associations (Fig. 1). There was also no association of the ratio of HMW adiponectin to total adiponectin with CHD risk; age-adjusted relative risk per doubling of the ratio was 1.10 (95% CI, 0.80–1.50).

Discussion

As with total adiponectin (9), we could find no evidence of any association of the HMW adiponectin (or its ratio to total adiponectin) with incident vascular events in this prospective study of older British women. This finding further supports our previous contention (5) that circulating concentrations of adiponectin (and its fractions) relate strongly to diabetes but not to vascular event risk.

Several aspects of our study merit discussion. First, our method of assessment of HMW adiponectin is relatively new but robust. Although Bluher and colleagues (14) questioned the robustness of this method for measurement of HMW adiponectin, their study had only 60 women spanning glycemia thresholds and reported no significant association of total adiponectin by the ALPCO method with two other methods for total adiponectin (both r = 0.25; *P* value only described as nonsignificant in paper) and also no association of either total or HMW fractions with fasting insulin (r = -0.09 and r = -0.04, respectively, both nonsignificant). By contrast, in our study of 500 women predominantly without diabetes, not only did the HMW fraction correlate with total adiponectin (r = 0.75; P < 0.001) by a different method, the total adiponectin method by ALPCO correlated with the R&D ELISA (r = 0.89; P < 0.001) in a subset of 80 samples. In addition, the HMW fraction correlated with both fasting insulin (r = -0.35; P < 0.001) and with other metabolic parameters in the expected directions of association. Others have reported similar correlations between total and HMW adiponectin; Halperin et al. (15) reported a correlation of r = 0.72 between percent HMW and total adiponectin using the velocity sedimentation analysis method. Finally, the ALPCO HMW method has been previously validated against the more conventional methods employed for adiponectin fractionation (see Subjects and Methods) and has been shown by others (6, 16) to perform well and correlate to insulin sensitivity and related parameters, at least as well as total adiponectin, in larger sized cross-sectional studies than that published by Bluher et al. (14). Thus, methodological issues relating to the assay are unlikely to explain our null findings.

Interestingly, in line with our data, Halperin et al. noted no evidence of a relationship between total adiponectin or percent HMW and endothelium-dependent vasodilation (15), a vascular risk surrogate, in offspring of diabetic parents. Furthermore, higher adiponectin levels predict a higher, not lower, risk for cardiovascular disease mortality in the general population (17). HMW adiponectin also predicts higher risk of mortality in those with heart failure (18), an observation consistent with a positive correlation between circulating adiponectin and brain natri-

TABLE 2.	Multivariable associations of HMV	V adiponectin with incid	dent cases of CHD (n = 16	7 cases and 333 controls)
----------	-----------------------------------	--------------------------	---------------------------	---------------------------

	Relative risk ratio (95% Cl) for a doubling of HMW adiponectin	P linear trend	P nonlinear association
Model 1: age adjusted*	0.96 (0.78-1.18)	0.71	0.96
Model 2: confounder adjusted ^b	0.98 (0.79-1.21)	0.85	D.79
Model 3: adjusted for confounders and potential mediators [®]	1.01 (0.81-1.24)	0.89	0.88

* Model T was adjusted for age (continuous in years).

Downloaded from jcem endojournals.org at Glasgow Univ Library on January 11, 2010

^b Model 2 was the same as model 1 plus adjusted for adult social class (four-level categorical variable entered as a score-1 parameter) smoking (three-level categorical variable entered as a score-1 parameter), and physical activity (three-level categorical variable entered as a score-1 parameter).

^c Model 3 was the same as model 2 plus adjusted for waist to hip ratio, systolic blood pressure, fasting levels of HDL, triglyceride (logged), glucose (logged), insulin (logged), and CRP (logged) (all continuous variables).



FIG. 1. Proportion (percentage) of women with Incident CHD (cases) by quarters of the distribution of HMW adiponectin. The vertical lines represent 95% CL.

uretic peptide (19). These findings suggest that total and HMW adiponectin have complex relationships with vascular disease and that in any given population, some individuals have physiological (*i.e.* beneficial) elevations, whereas others have pathologically driven elevated levels (*i.e.* reflecting harmful signals). This suggestion provides a working hypothesis to explain paradoxical observations.

Our study has potential limitations. We used different assays for total (R&D) and HMW (ALPCO) adiponectin, but our observations above suggest this was an acceptable approach. Our results cannot be extrapolated necessarily to men or other ethnic groups. We accept that larger studies are needed to provide more reassurance of our null result, although the adjusted result of 1.01 (0.81–1.24) for incident CHD events with a doubling of HMW adiponectin is close to unity. Finally, although the correlation between HMW adiponectin and HOMA-IR score, others have seen broadly similar results (20).

In conclusion, despite evidence to suggest HMW adiponectin may be the biologically active fraction of the adiponectin species, our results go against a strong inverse association between HMW adiponectin and incident CHD events. These findings further support a stronger association of adiponectin (and its fractions) with diabetes than vascular disease.

Acknowledgments

Address all correspondence and requests for reprints to: Naveed Sattar, Professor of Metabolic Medicine, BHF Glasgow Cardiovascular Research Centre, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 &TA, United Kingdom, E-mail: nsattar@clinmed.gla.ac.uk.

Disclosure Statement: The authors have nothing to disclose.

References

- Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Pankow JS, Bang H, Couper D, Ballantyne CM, Hoogeveen RC, Heiss G 2004 Adiponectin and the development of type 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Diabetes 53:2473– 2478
- Lindsay RS, Funahashi T, Hanson RL, Matsuzawa Y, Tanaka S, Tataranni PA, Knowlee WC, Krakoff J 2002 Adiponectin and development of type 2 diabetes in the Pima Indian occultation. Lancet 340: 57–58
- in the Pima Indian population. Lancet 360:57–58 3. Wannamethee SG, Lowe GD, Rumley A, Lynne CL, Whincup PH, Sattar N 2007 Adipokines and risk of type 2 diabetes in older men. Diabetes Care 30:1200–1205
- Pischon T, Girman CJ, Hotamisligil GS, Rifai N, Hu FB, Rimm EB 2004 Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men. JAMA 291:1730–1737
- Sattar N, Wannamethee G, Sarwar N, Tchernova J, Cherry L, Wallace AM, Danesh J, Whincup PH 2006 Adipunectin and coronary heart disease: a prospective study and meta-analysis. Circulation 114:623–629
 Hara K, Horikoshi M, Yamauchi T, Yago H, Miyazaki O, Ebinuma H, Imai
- Hara K, Horikoshi M, Yamauchi T, Yago H, Miyazaki O, Ebinuma H, Imai Y, Nagai R, Kadowaki T 2006 Measurement of the high-molecular weight form of adiponectin in plasma is useful for the prediction of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care 29:1357–1362
- Nakashima R, Kamei N, Yamane K, Nakanishi S, Nakashima A, Kohoo N 2006 Decreased total and high molecular weight adiponectin are independent risk factors for the development of type 2 diabetes in Japanese-Americans. I Clin Endocrinol Metab 91-3873–3877
- Kobayashi H, Ouchi N, Kihara S, Walsh K, Kumada M, Abe Y, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y 2004 Selective suppression of endothelial cell apoptosis by the high molecular weight form of adiponectin. Grc Res 94:e27–e31
 Lawloo DA, Davey Smith G, Ebrahim S, Thompson C, Sattar N 2005 Plasma
- Lawlor DA, Davey Smith G, Ebrahim S, Thompson C, Sattar N 2005 Plasma adiponectin levels are associated with insulin resistance, but do not predict future risk of coronary heart disease in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:5677-5683
- Lawlor DA, Ehrahim S, Davey Smith G 2002 The association between components of adult height and type II diabetes and insulin resistance: British Women's Heart and Health Study. Diabetologia 45:1097–1106.
- Ebinuma H, Miyazaki O, Yago H, Hara K, Yamauchi T, Kadowaki T 2006 A novel ELISA system for selective measurement of human adiponectin multimers by using proteases. Clin Chim Acta 37 2-47–53
- Prentice RI, Breslow NE 1978 Retrospective studies and failure time models. Biometika 65:153–158
- Rothman K, Greenland S 1998 Case control studies. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams, Wilkins
- Bluher M, Brennan AM, Kelesidis T, Kratzsch J, Fasshauer M, Kralisch S, Williams CJ, Mantzoros CS 2007 Total and high-molecular weight adiponectin in relation to metabolic variables at baseline and in response to an exercise treatment program: comparative evaluation of three assays. Diabetes Care 30:280–285
- Halperin F, Beckman JA, Patti ME, Trujillo ME, Garvin M, Creager MA, Scherer PE, Goldfine AB 2005 The role of total and high-molecular-weight complex of adiponectin in vascular function in offspring whose parents both had type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 48:2147–2154
 von Eynatten M, Lepper PM, Humpert PM 2007 Total and high-molecular
- 16. von Eynatten M, Lepper PM, Humpert PM 2007 Total and high-molecular weight adiponectin in relation to metabolic variables at baseline and in response to an exercise treatment program: comparative evaluation of three assays: response to Bluher et al. Diabetes Care 30:e67; author reply e68
- Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor E, May S, Langenberg C 2007 Association of adiponectin with coronary heart disease and mortality: the Rancho Bernardo study. Am J Epidemiol 165:164–174
- Tsutamoto T, Tanaka T, Sakai H, Ishikawa C, Fujii M, Yamamoto T, Horie M 2007 Total and high molecular weight adiponectin, harmodynamics, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 28:1723–1730
- McEntegart MB, Awede B, Petrie MC, Sattar N, Dunn FG, Macfarlane NG, McMurray JJ 2007 Increase in serum adjoencetin concentration in patients with beart failure and cachexia: relationship with leptin, other cytokines, and B-type natriuretic peptide. Fur Heart J 28:829–835
- Retnakaran R, Connelly PW, Maguire G, Sermer M, Zinman B, Hanley AJ 2007 Decreased high-molecular-weight adipometrin in gestational diabetesimplications for the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 24:245– 252

Downloaded from joern endojournals org at Glasgow Univ Library on January 11, 2010

www.clinsci.org



Serial changes in adiponectin and BNP in ACS patients: paradoxical associations with each other and with prognosis

Donald S. C. ANG*1, Paul WELSH+1, Pauline WATT+, Scott M. NELSON+, Allan STRUTHERS* and Naveed SATTAR†

*Division of Medicine and Therapeutics, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee DDI 95Y, Scotland, U.K., +Division of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G31 2ER, Scotland, U.K., and Division of Developmental Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 8QQ, Scotland, U.K.

ABSTRACT

Clinical CIENCE

> Plasma adiponectin is inversely associated with the risk of coronary heart disease in healthy people. However, adiponectin and BNP (B-type natriuretic peptide) are both known to be positively associated with a risk of poor outcome, and with each other, in ACS (acute coronary syndrome) patients. Serial changes in plasma adiponectin and BNP following ACS have not been assessed previously, and may clarify these apparently paradoxical associations. In the present study, adiponectin, BNP, classical risk markers and clinical parameters were measured in plasma from 442 consecutive ACS patients in an urban teaching hospital, with repeat measures at 7 weeks (n = 338). Patients were followed-up for 10 months. Poor outcome was defined as mortality or readmission for ACS or congestive heart failure (n = 90). In unadjusted analysis, the change in adiponectin (but not baseline or 7-week adiponectin) was significantly associated with the risk of an adverse outcome {odds ratio (OR), 5.42 [95% CI (confidence interval), 2.78-10.55]}. This association persisted after adjusting for classical risk factors and clinical markers, but was fully attenuated by adjusting for the 7-week BNP measurement [OR, 1.13 (95% CI, 0.27-4.92)], which itself remained associated with risk [OR, 5.86 (95% Cl, 1.04-32.94)]. Adiponectin and BNP positively correlated at baseline and 7 weeks, and the change in both parameters over 7 weeks also correlated (r = 0.39, P < 0.001). In conclusion, increases in plasma adiponectin (rather than absolute levels) after ACS are related to the risk of an adverse outcome, but this relationship is not independent of BNP levels. The results of the present study allude to a potential direct or indirect relationship between adiponectin and BNP post-ACS which requires further investigation.

INTRODUCTION

Adiponectin is a circulating adipokine which has been shown to have the unusual property of correlating regulatory functions [2], and it has also been suggested

inversely with markers of adiposity, including BMI (body mass index) and percentage body fat in epidemiological studies [1]. Adiponectin may have important metabolic

Key words: acute coronary syndrome (ACS), adiponectin, B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), heart failure, risk marker.

Abbreviations: ACS, acute coronary syndrome; ASE, American Society of Echocardiography; BMI, body mass index; BNP, B-type natriuretic peptide; CHD, coronary heart disease; CHF, congestive heart failure; Cl, confidence interval; CV, coefficient of variation; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HF, heart failure; IQR, interquartile range; IV, left ventricular, I.VEF, I.V ejection fraction; I.VH, I.V hypertrophy; I.VM, I.V mass; I.VMI, I.VM index; I.VSD, I.V systolic dysfunction; MI, myocardial infarction; OR, odds ratio; STEMI, ST-elevation MI; NSTEMI, non-STEMI; TNFa; tumour necrosis factor a.

¹ These authors contributed equally to the present study.

Correspondence: Dr Paul Welsh (email P.welsh@clinmed.gla.ac.uk) or Professor Naveed Sattar (nsattar@clinmed.gla.ac.uk).

C The Authors Journal compilation C 2009 Biochemical Society

that it may have some important anti-inflammatory properties [3]. In line with this, it may protect cardiac tissue and limit atherogenesis through inflammatory dampening mechanisms [4]. Experimental models in mice show that exogenous administration of adiponectin limits weight gain or even leads to weight loss [5]. In addition, overexpression of adiponectin in the ApoE^{-/-} (where ApoE is apolipoprotein E) mouse model reduced atherogenesis [6].

Although plasma adiponectin is clearly linked to a lower risk for diabetes (as recently discussed in [7]), and an initial study linked low levels of adiponectin to an increased risk of CHD (coronary heart disease) events in healthy men [8], a previous meta-analysis suggested a more modest association with CHD [9]. Furthermore, studies in people with prevalent CHF [congestive HF (heart failure)] or ACS (acute coronary syndrome) show that high plasma levels of adiponectin are associated with greater disease severity [10,11] and with a higher risk of adverse outcome [12–15]. Thus circulating adiponectin concentrations may represent both a protective or harmful signal depending on the context.

BNP (B-type natriuretic peptide) and its inactive N-terminal metabolite NT-proBNP (released in a 1:1 ratio during processing) are sensitive markers of cardiac overload and are markers of prognosis in those with CHF [16]. Several studies have shown positive correlations of circulating baseline NT-proBNP and BNP with adiponectin in those with prevalent CHF and coronary artery disease [10–15,17,18]. Indeed, in the recent AtheroGene study [19], baseline adiponectin predicted the risk of a poor outcome in CHF independent of conventional risk factors, but not independent of BNP.

In order to examine further the potential pathological link between BNP and adiponectin, we investigated the inter-relationship of circulating adiponectin and BNP in 442 ACS patients both at baseline and at a 7-week follow-up (338 patients). Thus, for the first time, we examined the associations of all of these measures to the risk of adverse outcomes at 10 months to determine whether the change in either parameter was a better predictor of adverse events than a single measurement. We were also able to investigate whether a change in one over time correlated with a change in the other.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

A total of 442 Caucasian patients with a diagnosis of ACS (between August 2004 and November 2006) were consecutively recruited at Ninewells Hospital, Dundee, Scotland, U.K. Patients were recruited if they presented within 72 h after the onset of ischaemic discomfort and included those diagnosed with: (i) STEMI [ST-elevation MI (myocardial infarction)], ST elevation >1 mm in two limb leads or >2 mm in leads V1-V6 or new left bundle branch block; (ii) NSTEMI (non-STEMI), no ST elevation on ECG despite elevated troponin $T > 0.01 \mu g/ml$; and (iii) unstable angina, ischaemic chest pain lasting more than 30 min with no evidence of myocyte necrosis or ST elevation. Ethical approval was obtained from the Tayside Committee of Medical Research Ethics and all participating subjects gave written informed consent. The research was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

During the ACS admission, the patients underwent the following clinical procedures: (i) clinical history and risk factor analysis; (ii) evaluation of admission Killip class defined as Killip class I (no clinical signs of HF), Killip class II (rales or crackles in the lungs, an S3 gallop and elevated jugular venous pressure), Killip class III (frank acute pulmonary oedema) and Killip class IV [cardiogenic shock or hypotension (measured as systolic blood pressure lower than 90 mmHg), and evidence of peripheral vasoconstriction (oliguria, cyanosis or sweating)]; (iii) ECG, presence or absence of ST deviation (>1.0 mm); (iv) bedside BNP assay; (v) laboratory tests, admission haemoglobin, eGFR (estimated glomerular filtration rate) using the modification of diet in renal disease equation and serum troponin T levels; and (v) bedside echocardiography, LVSD [LV (left ventricular) systolic dysfunction] defined as LVEF (LV ejection fraction) < 45% (using Simpson's biplane method) and LVH (LV hypertrophy) assessment.

Echocardiography

Transthoracic echocardiography was performed by one trained operator using an Acuson (Sequia 512) imaging system with a 3V2C transducer. The scan was performed with the patient lying in the left lateral position at approx. 45%.

LVH assessment

Patients were studied with two-dimensional guided M-mode echocardiography in standard views. All measurements were made according to the ASE (American Society of Echocardiography) recommendation at end diastole, taken as the onset of QRS complex. The leading edge to leading edge convention was used to measure interventricular septal thickness, LV internal diameter and LV posterior wall thickness. Measurements were made over at least three separate cardiac cycles and the average was taken. LVM (LV mass) was calculated according to the formula of Devereux et al. [20] [0.80 (ASE LVM)+0.6] and was indexed to body surface area to give LVMI (LVM index). LVH was defined as LVMI greater than 95 g/m² in females and greater than 115 g/m² in males in accordance to ASE guidelines [21].

LV systolic function assessment

Quantitative assessment of LV systolic function was made using a modified Simpson's biplane method to calculate an LVEF. Three measurements from successive cardiac cycles were made in the two-chamber and four-chamber views. LVSD was defined as an LVEF < 45 %.

Blood sample collection and analysis

Samples were collected by venipucture into EDTA vacutainer tubes or serum clot accelerators. One EDTA vacutainer of blood sample was kept at room temperature (18-25°C) and was analysed for BNP within 4 h of the draw time. Whole blood was analysed with the triage BNP assay (Biosite) as reported previously [22]. The inter-assay CV (coefficient of variation) was 8.8% at 71.3 pg/ml and 11.6% at 4088 pg/ml. The detection limit was 5 pg/ml. An electrochemilumninescent immunoassay approved for quantitative measurement of troponin T was provided by Roche Diagnostics and run on a Roche Modular E170 unit. At 0.06 µg/l a CV of 10% is achievable and the detection limit was 0.01 µg/l. Blood samples for adiponectin or other non-routine analyte measurements were spun at 2000 g for 15 min and the serum or plasma layers were aliquoted within 4 h, snap frozen, and stored at -80 °C. Total plasma adiponectin was analysed using a commercially available kit (R&D Systems). The inter-assay CV for the adiponectin assay was less than 8%. The same methods were used for samples at follow-up measurements.

Follow-up measurements

At 7 weeks after baseline admission, an attempt was made to re-examine patients with a full ECG, transthoracic echocardiography to assess LVEF and routine blood tests including repeat bedside BNP and freezing of plasma samples (average time of follow-up was 52 ± 17 days). Of the 442 baseline patients (of whom 90 experienced adverse outcomes by 10 months), 433 were still alive and 338 consented to continuing participation in the study at 7 weeks (of whom 51 experienced adverse outcomes by 10 months). In relating BNP and adiponectin levels to the risk of an outcome we used all 442 baseline patients for whom measurements were obtained, and the 338 patient samples available to us from the 7-week measurement.

End points

The end point of death from any cause, readmission with ACS or admission with CHF was evaluated at 10 months (265.79 ± 80.31 days). Information on end points was collected from telephone interviews with patients or relatives of patients, hospital databases and patient case notes. The definition of readmission with ACS is as described above. CHF was defined as hospitalization for a clinical syndrome involving at least two of the following: paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnoea, orthopnoea, elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles, third heart sound, and cardiomegaly or pulmonary oedema on chest X-ray. These clinical signs and symptoms must have represented a clear change from the normal clinical status, requiring intravenous diuretics, inotropic support or vasodilator therapy.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are summarized as medians and 25th–75th percentiles. For discrete variables, absolute and relative frequencies per category are given. Variables were logarithmically transformed to obtain normal distributions, with tertiles of adiponectin generated. Inter-group differences were assessed using a χ^2 test or ANOVA. Spearman correlation coefficients are reported. The association of adiponectin with adverse outcome was examined in different binary logistic regression models, first a univariate model, then in a model adjusting for classical risk factors, a third model additionally adjusted for baseline BNP and a fourth model for 7-week BNP. Goodness-of-fit of the models was tested by Hosmer–Lemeshow. Statistical significance was determined at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics

In the complete patient group the median BNP level at baseline was 154 [IQR (interquartile range), 53–336] pg/ml, and the median baseline adiponectin level was 6.76 (IQR, 4.16–10.82) μ g/ml. With continuous analyses, the baseline correlation between BNP and adiponectin was r = 0.32 (P < 0.001).

Table 1 illustrates the baseline characteristics of the patients according to tertiles of adiponectin concentration. As expected, age increased across the tertiles of adiponectin (P for trend <0.001). Some other major cardiovascular risk factors showed inverse associations with adiponectin including the proportion of male gender (P < 0.001), BMI (P < 0.001) and total cholesterol (P=0.07), whereas HDL (high-density lipoprotein)cholesterol increased across tertiles (P < 0.001). Blood pressure, presence of hypertension, diabetes or smoking habit showed no significant association with adiponectin levels. Haemoglobin levels and kidney function (eGFR) decreased across adiponectin tertiles (P < 0.001). Among clinical measurements, LVEF (P < 0.001) decreased, and suboptimal prognosis according to Killip class increased (P = 0.004) with increasing adiponectin.

Changes in adiponectin and BNP from baseline to 7 weeks

The median BNP level at 7 weeks was 94 (IQR, 36-198) pg/ml and the median adiponectin level was 5.49 (IQR, 3.48–8.99) μ g/ml. With continuous analyses the 7-week correlation between BNP and adiponectin was r = 0.33 (P < 0.001).

The overall change in adiponectin and BNP levels between baseline and 7-week follow-up for the whole

C The Authors Journal compilation C 2009 Biochemical Society

Table 1 Association between admission adiponectin levels (divided into thirds) and baseline characteristics of ACS patients (n = 442 with adiponectin measurement)

Values are numbers (%) or medians (25th–75th IQR) for continuous variables. The age is mean \pm 5.D. P values represent trends across adiponectin thirds. LBBB, left bundle branch block.

Characteristic	Bottom third adiponectin level (0.48–4.85 $\mu g/ml; n = 147$)	Middle third adiponectin level (4.86–8.94 μ g/ml; $a = 148$)	Top third adiponectin level (8.95–35.40 μ g/ml; n = 147)	P value*
Ane (vears)	60 + 12	66 + 11	69 + 11	< 0.001
Gender (male/female) (n)	125/22 (85 %/15 %)	98/50 (66 %/34 %)	77/70 (52 %/48 %)	< 0.001
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	130 (115-150)	131 (118-150)	128 (110-147)	0.23
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	70 (63-81)	72 (65-82)	70 (60-80)	0.18
Total cholesterol (mmol/l)	5.12 (4.19-6.08)	4.81 (3.94-5.95)	4.52 (3.85-5.62)	0.07
HDL cholesterol (mmol/l)	L15 (0.99-1.33)	132 (1.11-1.47)	1.50 (1.2-1.82)	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	28.0 (26.0-31.0)	26.0 (24-29.0)	25.0 (22.0-29.0)	< 0.001
Smoking (n)	1001	2.000	5.2 56	
Never	46 (31%)	57 (38%)	52 (35 %)	
Past	41 (28%)	44 (30%)	52 (35 %)	
Present	60 (41 %)	47 (32 %)	43 (30 %)	0.21
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	15.0 (14.1-15.8)	14.1 (12.7-14.9)	13.3 (12.1-14.4)	< 0.001
eGFR (ml-min ⁻¹ -1.73 m ²)	70 (59-78)	66 (52-75)	61 (51-73)	< 0.001
Troponin T (ng/ml)	0.27 (0.01-1.86)	0.36 (0.06-1.47)	0.31 (0.07-1.43)	0.98
Non ST-elevation ACS (n)	101 (69%)	111 (75 %)	110 (75 %)	0.353
Type 2 diabetes (n)	21 (14%)	23 (16%)	16 (11%)	0.48
History of hypertension (n)	61 (41 %)	71 (48%)	74 (50 %)	0.29
ST deviation on ECG (n)	73 (50 %)	68 (46 %)	71 (48 %)	0.81
LBBB on ECG (o)	4 (2.7%)	5 (3.4%)	7 (4.8%)	0.63
LVEF (%)	57 (49-63)	55 (45-62)	52 (39-61)	0.001
LVH (%)	84 (66 %)	81 (71%)	74 (67 %)	0.680
Killip class II, III or IV (n)	8 (5%)	13 (9 %)	25 (17%)	0.004
BNP (pg/ml)	81 (39-216)	152 (44-343)	239 (114-489)	<0.001

patient group are shown in Figures 1 a and 1b respectively. As can be seen from these Figures, both the change in adiponectin and BNP were near-normally distributed, with the former being slightly left-skewed and the latter right-skewed (skewedness statistic -1.22 and 1.80 respectively). For both biomarkers there was a spread of patients with either increases or decreases in either marker over the 7-week interval. Figure 2 (with both markers log-transformed to normality) shows a significant correlation between changes in BNP compared with the change in adiponectin. Indeed the correlation (r = 0.39, P < 0.001) was at least as strong as the baseline and 7-week correlations between the parameters noted above.

Associations of baseline adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome

In unadjusted models, baseline adiponectin showed a borderline significant association with outcome {OR (odds ratio), 2.06 [95% CI (confidence interval), 0.92– 4.63]; P=0.08} (Table 2a). Adjusting for classical risk factors (including clinical parameters) attenuated the association [OR, 1.63 (95% CI, 0.54–4.93)]. Subsequent adjustments for BNP levels attenuated the association of baseline adiponectin with risk to near unity. However, as

C) The Authors Journal compilation (C) 2009 Biochemical Society

seen in Table 2(b), BNP remained significantly associated with poor outcome in every adjustment model, even after adjusting for baseline adiponectin [OR, 3.26 (95% CI, 1.54–6.91)].

Associations of the 7-week adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome

Among those who survived the first 7 weeks following ACS and who consented to further study, the association between 7-week adiponectin and the risk of a poor outcome was not considerably different to the association seen at baseline, and none was significant, perhaps due to reduced power with fewer observations (Table 2a). In contrast, the association of 7-week BNP with the risk of a poor outcome was substantially stronger, and was independent of classical risk factors and independent of 7-week adiponectin [OR, 6.84 (95 % CI, 2.54–18.45)] (Table 2b).

Associations of the change in adiponectin and BNP with adverse outcome

The change in adiponectin (Table 2a) appeared somewhat more strongly linked to the risk of an adverse outcome than either baseline or 7-week adiponectin. For the

Table 2 Association between baseline adiponectin/BNP, 7-week adiponectin/BNP, and change in adiponectin/BNP and collective adverse outcomes of mortality, HF or ACS (n = 51) within 10 months of index ACS events

Values are OR (95 % CI). ORs for adiponectin and BNP are for 1 log unit increase in the patient population. Classical risk factors: age, gender, BMI, pre-existing hypertension, pre-existing diabetes mellitus, Killip class II, III or IV, ST deviation, left bundle branch block, log troponin T on admission, chronic kidney disease stages 3, 4 or 5, USD, smoking status, haemoglobin on admission, and total cholesterol and HDL-cholesterol concentrations.

(a) Adiponectin

Adjustment model	Adiponectin measurement			
	Baseline adiponectin	7-Week adiponectin	Change in adiponection	
Unadjusted	2.06 (0.92-4.63)	2.19 (0.79-6.08)	5.42 (2.78-10.55)	
Classical risk factors	1.63 (0.54-4.93)	1.31 (0.33-5.27)	3.99 (1.79-8.92)	
Classical risk factors+baseline BNP	1.18 (0.38-3.64)			
Classical risk factors+7-week BNP		0.74 (0.17-3.28)		
Classical risk factors and change in BNP		E Contraction of the	3.17 (1.29-7.78)	
(b) BNP				

Adjustment model	BNP measurement			
	Baseline BNP	7-Week BNP	Change in BNP	
Unadjusted	4.29 (2.59-7.11)	6.73 (3.33-13.60)	2.33 (1.13-4.82)	
Classical risk factors	2.83 (1.35-5.92)	6.54 (2.49-17.21)	3.07 (1.25-7.53)	
Oassical risk factors+baseline adiponectin	3.26 (1.54-6.91)	-		
Classical risk factors+7-week adiponectin		6.84 (2.54-18.45)		



Figure I Untransformed overall change in adiponectin and BNP between baseline observations and follow-up observations 7 weeks later in the patient group

change in adiponectin, the unadjusted OR was 5.42 (95 % CI, 2.78–10.55), and attenuated to OR, 3.99 (95 % CI, 1.79–8.92) with adjustment for classical markers,



Figure 2 Correlation of the change from baseline at 7-weeks follow-up for adiponectin and BNP Delta values represent (log of the follow-up value—log of the baseline value) for both adiponectin and BNP.

and to OR, 3.17 (95% CI, 1.29–7.78) with additional adjustment for the change in BNP. The change in BNP was not itself independently associated with adverse outcome in the latter model, suggesting that the change in adjoonectin was the stronger marker.

Since the change in adiponectin and 7-week BNP appeared to have the strongest independent associations with outcome, we included both markers in the same multivariable model to test whether 7-week BNP could explain the association of the change in adiponectin with prognosis. After doing this, the change in adiponectin was no longer associated with the risk of an adverse outcome [OR, 1.13 (95 % CI, 0.27–4.92)], but the 7-week

© The Authors Journal compilation © 2009 Biochemical Society

BNP measurement remained significantly associated [OR, 5.90 (95 % CI, 1.04–32.94)].

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to date to examine the association of circulating adiponectin and BNP with the risk of poor outcome in a group of ACS patients where serial measurements have been made. Importantly, an increase in adiponectin 7 weeks after admission was more strongly associated with the risk of an adverse outcome than a single measurement at either time point; in other words, if adiponectin levels increased, the adverse event risk was greater, whereas the absolute levels of adiponectin at either time point were less important. In contrast, the 7-week BNP measurement was more strongly associated with risk, superior to both baseline and change in BNP measurements. In terms of independent risk prediction, the strongest marker of the risk of adverse events was 7-week BNP, which was associated with risk independently of a change in adiponectin. Finally, although the patterns of risk associations of these markers are different, these results allow us to show that, following index admission for ACS, BNP and adiponectin associate with each other at baseline and at follow-up, and that a change in both markers also correlate (r = 0.39, P < 0.001).

The finding in the present study of a positive correlation between baseline circulating BNP and adiponectin, although apparently paradoxical on the basis of presumed functions of adiponectin, was an expected result based on previous findings in similar patient groups [10–15,17–19]. The present finding that 7-week BNP is more strongly related to adverse outcome than BNP at admission is in agreement with a recent study in 157 CHF patients, where discharge BNP was shown to be strongly associated with poor outcome [23].

We do not propose that the present results definitively answer the question of whether circulating BNP and adiponectin are or are not clinically useful in the prognosis of ACS. Rather, our results may give insight into the pathophysiology behind increased risk of ACS recurrence, CHF or death following an index ACS event. The results of the present study are suggestive of an interesting and potentially important pathphysiological pathway which links an increase in adiponectin to adverse prognosis in a manner not independent of BNP. Although an observational study cannot imply a causal link, it is interesting to speculate on the potential relationship of adiponectin and BNP following ACS.

We found that absolute levels of BNP at 7 weeks were the strongest predictor of prognosis. This makes sense, since levels of BNP following the settling of the acute-phase response and/or changes in clinical therapies after an event will better represent long-term cardiac/vascular status, and therefore subsequent risk. In contrast with BNP, increasing levels of adiponectin following index ACS admittance were potentially more strongly related to risk than baseline or 7-week adiponectin, and yet this relationship was dependent on 7-week BNP in multivariable models. This may be suggestive of some association between progressive disease severity (as measured by follow-up BNP) and changes in adiponectin. The AtheroGene investigators have recently shown that the relationship of baseline adiponectin with risk of death or non-fatal MI in a group of coronary artery disease patients is confounded by associations with BNP [19]. The results of the present study now extend this observation to show that the two parameters also change in parallel post-ACS, such that the risk associations of adiponectin with risk are dependent on BNP. This provides evidence that there may be a direct or indirect link between high post-ACS BNP and a rise in adiponectin in those at greatest risk of poor outcome.

If there is a link between the two parameters, are there any clues to mechanisms? Natriuretic peptides may directly stimulate higher adiponectin levels since a novel lipolytic and potential lipid-mobilizing effect of natriuretic peptides has been identified [24]. These actions appear to be mediated by specific adipocyte membrane receptors, which operate via a cGMP-dependent pathway and they may indirectly stimulate adiponectin production [24]. Furthermore, infusion of atrial natriuretic peptide (carperitide) in patients with HF leads to increased plasma adiponectin levels [25]. Alternatively, TNFor (tumour necrosis factor a) (among other proinflammatory cytokines) has been suggested to inhibit adiponectin expression in tissue from healthy subjects [26,27], but perhaps not in obese subjects [28]. TNFa is known to be elevated in conditions such as CHF and ACS [29], and hence, speculatively, the inhibitory signal may also be lost in such patients.

A recent attempt at explaining the physiology behind the reverse epidemiology of adiponectin in patients with ACS and CHF has been made, with the authors suggesting that elevated levels of adiponectin in these cases represent an attempt at counter-regulation of systemic inflammation [30]. Although this is a possibility, the additional possible direct cardioprotective and metabolic roles of adiponectin in ACS and CHF should not be overlooked. Importantly, adiponectin may directly reduce oxidative ischaemia/reperfusion injury [31-33], perhaps alluding to a mechanism whereby elevated BNP, in response to cardiac injury, induces an adiponectin-mediated cardioprotective response. Interestingly, this may also be true in silent ischaemia since others have suggested elevations in BNP may also occur in silent ischaemia [34,35], an observation potentially explaining why it is a better marker than simple echocardiography measures of cardiac dysfunction. Additionally, from a metabolic viewpoint, ACS and CHF are often considered to be insulin-resistant states, although individuals who are

insulin resistant without cardiovascular complications would be expected to have low levels of adiponectin. As we recently suggested [11], high levels of adiponectin in those with ACS and CHF may be a reflection of a salvage mechanism to improve insulin resistance and fatty acid oxidation, perhaps at a cost of cachexia in some cases. Regardless of mechanisms, greater cardiac disease severity may lead to a greater cardiological and metabolic salvage attempt and thus higher adiponectin levels. Alternatively, our speculation may be misguided and adiponectin may just be a passive marker of other physiological processes, its actions inhibited by peripheral 'adiponectin resistance'.

Limitations of the present study require consideration. The group of 442 ACS patients went on to have 90 end point events, and follow-up measurements were based on 51 events in 338 patients, which represents a relatively low power for the study and we cannot discount the possibility of type II errors. Nevertheless, our results on baseline associations of adiponectin with age and the female gender [36], as well as with BNP [10-15,17-19], and the link to end points [19,23,37], is consistent with the literature and suggest the results are externally valid. Further larger studies with serial measurements are required to confirm and expand on the potential mechanistic relationships of adiponectin, BNP and cardiac stress. In the present study we do not focus on the potential clinical utility of any measurement of adiponectin or BNP in the ACS clinical setting, but on pathophysiological changes in ACS which may require further clinical studies. Of additional interest, the use of genetics (e.g. Mendelian randomization) may help to tease out whether adiponectin is protective, harmful or passive for vascular risk for a variety of patient/cohort groups.

In conclusion, in the present study we have shown for first time, using serial measurements, that an increase in plasma adiponectin after ACS is strongly related to the risk of an adverse outcome, but that this relationship is not independent of BNP levels. Taken together with evidence of apparently paradoxical correlations of adiponectin and BNP at baseline, follow-up and in overall change following ACS, our results allude to a potential direct or indirect relationship between adiponectin and BNP post-ACS that requires further investigation.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the British Heart Foundation [grant number BHF PG/03/152] and Glasgow Royal Infirmary Endowments.

REFERENCES

Cnop, M., Havel, P. J., Utzschneider, K. M., Carr, D. B., Sinha, M. K., Boyko, F. J., Retzlaff, B. M., Knopp, R. H., Brunzell, J. D. and Kahn, S. E. (2003) Relationship of adiponectin to body fat distribution, insulin sensitivity and plasma lipoproteins: evidence for independent roles of age and sex. Diabetologia 46, 459–469

- 2 Lafontan, M. and Viguerie, N. (2006) Role of adipokines in
- з
- Ouchi, N., Shibata, R. and Walsh, K. (2006) Cardioprotection by adiponectin. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 16. 141-146
- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Minokoshi, Y., Ito, Y., Waki, H., Uchida, S., Yamashita, S., Noda, M., Kita, S., Ueki, K. et al. 5 (2002) Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein
- kinase: Nat. Med. 8, 1288-1295 Okamoto, Y., Kihara, S., Ouchi, N., Nishida, M., Arita, Y., Kumada, M., Ohashi, K., Sakai, N., Shimomura, I., Kobayashi, H. et al. (2002) Adiponectin reduces 6 atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation 106, 2767-2770
- Wannamethee, S. G., Lowe, G. D., Rumley, A., Cherry, L., Whincup, P. H. and Sattar, N. (2007) Adipokines and risk of type 2 diabetes in older men. Diabetes Care 30, 1200-1205
- 1200–1205 Pischon, T., Girman, C. J., Hotamisligil, G. S., Rifai, N., Hu, F. B. and Rimm, E. B. (2004) Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men. JAMA, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 291, 1730–1737 Sattar, N., Wannamethee, G., Sarwar, N., Tchernova, J., Cherry, L., Wallace, A. M., Danesh, J. and Whincup, P. H. (2006) Adiponectin and coronary heart disease: a more study and mote-analysis. Circulation 114. R nectin levels
- 9 prospective study and meta-analysis. Circulation 114, 623–629 Nakamura, T., Funayama, H., Kubo, N., Yasu, T
- 10 Kawakami, M., Saito, M., Momomura, S. and Ishikawa, S. E. (2006) Association of hyperadiponectinemia with E. (2006) Association or hyperaciponectimental with severity of ventricular dysfunction in congestive heart failure. Girc. J. 70, 1557–1562
 McEntegart, M. B., Awede, B., Petrie, M. C., Sattar, N., Dunn, F. G., MacFarlane, N. G. and McMurray, J. J. (2007)
- 11 Increase in serum adiponectin concentration in patier with heart failure and cachexia: relationship with lept other cytokines, and B-type natriuretic peptide. Eur. Heart
- J. 28, 829-835 Tsutamoto, T., Tanaka, T., Sakai, H., Ishikawa, C., Fujii, M., Yamamoto, T. and Horie, M. (2007) Total and high M., Yamamoto, T. and Horie, M. (2007) Total and high memodynamics, and 12
- M., Yamamoto, I. and Horte, M. (2007) Iotal and high molecular weight adiponectin, haemodynamics, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. Fur. Heart J. 28, 1723–1730 Kistorp, C., Faber, J., Galatius, S., Gustafsson, F., Frystyk, J., Flyvbjerg, A. and Hildebrandt, P. (2005) Plasma adiponectin, body mass index, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation 112, 1756–1762
- George, J., Patal, S., Wexler, D., Sharabi, Y., Peleg, E., Kamari, Y., Grossman, E., Sheps, D., Keren, G. and Roth, A. (2006) Circulating adiponectin concentrations in
- patients with congestive heart failure. Heart 92, 1420–1424 Cavusoglu, E., Ruwende, C., Chopra, V., Yanamadala, S., Eng, C., Clark, L. T., Pinsky, D. J. and Marmur, J. D. (2006) Adiponectin is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality, cardiac mortality, and myocardial infarction in patients presenting with chest pain. Fur. Heart J. 27, 2300-2309
- 16 Clerico, A. and Emdin, M. (2004) Diagnostic accuracy and prognostic relevance of the measurement of cardiac natriuretic peptides: a review. Clin. Chem. 50, 33–50 von Eynatten, M., Hamann, A., Twardella, D., Nawroth,
- P. P., Brenner, H. and Rothenbacher, D. (2006) Relationship of adiponectin with markers of systemic inflammation, atherogenic dyslipidemia, and heart failu in patients with coronary heart disease. Clin. Chem. 52, 853-859
- 18 Tanaka, T., Tsutamoto, T., Nishiyama, K., Sakai, H., Fujii, M., Yamamoto, T. and Horie, M. (2008) Impact of oxidative stress on plasma adiponectin in patients with chronic heart failure. Circ. J. 72, 563–568 Schnabel, R., Messow, C. M., Lubos, E., Espinola-Klein,
- C., Rupprecht, H. J., Bickel, C., Sinning, C., Tzikas, S., Keller, T., Genth-Zotz, S. et al. (2008) Association of adiponectin with adverse outcome in coronary artery disease patients: results from the AtheroGene study. Eur. Heart J. 29, 649–657

C The Authors Journal compilation C 2009 Biochemical Society

- 20 Devereux, R. B., Casale, P. N., Kligfield, P., Eisenberg, R. R., Miller, D., Campo, E. and Alonso, D. R. (1986) Performance of primary and derived M-mode echocardiographic measurements for detection of left ventricular hypertrophy in necropsied subjects and in Petterson and Strategy in neuropsied subjects and in patients with systemic hypertension, mitral requirigitation and dilated cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Cardiol. 57, 1388–1393
 Lang, R. M., Bierig, M., Devereux, R. B., Flachskampf, F. A., Foster, E., Pellikka, P. A., Picard, M. H., Roman, M. J. Schwartz, L.S., et al. (2008)
- M. J., Seward, J., Shanewise, J. S. et al. (2005) Recommendations for chamber quantification: a report from the American Society of Echocardiography's Guidelines and Standards Committee and the Chamber Quantification Writing Group, developed in conjunction with the European Association of Echocardiography, a branch of the European Society of Cardiology. J. Am. Soc.
- branch of the European Society of Cardiology. J. Am. Soc. Echocardiogr. 18, 1440-1463
 22 Morrison, L. K., Harrison, A., Krishnaswamy, P., Kazanegra, R., Clopton, P. and Maisel, A. (2002) Utility of a rapid B-natriuretic peptide assay in differentiating congestive heart failure from lung disease in patients presenting with dyspnea. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 39, 202-209
 23 Cournot, M., Mourre, F., Castel, F., Ferrieres, J. and Destrac, S. (2008) Optimization of the use of B-type natriuretic peptide levels for risk stratification at discharge in elderly patients with docompensated beart failure. Am.
- natruretic peptide levels for risk stratification at discharge in elderly patients with decompensated heart failure. Am. Heart J. 155, 986–991 Sengenes, C., Berlan, M., De Glisezinski, I., Lafontan, M. and Galitzky, J. (2000) Natriuretic peptides: a new lipolytic pathway in human adipocytes. FASEB J. 14, 1345–1351 Tanaka, T., Tsutamoto, T., Sakai, H., Nishiyama, K., Fujii, M., Yamamoto, T. and Horie, M. (2008) Effect of atrial 24
- 75
- M., Tamamoto, I. and Horne, M. (2008) Effect of atrial natriuretic peptide on adiponectin in patients with heart failure. Eur. J. Heart Failure 10, 360–366 Bruun, J. M., Lihn, A. S., Verdich, C., Pedersen, S. B., Toubro, S., Astrup, A. and Richelsen, B. (2003) Regulation of adiponectin by adipose tiasue-derived cytokines: *in vevo* and *in vitro* investigations in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 285, E527–E533
- Motorino, and Trayhurn, P. (2006) Acute and prolonged effects of TNF- α on the expression and secretion of inflammation-related adipokines by human adipocytes 27 differentiated in culture. Pflugers Arch. 452, 418-427
- Degawa-Yamauchi, M., Moss, K. A., Bovenkerk, J. E., Shankar, S. S., Morrison, C. L., Lelliott, C. J., Vidal-Puig, A., Jones, R. and Considine, R. V. (2005) Regulation of adjponectin expression in human adipocytes: effects of 28 adiposity, glucocorticoids, and tumor necrosis factor a. Obes. Res. 13, 662–669

- 29 Mizia-Stee, K., Gasior, Z., Zahorska-Markiewicz, B., Janowska, J., Szulc, A., Jastrzebska-Maj, E. and Kobielusz-Gembala, I. (2003) Serum tumour necrosis factor-a, interleukin-2 and interleukin-10 activation in stable angina and acute coronary syndromes. Coron. Artery Dis. 14, 431-438
- Artery Dis. 14, 431–438 Rathmann, W., Haastert, B., Herder, C., Hauner, H., Koenig, W., Mesinger, C., Holle, R. and Giani, G. (2007) Differential association of adiponectin with cardiovascular risk markers in men and women? The KORA survey 2000. Int. J. Obes. 31, 770-776
- Shibata, R., Sato, K., Pimentel, D. R., Takemura, Y., Kihara, S., Ohashi, K., Funahashi, T., Ouchi, N. and Walsh, K. 31 (2005) Adiponectin protects against myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury through AMPK- and COX-2-dependent mechanisms. Nat. Med. 11, 1096–1103
- Tao, L., Gao, E., Jiao, X., Yuan, Y., Li, S., Christopher, T. A., Lopez, B. L., Koch, W., Chan, L., Goldstein, B. J. and Ma, X. L. (2007) Adiponectin cardioprotection after myocardial ischemia/reperfusion involves the reduction
- of oxidative/nitrative stress. Circulation 115, 1408-1416 Gonon, A. T., Widegren, U., Bulhak, A., Salehzadeh, F., 33 Persson, J., Sjöquist, P. O. and Pernow, J. (2008) Adiponectin protects against myocardial ischaemia reperfusion injury via AMP-activated protein kinase, Akt, and nitric oxide. Cardiovasc. Res. 78, 116-122
- Rana, B. S., Davies, J. I., Band, M. M., Pringle, S. D., Morris, A. and Struthers, A. D. (2006) B-type natriuretic peptide can detect silent myocardial ischaemia in asymptomatic type 2 diabetes. Heart 92, 916-920
- 35 Struthers, A. and Lang, C. (2007) The potential to improve primary prevention in the future by using BNP/N-BNP as an indicator of silent 'pancardiac' target organ damage: BNP/N-BNP could become for the heart what microalbuminuria is for the kidney. Eur. Heart J. 28, 1678-1682
- 36 Balion, C. M., Santaguida, P., McKelvie, R., Hill, S. A., McQueen, M. J., Worster, A. and Raina, P. S. (2008) Physiological, pathological, pharmacological, biochemical and hematological factors affecting BNP and NT-proBNP. Clin. Biochem. 41, 231-239
- Vorovich, E. E., Chuai, S., Li, M., Averna, J., Marwin, V., 37 Wolfe, D., Reilly, M. P. and Cappola, T. P. (2008) Comparison of matrix metalloproteinase 9 and brain natriuretic peptide as clinical biomarkers in chronic heart failure. Am. Heart J. 155, 992-997

Received 3 October 2008/16 January 2009; accepted 28 January 2009 Published as Immediate Publication 28 January 2009, doi:10.1042/CS20080506

T

Appendix 5

INFORMED CONSENT FORM

You are being invited to donate a small amount of blood which will be used in the Vascular Biochemistry Laboratory, 4th Floor, Queen Elizabeth Building, Glasgow Royal Infirmary for method development or quality control purposes.

No significant risks are associated with taking blood samples. However, it can cause minor bruising and only in rare cases may cause inflammation and possible infection. The sample will be taken by a member of staff who has qualifications in phlebotomy.

Please sign below if you are willing to participate.

I agree to donate blood for the above purpose

Sign Date

Print Name

Researcher

Sign Date

Print Name